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NEPAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY (NTA) 

Kamaladi, Kathmandu, Nepal 
 

Invitation for Application to Build Broadband Network and Provide Internet Access Connectivity 

Services in 5 Districts of Nepal 

(IFA No. 02/NTA/2076/077) 

 

(First Date of Publication: 31
st
 January, 2020)  

 

1. Nepal Telecommunications Authority, Kamaladi, Kathmandu is collecting two percent of 

Gross Adjusted Revenue as a Rural Telecommunication Development Fund (RTDF) every 

year from the Service providers in telecommunications sector as per the Telecommunication 

Act, 2053 B.S. and intends to apply a part of  RTDF to cover eligible financial subsidy to the 

selected (based on this RFA) Internet service provider (ISP) licensee(s) to build broadband 

Network (Optical Fiber & Microwave technology) and provide Internet Access connectivity 

services in  5 Districts viz  Chitwan, Nawalpur, Nawalparasi, Rupandehi and Kapilbastu 

2. The Chairman, on behalf of NTA, invites electronic Requests for Applications (RFA) for the 

award of the contract from existing NTA Internet service provider licensees to build 

broadband Optical network and provide Internet Access connectivity services in the above 5 

Districts within 12 months. NTA will provide subsidy to the successful Applicant from RTDF 

to establish broadband optical network and provide Internet/data access connectivity in all 

Munciplity, Rural Muncipality (Gaun Palika), Ward offices, health centers/health posts and 

public educational institutions (higher secondary schools and secondary schools). The contract 

(subsidy) shall be provided to the qualified and successful applicant that has applied for lowest 

subsidy. 

3. As part of the eligibility the applicant will be required in their applicantions to demonstrate 

that they meet several criteria, of which some are listed below: 

¶ Minimum Contribution of Average Anuual Rural Telecommunications Development Fund 

(RTDF) in the last three year: NPR 1,000,000. 

¶ Minimum of 1000Km of transmission (optical, microwave, PMP, wireless) network in 

operation. 

¶ Minimum of 25,000 (Fixed) internet or data subscribers. 

¶ Positive Net worth.  

4. Under the Single Stage, Two Envelope Procedure, Applicants are required to submit 

simultaneously two separate sealed envelopes, one containing (i) the Technical Application 

and the other (ii) the Subsidy Application, both in turn enclosed in one sealed envelope as per 

the provision of Request for Application.   

5. Applicants may obtain further information and inspect the RFA documents at the office of 

Nepal Telecommunications Authority,Kamaladi, Kathmandu, Nepal, Tel:+977-1-4255474, 

Fax: +977-1-4255250, Email: ntra@nta.gov.np, www.nta.gov.np or may visit PPMO e-GP 

system www.bolpatra.gov.np/egp. 

6. The Scope of work, eligibility criteria and qualification requirement are explained in 

RFA which is available at http://www.nta.gov.np or may visit PPMO e-GP system 

www.bolpatra.gov.np/egp. for the reference. 

7. Pre-Application meeting shall be held at Nepal Telecommunications Authority, Kamladi, 

Kathmandu, Nepal on 17
th
 Feburary, 2020, 14:00 Hrs. 

8. RFA documents may be purchased the hard copy of RFA from the above office by eligible 

Applicants on the submission of a written Application or may download the Applicantion 

documents for e-submission from PPMO’s e-GP system www.bolpatra.gov.np/egp. 

mailto:ntra@nta.gov.np
http://www.nta.gov.np/
http://www.bolpatra.gov.np/egp
http://www.nta.gov.np/
http://www.bolpatra.gov.np/egp
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Applicants, submitting their bid electronically,  and upon payment of a non-refundable fee of 

Rs 20,000 (Twenty Thousand only) before submission deadline. 

9. The fee for the document is to be deposited in  

Deposit Account No.:  0106011664201 

Name of the Account holder: Nepal Telecommunications Authority 

Name and address of Bank: Nabil Bank Limited, Kathmandu 

10. Application must be valid for a period of 120 (One Hundred Twenty) days counting from the 

day of Application opening and must be accompanied by bid security, amounting to a 

minimum of NRs 25,000,000.00 (In word NRs Twenty Five Million only) for this 

Applicantion, which shall be valid for minimum 30 days beyond the Application validity 

period. 

11. Applications shall be submitted electronically through PPMO’s e-GP system 

www.bolpatra.gov.np/egp on or before 2
nd

 March, 2020, 12:00 Hrs. Applications received 

after this deadline shall not be accepted. 

12. Applications shall be opened in the presence of Applicants' representatives who desire to 

attend, on 2
nd

 M arch 2020, 12:30 Hrs at the office of NTA, Kamaladi, Kathmandu, 

13. If the last date of purchasing, submission and opening falls on a public holiday then the next 

working day and stipulated time shall be considered the last day and time.  

14. Joint Venture (JV) is not allowed.  

15. NTA reserves the right to accept or reject, wholly or partly any or all the Applications.  

  

http://www.bolpatra.gov.np/egp
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Section I. Instructions to Applicants 

 A. General 

1. Definitions 

 

1.1 In this Request for Applications (RFA), unless the subject matter 

or context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the 

following meanings: 

a) “Act” means the Telecommunications Act, 2053 (1997) as 

amended and any successor legislation; 

b) “Applicant” means any Personwho is an existing ISP licensee of 

NTA  that registers itself with the NTA as an applicant for the 

purpose of this RFA, having purchased a copy of this RFA from 

the NTA;  

c) “Application” means an Application or Bid submitted by an 

Applicant in response to this RFA; 

d) “Authorization” means designation granted by NTA to its 

Licensee(s) pursuant to this Telecommunication regulation, as it 

may be amended; and as provided by sub-section (6) of Section 

30 of the Act, to develop, extend and operate broadband 

connectivity Network in specified Districts. 

e) “Basic public telephone access service” means a 

Telecommunications Service providing access to the PSTN and 

comprised of technical features which permit the establishing of 

a telephony channel capable of allowing users to make and 

receive Local, STD and ISD real time voice telephone calls; 

f) “Control” means the ownership of at least 50% (fifty percent) of 

the voting interests in the subject Person and/or the ability to 

control in fact the business of the subject Person whether by 

ownership, contract or otherwise; 

g) “Data Capability” means the network capable of providing 

Internet, e-mail,Data Communication; 

h) “Effective date” means the date identified as the effective date in 

the Authorization;  

i) “Existing Licensee” means any internet service provider licensed 

issued by NTA;  

j) “Force Majeure Event” means circumstances, which are beyond 

the reasonable control and proper responsibility of the 

Applicant/Licensee and the NTA. By way of illustration, the 

following circumstances are to be properly characterized as 

events of “force majeure”: flood, fire, earthquake, hurricane and 

other acts of God; war, military actions, civil war, guerrilla or 
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terrorist actions, including all measures limiting the free 

movement of foreigners and their performance of activities; and 

acts by a governmental or executive body, which makes a Party’s 

performance of its obligations under the Contract impossible or 

so impractical as to be considered impossible under the 

circumstances. 

k) “Gross annual revenues” includes all of the income or revenue 

collected by the SLO in connection with any and all Authorized 

Services; 

l) “GoN” means Government of Nepal; 

m) "Licensee" means the Person to whom aISP License is issued by 

NTA. 

n) "Authorized Service Area" means the service area stipulated in 

TOR included in this RFA; 

o) “Authorized Service” means any of the Internet/Data Services 

which the SLO will be authorized to provide pursuant to Clause 2 

of the Authorization; 

p) “Mandatory Service Area” means the areas to be covered by the 

broadband connectivity Network identified in TORincluded in 

this RFA for the provisions of subsidy; 

q) “Ministry” means the Ministry of Information and 

Communicationss(MoIC) of GoN; 

r) “NTA” means the Nepal Telecommunications Authority and its 

successors; 

s) “Performance Security” means the performance security 

submitted as part of the Contract;“Person” means any individual, 

company, corporation, partnership, joint venture or consortium, 

government or governmental entity; 

t) “Point of Interconnection” means a connection point within the 

PSTN or any other Telecommunications/Internet/Data Network 

at which a circuit provided by one 

Telecommunications/Internet/Data Service Provider may be 

interconnected with the Telecommunication System of another 

Telecommunications/Internet/Data /Network Service Provider;   

u) “Policy” means the Telecommunications Policy, 2060 

(2004)Broadband Policy2071 (2014) and ICT Policy, 2072 

(2015) as amended and any successor policy statement; 

v) “PSTN” means the Public Switched Telephone Network in 

Nepal, consisting of the telecommunications transmission and 

switching facilities, including any wire, cable, radio, satellite, 
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optical or other electromagnetic Telecommunications Systems, 

that are (i) owned by any licensed Telecommunications Service 

Provider, including the Licensee/s and NDCL, (ii) used for the 

transmission or switching of intelligence for members of the 

public, and (iii) located wholly or partly in Nepal; 

w) “RFA” means this Request for Applications, including all 

annexes hereto, as amended or modified by the NTA; 

x)  “Broadband Network and Connectivity Services” means the 

services described in the RFA which the Selected ISP Licensed 

Operator will be authorized to provide in the Service Area; 

Ab) “Rules” means the Telecommunications Regulations, 2054 

(1997) and Telecommunications (First Amendment) Regulation, 

2055 (1999), ICT Policy 2072 (2015), Broadband Policy 2071 

(2014) as amended and any further regulations established 

pursuant to the Act; 

ac) “Rural areas” means the the geographical areas of 

Village/MunicipalDevelopment Committees as listed in this 

RFA; 

ad) “Selected Licensed Operator” or “SLO” means existing ISP 

licenseeof NTA, who will be selected according to the RFA 

document to build the broadband connectivity network; An SLO 

shall be equivalent to a Internet Service Provider Licensee of 

NTA and shall comply with all the terms and conditions in the 

special Guidelines for Network Services besides those mentioned 

in this RFA. 

ae) “Service Quality Criteria” means the criteria for the Services and 

related equipment set out in Network Quality Criteria of this 

RFA; 

af) “Subsidy” means the subsidy to be paid to the selected ISP 

licensed operator as part of the contract on achieving the 

identified network roll-out requirements; 

ag) “Telecommunications System” has the meaning ascribed to that 

term in the Act;  

ah) “MDCs” means one or more of the Municipality Development 

Committees (each consisting of several separate Wards). 

2. Scope of 

Application 

2.1 NTA ISP licensees are invited to submit a Technical and a 

Subsidy proposal for services required for the assignment named 

in the Application Data Sheet (ADS). The Proposal will be the 

basis for contract negotiations and ultimately for signing the 

Contract with the selected Applicant and providing Authorization 
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2.2 Throughout this RFA Document: 

(a) The term “in writing” means document communicated in 

written form with proof of receipt; 

(b) If the context so requires, singular means plural and vice 

versa; and 

(c) “Day” means calendar day. 

2.2 The successful Applicant will be expected to complete the 

performance of the Services specified in the TORby the Intended 

Completion Date provided in the ADS. 

3. Source of Funds 3.1 In accordance with its annual program, NTA plans to apply a 

portion of the funds as indicated in the ADS to eligible payments 

under the contract(s) for which this RFA Document is issued. 

4. Fraud and 

Corruption 

4.1 Anticorruption related laws require that Public officials (including 

beneficiaries of funds), as well as Applicants, SLOs, and 

contractors and their sub-contractors observe the highest standard 

of ethics during the procurement and execution of such contracts. In 

pursuance of this policy, NTA 

(a) defines, for the purposes of this provision, the terms set forth 

below as follows: 

(i) “corrupt practice” means the offering, giving, receiving, or 

soliciting, directly or indirectly, anything of value to 

influence improperly the actions of another party; 

(ii) “fraudulent practice” means any act or omission, including a 

misrepresentation, that knowingly or recklessly misleads, or 

attempts to mislead, a party to obtain a financial or other 

benefit or to avoid an obligation; 

(iii) “coercive practice” means impairing or harming, or 

threatening to impair or harm, directly or indirectly, any 

party or the property of the party to influence improperly the 

actions of a party; 

(iv) “collusive practice” means an arrangement between two or 

more parties designed to achieve an improper purpose, 

including influencing improperly the actions of another 

party. 

(v) “obstructive practice” means: deliberately destroying, 

falsifying, altering or concealing of evidence material to the 

investigation or making false statements to investigators in 

order to materially impede a GoN investigation into 

allegations of a corrupt, fraudulent, coercive or collusive 

practice; and/or threatening, harassing or intimidating any 

party to prevent it from disclosing its knowledge of matters 

relevant to the investigation or from pursuing the 

investigation. 

(b) will reject Application(s) if it determines that the Applicant has, 
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directly or through an agent, engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, 

collusive, coercive, or obstructive practices in competing for the 

contract in question; 

(c) will sanction a firm or individual, including declaring ineligible, 

for a stated period of time, to be Awarded a contract if it at any 

time determines that the firm has, directly or through an agent, 

engaged in  corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, coercive, or 

obstructive practices in competing for, or in executing, a 

contract. 

4.2 The Applicant shall not carry out or cause to carry out the following 

acts with an intention to influence the implementation of the 

procurement process or the procurement agreement : 

(a) give or propose improper inducement directly or indirectly, 

(b) distort or misrepresent facts, 

(c) engage in corrupt or fraudulent practice or getinvolved in 

such act, 

(d) interfere in participation of other competing Applicants, 

(e) coerce or threaten directly or indirectly to cause harm to the 

person or the property of any person to be involved in the 

procurement proceedings, 

(f) undertake any collusive practice among Applicants before or 

after submission of Applications for distribution of works 

among Applicants or fixing artificial/uncompetitive 

Application pricewith an intention to deprive the NTA the 

benefit of open competitive Application price, 

(g) Contact NTA with an intention to influence NTA with 

regards to the Applications or interference of any kind in 

examination and evaluation of the Applications during the 

period from the time of opening of the Applications until the 

notification of Award of contract. 

4.3 Without prejudice to any other rights of the NTA under the related 

laws andon recommendation of NTA, PPMO may blacklist an 

Applicant for its conduct for a period of one (1) to three (3) years 

on the following grounds and seriousness of the act committed by 

the Applicant: 

a) if convicted by a court of law in a criminal offence which 

disqualifies the Applicant from participating in the contract, 

b) If it is proved that the Applicant has committed an act contrary to 

ITA4.2 

4.4 An Applicant declared blacklisted and ineligible by the GoN, 

Public Procurement Monitoring Office (PPMO) and/or NTA, may 

be ineligible to bid for a contract during the period of time 

determined by the GoN, PPMO and/or the NTA.  

4.5 In case of a natural person or firm/institution/company which is 
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already  declared blacklisted and ineligible by the GoN, any other 

new or existing firm/institution/company owned partially or fully 

by such Natural person or Owner or Board of director of blacklisted  

firm/institution/company; shall not be eligible Applicant. 

5. Eligible Applicants 5.1 This Invitation for Application is open to eligible Internet service 

provider who has purchased a copy of this RFA from the NTA as 

stated in the ADS. 
5.2 Applicants that participate in the submission of Application shall 

submit documentary evidence as stated in ADS. 
5.3 An Applicant declared blacklisted and ineligible by the GoN, Public 

procurement Monitoring Office (PPMO), shall be ineligible to 

submit Application during the period of time determined by the 

PPMO. 
Any Applicant not fulfilling any of the requirements of the above Clauses No. 

ï 5.1 to 5.3 of this section shall be rejected. 
6. Single 

Applications per 

Applicant 

6.1 Each Applicant shall submit single Application either for single 

package or multiple pakages. If an Applicant submits or participates in 

more than one Application packages, such Applications shall be 

considered. 

7. Site Visit 7.1 All Applicants are encouraged to visit and examine the Sites of 

required Services and its surroundings and obtain all information that 

may be necessary for preparing the Application and entering into a 

contract for the Services. However, such undertaking/s shall be at the 

Applicant’s own responsibility and risk. 

7.2 The costs of visiting the Site shall be at the Applicant’s own expense. 

  

B. Contents of RFA Document 

8. Sections of the 

RFA Document 

 

8.1 The RFA Document consist of Parts 1, 2, and 3, which include all 

the Sections indicated below, and should be read and construed in 

conjunction with any Addenda issued in accordance with ITA 10 . 

PART I Application Procedurs 

Section I.  Instructions to Applicants (ITA) 

Section II.  Application Data Sheet (ADS) 

Section III.  Application Forms 

PART II Requirements 

Section IV Terms of References (TOR) 

Section V  Bill of Quantities (BOQ) 

PART III  Conditions of Contract and Contract Forms 

Section VI     General Conditions of Contract (GCC) 

Section VII   Special Conditions of Contract (SCC) 

Section  VIII Contract Forms 

PART IV AUTHORIZATION 
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Section IX Draft Authorization 

Section X  Compliance check list 

PART V Annexes 

Section XI Annexes 

8.2 The NTA will reject any Application submission if the RFA 

Document was not purchased directly from the NTA, or through its 

assigned office as stated in the ADS.  

8.3 The Applicant is expected to examine all instructions, forms, terms, 

and Terms of Reference in the RFA Document as well as in 

Amendments, if any. Failure to furnish all information or 

documentation required by the RFA Document may result in the 

rejection of the Application. 

9. Clarification of 

RFA 

Document/Pre-

Application 

meeting 

9.1 A prospective Applicant requiring any clarification of the RFA 

Document shall contact NTA in writing at NTA’s address indicated in 

the ADS. NTA will respond in writing to any request for clarification, 

provided that such request is received within the time limit specified in 

the ADS prior to the deadline for submission of Applications. NTA 

shall forWard copies of its response to all Applicants who have 

acquired the RFA Document directly from it, including a description of 

the inquiry but without identifying its source. Should NTA deem it 

necessary to amend the RFA Document as a result of a clarification, it 

shall do so. 

9.2 NTA may organize a pre-Application meeting of Applicants at least 

fifteen (15) days before the deadline for submission of Applications at 

the place, date and time as specified in the ADS to provide information 

relating to RFA Documents, TORand the like matters. ShouldNTA 

deem it necessary to amend the RFA Document as a result of a 

clarification, it shall do so. 

10. Amendment of 

RFA Document 
10.1 At any time prior to the deadline for submission of the 

Applications, the NTA may amend the RFA Document by issuing 

addenda which it considers necessary to ensure that the RFA 

process occurs in a fair, open and transparent manner, in 

accordance with law and so as to meet the objectives of NTA and 

GoN. 

10.2 Any addendum issued shall be part of the RFA Document and shall 

be communicated in writing to all who have obtained the RFA 

Document directly from NTA. 

10.3 To give prospective Applicants reasonable time in which to take an 

addendum into account in preparing their Applications, NTA may, 

at its discretion, extend the deadline for the submission of the 

Applications. 

 C. Preparation of Applications 

11. Cost of 

Application 

11.1 The Applicant shall bear all costs associated with the preparation and 

submission of herApplication, and NTA shall not be responsible or 
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and 

Applicantion 

liable for those costs, regardless of the conduct or outcome of the 

RFA process. 

11.2 Neither GoN nor any of its Ministries, agencies, employees, 

representatives, advisors or consultants, including NTA, shall incur 

any liability whatsoever to any Applicant or any of their respective 

shareholder/s or any other Person by reason of any decision made or 

action taken by the NTA, its employees, consultants or advisors, in 

connection with the evaluation or disqualification of an Application 

or the carrying out (or termination) of the RFA process initiated by 

this RFA. 

12. Language of 

Application 

12.1 The Application, as well as all correspondence and documents 

relating to the Application exchanged by the Applicant and NTA, 

shall be written in the language specified in the ADS.  

13. Documents 

Comprising the 

Application 

13.1 The Application shall comprise two envelopes submitted simultaneously, 

one called the Technical Application containing the documents listed in 

ITB 13.2 and the other the Subsidy Application containing the documents 

listed in ITB 13.3, both envelopes enclosed together in an outer single 

envelope. 

13.2 The Technical Application shall comprise the following: 

(i) Technical Application Submission Form,  

(ii) Technical Application Submission Form duly filled by the 

Applicant must be signed by a person or persons duly 

authorised to act on behalf of the Applicant.  

(iii) Technical Application Submission Form must provide a 

summary description of the Applicant.   

(iv) Technical Application Submission Form must indicate a 

firm commitment to apply to build broadband network and 

provide internet access connectivity services in the 5 

Districts (Nawalpur, Kapilbastu, Nawalparasi, Rupandehi 

and Chitwan).  

(v) Technical Application Submission Form must confirm 

that the Application is open for acceptance by the NTA for 

120 (One Hundred Twenty) days from the Application 

opening date identified in ADS. 

(vi) Technical proposal 

The Technical proposal must include: 

I. Network Description - The Applicant shall provide a 

detailed description of licensee's planned network, 

including a detailed description of the technology to be 

employed and the roll-out/service coverage plans for the 

24 months of operation. The Applicant shall submit 

compliance of technical standards (Annex 5), and provide 
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proposed interconnection points and network capacity. A 

detail survey may be necessaryfor this purpose. 

II. Operations -  

(i) A general description of the proposed approach to 

operate the Broadband Network; 

(ii) A statement indicating how the broadband Network will 

be operated in the authorized districts a description of 

franchise arrangements that the Applicant proposes to 

use, if any;  

(iii)A brief statement of the particulars of any land that must 

be acquired for the installation and operations and the 

estimated compensation payable for the land;  

(iv) A description of quality standards and capacity (which 

must accord with this RFA), performance monitoring, 

billing and maintenance procedures and systems. 

(v) A description of network services including bandwidth 

and capacity lease. 

(vi) A detailed description of proposed tariff plan beyond 

the subsidy period. 

(vii) A detailed maintenance plan to meet the quality of 

service specified in this RFA.  

III. Financial Statements- the Applicant must submit duly 

audited financial statements of last three fiscal year. 

IV. Projected Financial Statements - The Applicant must 

provide projected financial statements for years 1 (one) 

through 3 (three), including an income statement, balance 

sheet and statements of sources and Proposal of funds for 

the Applicant prepared in accepted accounting standards. 

V. Interconnection-The Application shall include 

documentation and information that is required to be 

submitted pursuant to TOR included in this RFA. 

(vii) Equipment 

The Applicant shall submitdetailed technical specifications 

of the equipment to be installed and operated, including: 

type of the equipment as outlined in this RFA. 

(viii) Work Schedule 

Applicant shall submit their work schedule along with 
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their Application. 

(ix) Bid Security per package in accordance with ITA19; 

(x) Written confirmation authorizing the signatory of the 

Applicationfrom their Board of Directors or equivalent 

authorities to commit the Applicant, in accordance with 

ITA 20.2; 

(xi) Documentary evidence in accordance with ITA 5 

establishing the Applicant’s eligibility to Application; 

(xii) Documentary evidence in accordance with ITA 17 

establishing the Applicant’s qualifications to perform the 

contract, if its Application is accepted; and  

(xiii) Any other document specified in the ADS. 

13.3 The Subsidy shall comprise the following: 

(i) The subsidy Application form  

(ii) Completed Bill of Quantities(BoQ) 

(iii) Calculation of Subsidy - The Proposal must include 

concise financial analysis detailing the calculation of the 

proposed broadband connectivity network to be installed 

with respect to available subsidy amount. The information 

furnished in this regard will be kept strictly confidential by 

NTA. The financial analysis must also clearly demonstrate 

the breakdown of costs per service point (RURAL 

MUNICIPALITY AND WARD office or HS/HSS or 

Health center). 

(iv) Any other document specified in the ADS. 

 

14. Application 

Submission 

Form and 

subsidy 

Schedule 

14.1 The Applicant shall submit the Technical Application Submission 

Form and Subsidy Application Form using the form furnished in 

Section III, Application Forms. This form must be completed 

without any alterations to its format, and no substitutes shall be 

accepted. All blank spaces shall be filled in with the information 

requested. 

14.2 The Applicant shall fill in subsidy for all items of the Services 

described in the Terms of Reference, no other payments shall be 

made to the Applicants.  

14.3 All duties, taxes, and other levies payable by the  SLO under the 

Contract, or for any other cause, shall be deemed included in the 

total subsidy amount requested by the Applicant. 

15. Application for 

Subsidy and 

15.1 The Applicant shall complete the requested Subsidy Schedule 

included in this RFA document, stating the unit prices and total 
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Discounts subsidy amount. 

15.2 Subsidy quoted by the Applicant shall be fixed during the 

Applicant’s performance of the Contract and not subject to 

variation on any account. Any Application submitted with an 

adjustable subsidy request shall be treated as nonresponsive and 

shall be rejected. 

15.3 If the Applicant intends to offer any unconditional discount, it shall 

always be expressed in fixed percentage. The methodology for its 

Application shall be provided in Subsidy Application submission 

form. 

15.4 Attached Letter or Separate Letter for Discount is not accepted. But 

if separate discount letter is registered and submitted before deadline 

for submission of Application, it shall be considered.   

16. Currencies of 

Application 

16.1 All subsidies shall be quoted in Nepalese Rupees. 

 

17. Qualifications 

of the 

Applicant 

17.1 The documentary evidence of the Applicant’s qualifications to 

perform the contract, if it’s Application is accepted, shall establish 

to the NTA’s satisfaction that the Applicant meets each of the 

qualification criterion specified in ADS. 

18. Period of 

Validity of 

Applications 

18.1 Application shall remain valid for a period specified in the ADS 

from the date of opening of Application prescribed by the NTA. 

Any Application valid for a shorter period shall be rejected by the 

NTA as non-responsive. 

18.2 In exceptional circumstances, prior to the expiration of the 

Application validity period, the NTA may request Applicants to 

extend the period of validity of their Applications. The request and 

the responses shall be made in writing. If a Bid Security is 

requested in accordance with ITA 19, it shall also be extended for a 

corresponding period. An Applicant may refuse the request without 

forfeiting its Bid Security. An Applicant granting the request shall 

not be required or permitted to modify its Application. 

19. Bid Security 19.1 The Applicant shall furnish as part of its Application, in original 

form a Bid Security per package asspecified in the ADS. In case of 

e-submission of application, the Applicant shall upload scanned 

copy of Bid security letter at the time of electronic submission of 

the bid. NTA accepts that the scanned copy of the Bid security 

shall, for all purposes, be equal to the original. The details of 

original Bid Security and the scanned copy submitted with e-bid 

should be the same otherwise the bid shall be non-responsive. 

 19.2 If a bid security is specified pursuant to ITA19.1, the bid security 

per package shall be a demand guarantee in any of the following 

forms at the Applicant’s option: 

(a) original copy of an unconditional bank guarantee from a "A 

Class" commercial bank or Financial Institution eligible to issue 
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Bank Guarantee as per prevailing Law in Nepal or;  

(b) original copy of cash deposit voucher in the NTA's Account as 

specified in ADS. 

In case of a bank guarantee, the Bid Security shall be submitted 

using the Bid Security Form included in Section III, Application 

Forms. The form must include the complete name of the Applicant. 

The Bid Security shall be valid for minimum one hundred fifty 

(150) days from the date of Application opening. Where the Bid 

Security is issued by a commercial bank located outside of Nepal, it 

shall be endorsed by any "A class" commercial bankin Nepal. 

19.3 Any Application not accompanied by an enforceable and compliant 

Bid Security per package in accordance with ITA19.2, shall be 

rejected by the NTA as nonresponsive. In case of e- Submission, if 

the scanned copy of an acceptable Bid Security letter is not 

uploaded with the electronic Bid then Bid shall be rejected. 

19.4 The Bid Security of unsuccessful Applicants shall be returned within 

five (5) days after signing of the contract of each package with the 

successful Applicant. 

19.5 The Bid Security of the successful Applicant shall be returned as 

promptly as possible once the successful Applicant has signed the 

Contract Agreement and furnished the required Performance 

Security. 

19.6 NTA will not be obligated or liable to pay any accumulated interest 

on the Bid Security to the Applicant on release of the Bid Security. 

19.7 The Bid Security may be forfeited under the following condition: 

(a) the Applicant files to withdraw or amend its Application after the 

expiry of the Application submission deadline;  

(b) the applicant refuses to accept the arithmetical correction in the 

RFA document; 

(c) the applicant modifies the subsidy amount or major changes in 

the RFA document while the added information is sought from 

the applicant during the evaluation; 

(d) Applicant is found to be involved in illegal conduct specified 

under ITA 4. 

(e) where the successful Applicant has received from the NTA a 

Letter of Intent to issue the Award ofcontract and if the 

successful Applicant fails to: 

(i) Sign the Contract in accordance with ITA38; or 

(ii) Furnish a Performance Security in accordance with 

ITA37. 

20. Format and 

Signing of 

20.1 The Applicant shall prepare one original set of the Technical 

Application and one riginal of Subsidy Application as described in 
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Application ITA 19 and clearly mark it “ORIGINAL- Technical Application” 

and "ORIGINAL- Subsidy Application”. In addition, the Applicant 

shall submit copies of the Application, in the number specified in 

the ADS and clearly mark them “COPY”. In the event of any 

discrepancy between the original and the copies, the original shall 

prevail. 

In  case  of  e-submission  of  Application,  the  Applicant  shall   

submit  his  Application electronically  in  PDF or web forms  files  

as  specified  in  ITB  Clause  21.1(b).  

20.2 The original and all copies of the Application shall be typed or 

written in indelible ink and shall be signed and stamped by a person 

duly authorized to sign on behalf of the Applicant. This 

authorization shall consist of a written confirmation as specified in 

the ADS and shall be attached to the Application. The name and 

position held by each person signing the authorization must be 

typed or printed below the signature. All pages of the Application, 

except for un amended printed literature, shall be signed or initialed 

by the person signing the Application. 

20.3 Any amendments such as interlineations, erasures, or overwriting 

shall be valid only if they are signed or initialed by the person 

signing the Application. 

 D. Submission and Opening of Applications 

21. Sealing and 

Marking of 

Applications 

21.1 Applicants may always submit their Applications by electronic or  by 

mail/by hand/by courier. Procedures for submission, sealing and 

marking are as follows: 

(a) Applicants submitting Applications by mail, by hand or by 

courier 

shall enclose the original  of the Technical Application, and the 

original of the Subsidy Application and each copy of the Technical 

Application and Subsidy Application in separate sealed envelopes, 

duly marking the envelopes as “ORIGINAL Technical Application”, 

“ORIGINAL –Subsidy Application”, and “COPY No. – 

TECHNICAL APPLICATION” and “COPY NO. SUBSIDY 

APPLICATION” These envelopes containing the original and the 

copies shall then be enclosed in one single envelope. 

 

(b)  Applicants submitting Bids electronically shall follow the 

electronic bid submission procedure specified in this clause. 

i. The Applicant is required to register in the e-GP system 
https://www.bolpatra.gov.np/egp following the 
procedure specified in e-GP guideline. 

ii. Interested Applicants may either purchase the 
Applicantion document from the Employer's office as 
specified in the Invitation for Application (IFA) or 
Applicants may download the IFA and Applicantion 
document from e-GP system. 

https://www.bolpatra.gov.np/egp
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iii. The registered Applicants need to maintain their profile 
data required during preparation of Applications.  

iv. In order to submit their Applications the cost of the 
Applicantion document can be deposited as specified in 
IFAB. In addition, electronic scanned copy (.pdf 
format) of the bank deposit voucher/cash receipt should 
also be submitted along with the technical Application. 

v. The Applicant can prepare their technical and price bids 
using data and documents maintained in Applicant’s 
profile and forms/format provided in Applicantion 
document by Employer. The Applicant may submit bids 
as a single entity or as a joint venture. The Applicant 
submitting bid in joint venture shall have to upload joint 
venture agreement along with partner(s) Bolpatra ID 
provided during Applicant’s registration. 

vi. Applicants should update their profile data and 
documents required during preparation and submission 
of their technical Applicationss. 

The required forms and documents shall be part of technical 
Applications. 

No. Document Requirement Remarks 

1.  Letter of Technical 

Application 

Mandatory PDF 

2.  Technical Proposal Mandatory PDF 

3.  Financial Statements Mandatory PDF 

4.  Interconnection Mandatory PDF 

5.  Projected Financial 

Statements 

Mandatory PDF 

6.  Bid Security/Bank 

Guarantee 

Mandatory PDF 

7.  Company registration 

Certificate 

Mandatory PDF 

8.  VAT registration 

Certificate 

Mandatory  for 
domestic 
Applicants  

PDF 

9.  Valid ISP Licence Mandatory PDF 

10.  Tax Clearance 

Certificate/Tax return 

submission 

evidence/evidence of 

time extension for F/Y 

2075/76 

Mandatory  for 
domestic 
Applicants  

PDF 

11.  Power of Attorney of 

signatory 

Mandatory PDF 

12.  Bank Voucher for cost of 

Application  document 

Mandatory PDF 

13.  Joint venture agreement Mandatory in 
case of 
JV Bids Only 

PDF 

14.  Qualification Documents   Mandatory Using profile data(financial 
details, contract details etc.) 
and Technical Proposal 
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15.  Additional documents   

specified in ITA 5, 

17and 13.2  (XIII)) 

If applicable PDF 

The required forms and documents shall be part of subsidy Applications. 

No. Document Requirement Remarks 

1.  Letter of subsidy Application Mandatory PDF 

2.  Completed Bill of Quantities (BoQ) Mandatory Online Forms 

3.  Calculation of Subsidy  Mandatory PDF 

4.  Additional documents specified in 

ITA 13.3 (IV) 

If applicable PDF 

vii. After providing all the details and documents, two 
separate bid response documents i.e technical bids and 
Price/subsidy bids will be generated from the system. 
Applicants are advised to download and verify the 
response documents prior to bid submission. 

viii. For verifying the authentic user, the system will send 
one time password (OTP) in the registered e-mail 
address of the Applicant. System will validate the OTP 
and allow Applicant to submit their application. 

ix. Electronically submitted applications can be modified 
and/or withdrawn through system. The Applicant may 
modify their applications multiple times online within 
application submission date and time specified in e-GP 
system. Once a Bid/Application is withdrawn, 
Applicant won’t be able to submit another bid response 
for the same bid. 

x. The Applicant / Bid shall meet the following 
requirements and conditions for e-submission of 
applications; 

(a) The e-submitted applications must be readable through PDF 

reader. 

(b) The facility for submission of application electronically through 

e-submission is to promote transparency, non-discrimination, 

equality of access, and open competition in the Applicantion 

process. The Applicants are fully responsible to use the e- 

submission facility properly in e-GP system as per specified 

procedures and in no case the Employer shall be held liable for 

Applicant's inability to use this facility. 

(c) When an Applicant submits electronic application through the PPMO 

e-GP portal, it is assumed that the Applicant has prepared the 

application by studying and examining the complete set of the 

Applicantion documents including specifications, drawings and 

conditions of contract. 

21.2 The inner and outer envelopes shall: 

(a) bear the name and address of the Applicant; 
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(b) be addressed to the NTA in accordance with ITA 22.1; and 

(c) bear a warning "NOT TO OPEN BEFORE THE TIME AND 

DATE FOR APPLICATION OPENING". 

21.3 If all envelopes are not sealed and marked as required, the NTA 

will assume no responsibility for the misplacement or premature 

opening of the Application. 

22. Deadline for 

Submission of 

Applications 

22.1 Applications must be received by NTA at the address and no later 

than the date and time indicated in the ADS. 

In case of e-submission, the standard time for e-submission is 

Nepal Standard Time as set out in the server. The e-procurement 

system will accept the e-submission of Application from the date of 

publishing of notice and will automatically not allow the e-

submission of Application after the deadline for submission of 

Application. 

22.2 NTA may, at its discretion, extend the deadline for the submission 

of Applications by amending the RFA Document in accordance 

with  ITA10, in which case all rights and obligations of NTA and 

Applicants previously subject to the deadline shall thereafter be 

subject to the deadline as extended. 

23. Late 

Applications 

23.1 The NTA shall not consider any Application that arrives after the 

deadline for submission of Applications in accordance with ITA 

22. Any Application received by NTA after the deadline for 

submission of Applications shall be declared late, rejected, and 

returned unopened to the Applicant. 

24. Withdrawal, or 

Modification of 

Applications 

24.1 (i) An Applicant may withdraw or modify its Technical Application 

or subsidy after it has been submitted by sending a written Notice 

in a sealed envelope, duly signed by an authorized representative, 

and shall include a copy of the authorization (power of attorney) in 

accordance with ITA 20.2 (except that Withdrawal Notices do not 

require copies). The corresponding withdrawal or modification of 

the Application must accompany the respective written Notice. All 

Notices must be: 

(a) submitted in accordance with ITA 21 and 22 (except that 

Withdrawal Notices do not require copies), and in addition, the 

respective envelopes shall be clearly marked “Withdrawal”, 

“Modification”; and 

(b) Received by NTA as specified in ADS. 

E-submitted Applications. 

 Applicant may submit modification or withdrawal prior to the             

deadline prescribed for submission of bids through e-GP system by 

using the forms and instructions provided by the system. 

24.2 Applications requested to be withdrawn in accordance with ITA 

24.1 shall be returned unopened to the Applicants. 
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24.3 No Application shall be withdrawn or modified in the interval 

between the deadline for submission of Applications and the 

expiration of the period of Application validity specified by the 

Applicant on the Application Submission Form or any extension 

thereof. 

 

25. Application 

Opening 

25.1 The NTA shall conduct the Technical Application opening in 

public in the presence of Applicant or its representative who chose 

to attend at the address, date and time specified in the ADS. The 

Subsidy Application will remain unopened and will be held in 

custody of the Employer until the specified time of their opening. If 

the Technical Bid and Price Bid are submitted together in one 

envelope, the Employer shall reject the entire Application. 

25.2 The NTA shall download the e-submitted Technical Application. 

The e-GP system allows the Employer to download the e-submitted 

technical Application only after Application opening date and time 

after login simultaneously by at least two members of the Bid 

Opening Committee. 

25.3 Electronically submitted Technical Application shall be opened at 

first in the same time and date as specified above. Electronic 

Applications shall be opened one by one and read out. The e-

submitted technical Applications must be readable through open 

standards interfaces. Unreadable and or partially submitted bid files 

shall be considered incomplete. 

25.4 Before opening the Applications NTA shall separate the envelopes 

of the Applications received after the deadline of Application 

submission, the envelopes containing an Application given for 

WITHDRAWAL, MODIFICATION of Applications and the 

envelopes of Applications duly registered. The Applications 

received after the deadline of submission shall be returned to the 

concerned Applicant unopened. Then envelopes marked 

“WITHDRAWAL” shall be opened first, read out, and recorded, 

and the envelope containing the corresponding Application shall 

not be opened, but returned to the Applicant. If the withdrawal 

notice is not accompanied by a copy of the valid authorization 

(power of attorney) pursuant to ITA 20.2, the withdrawal shall not 

be permitted and the corresponding Application will be opened. 

Envelopes marked “MODIFICATION” shall be opened, read out, 

and recorded with the corresponding Application. No Application 

shall be modified unless the corresponding Modification Notice 

contains a valid authorization (power of attorney) to request the 

modification and is read out and recorded at Application opening. 

Only envelopes that are opened, read out, and recorded at 

Application opening shall be considered further. 

25.5 All other envelopes holding the Technical Application shall be 

opened one at a time, and the following read out and recorded: the 

name of the Applicant and whether there is a modification; the 
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subsidy requested, any discounts; the presence of a Bid Security, if 

there is discrepancy between figure and words, description of such 

discrepancy; whether the Application form is signed by the 

Applicant or his agent; and any other details as NTA may consider 

appropriate. Only discounts read out and recorded at Application 

opening shall be considered for evaluation. No Application shall be 

rejected at Application opening except for late Applications, in 

accordance with ITA 23.1. 

25.6 NTA shall prepare a record of the Application opening of 

Technical Applications that shall include, as a minimum: the name 

of the Applicant and whether there is a withdrawal, or 

modification; the subsidy amount, any discounts; and the presence 

or absence of a Bid Security. The Applicants’ representatives who 

are present shall be requested to sign the record. The omission of an 

Applicant’s signature on the record shall not invalidate the contents 

and effect of the record. A copy of the record shall be distributed to 

all Applicants who submitted Applications in time, The Applicants’ 

representatives, who are present, shall also be requested to sign an 

attendance sheet. 

25.7 At the end of the evaluation of the Technical Applications, the 

Employer will invite Applicants who have submitted substantially 

responsive Technical Applications and who have been determined 

as being qualified for award to attend the opening of the Subsidy 

Applications. The date, time, and location of the opening of subsidy 

Applications will be advised in writing by the Employer. 

Applicants shall be given at least 7 days notice for the opening of 

Price Applications. 

25.8 The NTA will notify Applicants in writing who have been rejected 

on the grounds of their Technical Applications being substantially 

nonresponsive to the requirements of the Application Document 

and return their Subsidy Applications unopened. 

25.9 The NTA shall conduct the opening of Subsidy Applications of all 

Applicants who submitted substantially responsive Technical 

Applications, in the presence of Applicants` representatives who 

choose to attend at the address, on the date, and time specified by 

the NTA. The Applicant’s representatives who are present shall be 

requested to sign a register evidencing their attendance. 

25.10 All envelopes containing Price Applications shall be opened one at 

a time and the following read out and recorded: 

(a) the name of the Applicant; 

(b) whether there is a modification; 

(c) the Subsidy Prices, including any discounts and alternative offers; and 

(d) any other details as the NTA may consider appropriate. 

Only Subsidy Applications, discounts, modifications, and alternative 

offers read out and recorded during the opening of Subsidy Applications 

shall be considered for evaluation. No Application shall be rejected at the 
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opening of subsidy Applications. 

25.11 The NTA shall prepare a record of the opening of Subsidy 

Applications that shall include, as a minimum, the name of the 

Applicant, the Subsidy claim (per lot if applicable), any discounts, 

modifications and alternative offers. The Applicants’ 

representatives who are present shall be requested to sign the 
record. The omission of a Applicant’s signature on the record shall 

not invalidate the contents and effect of the record 

 E. Evaluation and Comparison of Applications 

26. Confidentiality 26.1 Information relating to the examination, evaluation, comparison, 

qualifications and recommendation of contract Award, shall not be 

disclosed to Applicants or any other persons not officially 

concerned with such process until publication of the Contract 

Award; 

26.2 Any attempt by an Applicant to influence NTA in the examination, 

evaluation, comparison, and post-qualification of the Applications 

or Contract Award decisions may result in the rejection of its 

Application. 

26.3 Notwithstanding ITA 26.2, from the time of Application opening to 

the time of Contract Award, if any Applicant wishes to contact 

NTA on any matter related to the Application process, it shall do so 

in writing. 

26.4 NTA shall treat all Applications received in relation to this RFA as 

confidential during the period before the Award of the contract. 

26.5 After the contract has been signed, NTA may decide to place some 

or all of the Applications that NTA has on file in relation to this 

RFA on the public record. However, prior to placing an 

Application on the public record, NTA will notify the Applicant 

that submitted that NTA plans to place the Applicant's Application 

on the public record. The Applicant will then have an opportunity 

to request that commercially sensitive or proprietary information in 

its Application be treated as confidential. NTA will advise the 

Applicant of the procedure for claiming confidentiality over any 

such information. 

26.6 Neither NTA nor any of its agencies, employees, representatives, 

advisors or consultants shall be liable in any respect whatsoever to 

any Applicant or any of its members or representatives for damages 

or harm resulting from a failure to maintain such confidentiality. 

27. Clarification of 

Applications 

27.1 To assist in the examination, evaluation, comparison of technical 

and subsidy Applications, NTA may, at its discretion, ask any 

Applicant for a clarification of its Application. Any clarification 

submitted by an Applicant with regard to its Application and that is 

not in response to a request by NTA shall not be considered. NTA’s 

request for clarification and the response shall be in writing. No 

change in the subsidy or substance of the Application shall be 
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sought, offered, or permitted, except to confirm the correction of 

arithmetic errors discovered by NTA in the evaluation of the 

Applications, in accordance with ITA 32. In case of e-submission 

of Application, upon notification from the employer, the Applicant 

shall also submit the original of documents comprising the 

Technical and Subsidy Application as per ITA 13.2 and ITA 13.3 

for verification of submitted documents for acceptance of the e-

submitted Application. 

27.2 If an Applicant does not provide clarifications of its Application by 

the date and time set in the Employer’s request for clarification, its 

Application may be rejected. 

28. Deviations, 

Reservations, 

and Omissions 

28.1 During the evaluation of Applications, the following definitions 

apply: 

(a) “Deviation” is a departure from the requirements specified in the 

RFA Document;  

(b) “Reservation” is the setting of limiting conditions or withholding 

from complete acceptance of the requirements specified in the 

RFA Document; and 

(c) “Omission” is the failure to submit part or all of the information 

or documentation required in the RFA Document. 

29. Examination of 

Technical 

Application 

29.1 The NTA shall examine the Technical Application to confirm that 

all documents and technical documentation requested in ITB 13.2 

have been provided, and to determine the completeness of each 

document submitted. 

29.2 The Employer shall confirm that the following documents and 

information have been provided in the Technical Bid.  If any of 

these documents or information is missing, the offer shall be 

rejected. 

(a) Technical Application Form; 

(b) written confirmation of authorization to commit the Applicants; 

(c) Bid Security; and  

(d) Technical Proposal in accordance with ITA 13.2 

30. Determination 

of 

Responsiveness 

of Technical 

Application 

30.1 NTA’s determination of the responsiveness of an Application is to 

be based on the contents of the Application itself, as defined in ITA 

13.2. 

30.2 A substantially responsive Technical Application is one that meets 

the requirements of the RFA Document without material deviation, 

reservation, or omission. A material deviation, reservation, or 

omission is one that, 

(a) if accepted, would: 
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(i) affect in any substantial way the scope, quality, or 

performance of the Services specified in Section IV, Terms 

of Reference; or 

(ii) Limits in any substantial way, inconsistent with the RFA 

Document, NTA’s rights or the Applicant’s obligations 

under the proposed Contract; or 

(b) If rectified, would unfairly affect the competitive position of 

other Applicants presenting substantially responsive 

Applications. 

30.3 NTA shall examine the technical aspects of the Application in 

particular, to confirm that all requirements of Section IV, Terms of 

Reference and Section X Annex 5 Technical Specification have 

been met without any material deviation or reservation or 

omission. 

30.4 If an Application is not substantially responsive to the 

requirements of the RFA, it shall be rejected by the NTA and may 

not subsequently be made responsive by correction of the material 

deviation, reservation, or omission. 

30.5 In case of e-submission bids, the NTA evaluates the Application on 

the   basis of the information in the electronically submitted bid 

files.  If  the  Applicant  cannot  substantiate  or  provide  evidence  

to establish  the  information  provided  in  e-submitted  

Application/bid  through  documents/ clarifications  as  per  ITB  

Clause  27.1,  the Application  shall  not  be  considered for further 

evaluation. 

30.6 In Case, a corruption case is being filed to Court against the 

Natural Person or Board of Director of the firm/institution 

/company or any partner of JV, such Natural Person or Board of 

Director of the firm/institution /company or any partner of JV such 

Applicant’s application shall be excluded from the evaluation, if 

NTA receives instruction from Government of Nepal. 

30.7 Except in case of e-submission, the subsidy Application of the 

Applicant, which is evaluated as substantially non-responsive in 

technical Application, shall be returned to the respective 

Applicants. 

31. Non-material 

Non-conformi-

ties 

31.1 NTA may regard an Application as responsive even if it contains 

minor deviations that do not materially alter or depart from the 

characteristics, terms, conditions and other requirement set forth in 

the RFA Document or if it contains errors or oversights that are 

capable of being corrected without affecting the substance of the 

Application. 

31.2 Provided that an Technical Application is substantially responsive, 

NTA may request that the Applicant submit the necessary 

information or documentation, within a reasonable period of time, 

to rectify non-material non-conformities or omissions in the 

Technical Application related to documentation requirements. 
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Requesting information or documentation on such non-

conformities shall not be related to any aspect of subsidy. Failure of 

the Applicant to comply with the request may result in the rejection 

of its Application. 

32. Qualification of 

the Applicant 

32.1 The NTA shall determine to its satisfaction during the evaluation of 

Technical Applications whether Applicsnts meet the qualifying 

criteria specified in Section III (Evaluation and Qualification 

Criteria). 

32.2 The determination shall be based upon an examination of the 

documentary evidence of the Applicant’s qualifications submitted 

by the Applicant, pursuant to ITB 17.1. 

32.3 An affirmative determination shall be a prerequisite for the opening 

and evaluation of a Applicant’s Subsidy Application. A negative 

determination shall result into the disqualification of the 

Application, in which event the Employer shall return the unopened 

subsidy Application to the Applicant. 

33. Correction of 

Arithmetical 

Errors 

33.1 Provided that the Application is substantially responsive,NTA shall 

correct arithmetical errors on the following basis: 

(a) if there is a discrepancy between the unit price and the total price 

that is obtained by multiplying the unit price and quantity, the 

unit price shall prevail and the total price shall be corrected, 

unless in the opinion of NTA there is an obvious misplacement 

of the decimal point in the unit price, in which case the total price 

as quoted shall govern and the unit price shall be corrected; 

(b) if there is an error in a total corresponding to the addition or 

subtraction of subtotals, the subtotals shall prevail and the total 

shall be corrected; and 

(c) if there is a discrepancy between words and figures, the amount 

in words shall prevail, unless the amount expressed in words is 

related to an arithmetic error, in which case the amount in figures 

shall prevail subject to (a) and (b) above. 

33.2 If the Applicant that submitted the lowest evaluated Application 

does not accept the correction of errors, its Application shall be 

rejected and its bid security shall be forfeited. 

34. Evaluation of 

Applications 

34.1  Evaluation will be in different stages, preliminary, technical and 

commercial. Technical evaluation is only carried out for all 

substantially responsive applicants under preliminary examination. 

Technically responsive Applicants are further considered for 

commercial evaluation. 

34.2 NTA shall evaluate and compare each Application that has been 

determined, up to this stage of the evaluation, to be substantially 

responsive. 

34.3 To evaluate an Application, NTA shall only use all the criteria and 

methodologies defined in ITA17 qualification of Applicants. No 
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other criteria or methodology shall be permitted. 

35. Post-

qualification of 

the Applicant 

35.1 NTA shall determine to its satisfaction whether the Applicant that 

is selected as having submitted the lowest evaluated and 

substantially responsive Application is qualified to perform the 

Contract satisfactorily. 

35.2 The determination shall be based upon an examination of the 

documentary evidence of the Applicant’s qualifications submitted 

by the Applicant, pursuant to ITA 17. 

35.3 An affirmative determination shall be a prerequisite for Award of 

the Contract and issuance of Authorization to the Applicant. A 

negative determination shall result in disqualification of the 

Application, in which event NTA shall proceed to the next lowest 

evaluated Application to make a similar determination of that 

Applicant’s capabilities to perform the contract satisfactorily. 

36. NTA’s Right to 

Accept Any 

Application, 

and to Reject 

Any or All 

Applications 

36.1 NTA reserves the right to accept or reject any Application, and to 

annul the Application process and reject all Applications at any 

time prior to Contract Award, and/or decide not to select any 

Licensee for Award of the Subsidy without thereby incurring any 

liability to the Applicants. The termination notice will be 

communicated to all the Applicants. If the Applicant seeks further 

clarification from NTA within 30 days of such notice, NTA shall 

communicate further clarification behind such termination. 

36.2 For greater clarity, NTA is not legally obligated to issue the 

contract. It may terminate the RFA process at any time before the 

contract is actually issued. 

 F. Award of Contract 

37. Award Criteria 

37.1 NTA shall select to award the Contract for providing subsidy to the 

Applicant whose offer has been determined to be the lowest 

subsidy amount to fulfil the network roll-out requirements and is 

substantially responsive to the RFA document, provided further 

that the Applicant is determined to be qualified to perform the 

Contract satisfactorily. 

37.2 The maximum subsidy amount shall not exceed the amount 

mentioned in this RFA. 

38. Notification of 

Intention to  

Award 

38.1 NTA shall notify the concerned Applicant/s whose Application has 

been selected in accordance with ITA 35.1 within seven days of the 

selection of the Application, in writing that NTA has intention to 

accept his/her Application to grant the contract and shall Inform via 

the Letter of Intention. The information of name, address and 

amount of selected Applicant shall be given to all other Applicants 

who submitted the Application. 

38.2 If no Applicant submits an Application pursuant to ITA39.1 within a 

period of seven days of providing the notice under ITA36.1, NTA 

shall accept the Application selected in accordance with ITA 35.1 

prior to the expiry of Application validity period, and notification of 

Award shall be communicated to the Applicant to furnish the 
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performance security and sign the contract. 

39. Performance 

Security 
39.1 Within Fifteen (15) days of the receipt of notification of Award from 

NTA, the successful Applicant/s shall furnish the Performance 

Security of 5% of the Subsidy amountfrom a commercial bank in 

Nepal in accordance with the SCC, using for that purpose the 

Performance Security Form included in Section VII, Contract Forms, 

or another form acceptable to the NTA. 

39.2 Failure of the successful Applicant to submit the above-mentioned 

Performance Security or sign the Contract Agreement shall 

constitute sufficient grounds for the annulment of the Award, 

disqualify the SLO for providing subsidy and forfeiture of the Bid 

Security. In that eventNTA may Award the Contract to another 

Applicantthat has proposed the next lowest subsidy and whose 

offer is substantially responsive and is determined byNTA to be 

qualified to perform the Contract satisfactorily. 

40. Signing of 

Contract and 

issuance of 

Authorization 

40.1 The successful Applicant/s shall sign the contract in the form included 

in section VII after the submission of Performance Security in 

accordance with ITA37;and  

40.2 NTA shall issue Authorization to such Applicant/s as and when it 

deems necessary to receive the authorization for Braodband 

connectivity Services to local customers atleast at RURAL 

MUNICIPLITY AND WARDoffices, Health Centers and 

PublicEducational instidution (High school and above). 

40.3 NTA in its discretion may modify the terms of the Authorization as 

set out in this RFA to reflect the plans or commitments made by the 

SLO, to the extent that those plans or commitments meet or exceed 

the requirements set out in the attached draft Authorization and 

provide additional benefits to the general public. 

40.4 At the same time,NTA shall also notify all other Applicants of the 

results of the RFA, and shall publish in an daily newspaper or NTA 

website the results identifying the Application and package numbers 

and the following information: (i) name of each Applicant who 

submitted an Application; (ii) subsidy amount as read out at 

Application Opening; (iii) name of Applicants whose Applications 

were rejected and the reasons for their rejection; and (iv) name of the 

winning Applicant, and the subsidy requested. 

40.5 NTA shall promptly respond in writing to any unsuccessful Applicant 

who, within thirty days from the date of issuance of notification of 

Award in accordance with ITA36.2, requests in writing the grounds on 

which its Application was not selected. 

41. Complaint and 

Review 

41.1 If an Applicant dissatisfies with the Procurement proceedings or the 

decision made by NTA in the intention to Award the Contract, it 

may file an Application to the Chairman of the NTA within seven 

(7) days of having, receipt of such notice or decision making, for 

review of the proceedings stating the factual and legal grounds. 
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41.2 An Application filed after the deadline pursuant ITA39.1 shall not 

be processed. 

41.3 The Chairman of NTA shall, within five (5) days after receiving the 

Application, give its decision with reasons, in writing pursuant to 

ITA39.1: 

(a) whether to suspend the procurement proceeding and the 

procedure for further proceedings to be adopted; or  

(b) whether or not to reject a Application. 

41.4 If the Applicant is not satisfied with the decision of NTA in 

accordance with ITA39.3, or the decision by the Chairman of NTA 

is not given within five (5) days of receipt of Application pursuant 

to ITA39.1, it can, within seven (7) days of receipt of such 

decision, file an Application to the Review Committee of the GoN, 

stating the reason of its disagreement on the decision of the 

Chairman of NTA and furnishing the relevant documents. The 

Application may be sent by hand, or by post, or by courier, or by 

electronic media at the risk of the Applicant itself. 

41.5 Late Application filed after the deadline pursuant to ITA39.4 shall 

not be processed. 

41.6 The Review Committee shall notify the NTA to furnish its 

procurement proceedings and comments on the issue, pursuant to 

ITA39.3. 

41.7 Within three (3) working days of receipt of the notification 

pursuant to ITA39.6, NTA shall furnish the copy of the related 

documents along with its comment or reaction of complaint to the 

Review Committee. 

41.8 The Review Committee, after inquiring from the Applicant and the 

NTA, if needed, shall give its decision within one (1) month after 

receiving the Application filed by the Applicant, pursuant to 

ITA39.4. 

41.9 The Applicant, filing Application pursuant to ITA39.4, shall have 

to furnish a cash amount or Bank guarantee of "A class" 

commercial bank or Financial Institution eligible to issue Bank 

Guarantee as per prevailing Law equivalent to one percent (1%) of 

its quoted subsidy amount with the validity period of at least ninety 

(90) days from the date of the filing of Application pursuant to 

ITA39.4. Application filed without furnishing the security deposit 

shall not be processed. 

41.10 If the claim made by the Applicant pursuant to ITA39.4 is justified, 

the Review Committee shall have to return the security deposit to 

the applicant, pursuant to ITA39.9, within seven (7) days of such 

decision made. 

41.11 If the claim made by the Applicant pursuant to ITA39.4 is rejected 

by the Review Committee, the security deposit submitted by the 

Applicant pursuant to ITA39.9 shall be forfeited. 
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Section II.  Application Data Sheet 

A.  Introduction 

ITA 1.1 Name and Address:  

Nepal Telecommunications Authority 

GPO Box No. 9754 

Kamaladi, Kathmandu, Nepal 

Tel.: +977-1- 4255474 

Fax : +977-1-4255250 

E-mail: ntra@nta.gov.np 

Website:www.nta.gov.np 

 

ITA 2.1 Name of the Contract: 

To Build broadband network and provide internet access connectivity 

services in 5 Districts viz.  Rupandehi, Chitwan, Nawalpur, Kapilbastu  

and  NAWALPARASI  

 

Identification number of the Contract: 02/NTA/2076/077 

ITA 2.2 Intended completion date: Twelve months from the date of signing of 

contract. 

ITA 3.1 Source of Funds: Rural Telecom Development Fund (RTDF) as per the 

Telecommunication Act 2053 B.S.  

ITA5.1 

 

 

The eligibility requirement of the Applicants are: 

¶ Proof of minimum of operated 1000 km transmission network in 

Nepal. 

¶ Proof of 25,000 Internet subscribers  

¶ A written declaration made by the Applicant, with a statement 

that it is not ineligible to participate in the procurement 

proceedings; has no conflict of interest in the proposed 

procurement proceedings, and has not been punished for a 

profession or business related offense.  

ITA 5.2 ¶ The Applicant shall not have incurred financial losses in the 

period of last three years. 

¶ The Applicant demonstrates that it has Positive “Net Worth” in 

last fiscal year. 

¶ Applicant should have strong financing capacity to finance the 

building and operating of Network either through sufficiant cash 

balance or Line of Credit in Format of RFA for NRs Seven 

Hundred Million from A Class Commercial Bank or any 

Financial Institution eligible to issue Bank Guarantee as per 

prevailing Law for this Project.  

B.  RFA Document 

ITA 9.1 For clarification purposes only, the  address is: 

Attention: 

mailto:ntra@nta.gov.np
http://www.nta.gov.np/
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The Chairman 

Nepal Telecommunications Authority 

GPO Box No. 9754 

Kamaladi,  Kathmandu, Nepal 

Tel.: +977-1-4255474 

Fax : +977-1-4255250 

E-mail: ntra@nta.gov.np  

ITA 9.1 The NTA will respond in writing to any request for clarification 

provided that such request is received no later than Fifteen (15) days 

prior to the deadline date for submission of Application. 

ITA 9.2 Pre-Application meeting shall be organized on the following date, time 

and place:  

Date: 17
th

 Feburary, 2020, 

Time: 14:00 Hrs 

Place: Nepal Telecommunications Authority 

Kamaladi, Kathmandu, Nepal 

 

C.  Preparation of Applications 

ITA 12.1 The language of the Application is: Nepali or English  

ITA 13.2 (Xiii) Other required documents: 

¶ Copy of Firm Registration Certificate; 

¶ Copy of memorandum and articles of association; 

¶ Copy of valid ISP License from NTA  

¶ Copy of VAT/PAN Registration Certificate 

¶ Copy of Tax Clearance Certificate for the F/Y 2075/76. 

¶ Evidence of submission and Clearance of RTDF and Royalty 

including dues (Beruju) raised by office of Auditor General for 

the F/Y 2075/76 

¶ Copy of audited report of last three fiscal year (F/Y 2073/74, 

F/Y 2074/75 and F/Y 2075/76). 

ITA 17.1  The Applicant shall have qualifications as follows: 

Financing Capacity 

The Applicant must demonstrate the NTA that it has the financing 

capacity as follows: 

(i) The Applicant shall have minimum average Rural 

Telecommunications Development Fund Contribution of NRs 

1,000,000 (Nepalese Rupees one Million Only) for last three 

mailto:ntra@nta.gov.np
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fiscal years. 

(ii) The Applicant shall have Positive “Net Worth” in last fiscal year. 

Evidence/s of committed financial resources shall include: 

Á A detailed list of all sources and amounts of equity and debt 

financing required in the first 3 (three) years of operation; and  

¶ Other evidence that the Licensee proposed by the Applicant 

clearly has the capacity to finance the building and operating of 

Network 

Operational Experience 

The Applicant shall provide clear evidence that it has the 

operational experience of: 

¶ Operate at least 1000 km transmission networks for 

minimum of one year in Nepal.  

¶ The Applicant shall provide clear evidence that it has 

technical and human resources capability to build, operate 

& maintain optical, microwave, satellite, PMP, wireless 

network. 

 (To fulfill the above requirements, the Applicant shall submit 

documentation substantiating its description of the relevant 

operations, such as records of relevant government or 

regulatory authorities, auditor’s reports, securities filings or 

independent analyst profiles, appropriately certified by the 

regulatory or government Authority. The Applicant shall 

submit sufficient documentation showing the understanding 

of the Project, past experience of similar nature of work and 

the operation of broadband access network, existing technical 

personnel, work plan, as well as its financial capability 

(Liquidity assests & Line of Credit)) 

ITA 18.1 The Application validity period shall be 120 days from the last date of 

submission. 

ITA 19.1 

 

The Applicant shall furnish a bid security: 

NRs25,000,000.00 (In words NRs Twenty Five Million only) 

ITA 19.2 If the Applicant wishes to submit the Bid Security in the form of cash, 

the cash should be deposited in following account number and submit 

the receipt of the deposited amount of cash along with the Application. 

Bank Deposit Account No.:  1806017500003 

Name of the Account holder:Nepal Telecommunications Authority 

Name and address of Bank:Nabil Bank Limited, Kathmandu 
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ITA 20.1 In addition to the original of the Application: Only electronic 

submission   

ITA 20.2 The written confirmation of authorization (Power of attorney) to sign on 

behalf of the Applicant/s shall consist of: Power of attorney from their 

Board of Directors or equivalent competent authority to sign the 

Application. 

 

D.  Submission and Opening of Applications 

ITA 22.1 For Application must be submitted by electronically. 

 

ITA 22.1  The deadline for Application submission is: 

Date:2
nd

 March 2020 

Time:12:00 Hr 

ITA 22.1 If the last date of purchasing, submission and opening of Application 

falls on a government holiday then the next working day shall be 

considered as the last day without any change in the time and place as 

fixed: N/A 

ITA 24.1(b) The deadline for withdrawal, or modification of Applications: 

Date: 2
nd

 March 2020 

Time:12:00 Hr 

ITA 25.1 The Application opening shall take place at:  

Date: 2
nd

 March, 2020 

Time:12:30 Hr  

Place: Nepal Telecommunications Authority 

Kamaladi, Kathmandu, Nepal 
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Section III.  Application Forms 
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1. Applicant's Tecxhnical Application Submission Form 

(The Applicant shall accomplish the Application Submission Formin its Letter Head clearly showing the Applicants 

Complete name and address) 

 
 

Date:   

 

Invitation for Application No.:   

To:  _______________________________________________________________________  

 

We, the undersigned, declare that:  

 

(a) We have examined and have no reservations to the RFA Document, including Addenda 

No.:  ; 

 

(b) We offer our confirmity to build the bandwidth conectivity network in conformity with the 

RFA Document and in accordance with the TOR, 

(c) Our Application consisting of Technical Application and subsidy Application shall be valid 

for a period of one hundred twenty days from the date fixed for the Application submission 

deadline in accordance with the RFA Document, and it shall remain binding upon us and 

may be accepted at any time before the expiration of that period; 

(d) If our Application is accepted, we commit to obtain a Performance Security in the amount 

as specified in ADS by us for the due performance of the Contract; 

(e) We are not participating, as Applicants, in more than one Application in this Application 

process in accordance with the RFA Document; 

(f) Our firm, its affiliates or subsidiaries, including any sub-contractors for any part of the 

Contract, has not been declared ineligible by the GoN; 

(g) We understand that this Application, together with your written acceptance thereof included 

in your notification of Award, shall constitute a binding contract between us, until a formal 

Contract is prepared and executed. 

(h) We understand that you are not bound to accept any or all Applications that you may receive 

and/or decide not to select any Applicant for Award of subsidy  

(i) We declare that we are not ineligible to participate in the procurement proceedings; have no 

conflict of interest in the proposed procurement proceedings and have not been punished for 

a profession or business related offense. 

 

Name   

In the capacity of   

Signed   

Duly authorized to sign the Application for and on behalf of   

 

Stamp 

 

Date   
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 SUBSIDY APPLICATION FORM 

 

To: The Chairman 

 Nepal Telecommunications Authority 

 GPO Box No. 9754 

 Kamaladi,Kathmandu, Nepal 

  

 

(a) We have examined and have no reservations to the RFA Document, including Addenda 

No.:  ; 

 

(b) We offer our confirmity to build the bandwidth conectivity network in conformity with 

the RFA Document and in accordance with the TOR, 

 
(c) The total Subsidy of our Application, excluding any discounts offered in item (d) below 

is: NRs. …………………………………………..; or when left blank is the Application 

Subsidy indicated in the Bill of Quantities. 

 

(d) The discounts offered and the methodology for their application 

are:…………………………………………….. 

(e) Our Application shall be valid for a period of  one hundred twenty  days from the date 

fixed for the Application submission deadline in accordance with the RFA, and it shall  

remain binding upon us and may be accepted at any time before the expiration of that 

period; 

 
(f) If our Application is accepted, we commit toobtain a performance security in 

accordance with the RFA;  

 
(g) We understand for financial evaluation purpose, the proposed subsidy amount will only 

be considered. In the event of any discrepancy between the Subsidy amount identified 

in words and numbers, the amount set out in words shall govern. The breakdown of the 

project cost is for information purpose only.  

 

(h) We acknowledge that the Subsidy will be paid in four installments in accordance with, 

and that payment will be contingent on, the roll-out and service obligations 

requirements identified in SCC. 

 

(i) We understand some of the sites might be already connected. So on the basis of Survey, 

Network Design and the quantity of particulars subsidy amount will be changed. 

 

(j) We also acknowledge that payment of the Subsidy will be contingent on final Award of 

the contract and compliance with SCC. 

 

(k) The Applicant agrees and acknowledges that the Subsidy represents the entire and 

exclusive claim of financial assistance in building the broadband Network and 

Broadband access connectivity Servicesobligations in the Service Areas identified in 

TOR, and further agrees not to seek additional financial assistance from NTA or any 

related entities or institutions in connection with meeting these service obligations. 

 
(l) We understand that you are not bound to accept the lowest evaluated Application or 

any other bid that you may receive; and  
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(m) We declare that we are solely responsible for the authenticity of the documents 

submitted by us. 

 
(n) We agree to permit the Employer/DP or its representative to inspect our accounts and 

records and other documents relating to the bid submission and to have them audited by 

auditors appointed by the Employer.  

 

Name   

In the capacity of   

Signed   

Duly authorized to sign the Application for and on behalf of   

 

Stamp 

 

Date   
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Applicant's Technical Proposal Submission Form 

Date:   

 
 

(i) Personals 

(ii) Equipments and Material  

(iii) Network Description, Drawings and Working Schedules -  

a) A concise description of the planned network with detailed drawings:  

b) Detailed description of the technology to be employed 

c) Roll-out/service coverage plans of operation with GANTT chart 

d) Applicable additional technical standards along with the compliance on this RFA 

including Annex-2 Technical Specifications. 

e) Proposed interconnection points and available network capacity with detailed 

drawings. 

(iv) Operations -: 

a) a general description of the proposed approach to operate the Network including 

backhauling, access or Band Width lease. 

b) a statement indicating how the Network will be operated in the authorized districts a 

description of franchise arrangements that the Applicant proposes to use, if any  

c) a brief statement of the particulars of any land that shall be acquired for the 

installation and operations and the estimated compensation payable for the land; and  

d) a description of quality standards and capacitywhich shall accord with service 

quality and availability obligation stated in the TOR,  

(v) Projected Financial Statements - The Applicant shall provide projected financial 

statements for years 1 (one) through 3 (three) of the Authorization, include an income 

statement, balance sheet and statements of sources and Proposal of funds for the 

Applicant prepared in accepted accounting standards. Any Application, which does not 

comply with this requirement, may be disqualified. For this purpose, the financial 

statements shall treat the capital Subsidy amount as if it were part of the debt or equity 

of the Licensee. 

(vi) Interconnection - The Applicant shall provide it's best estimate of the number and size 

of the interconnection circuits and the point(s) of interconnection that it will require 

during the first 2 (two) years of operation. 

(vii) Calculation of subsidy: The Applicationshall include concise financial analysis 

detailing the calculation of the proposed bandwidth connectivity network to be installed 

with respect to available subsidy amount. The information furnished in this regard will 

be kept strictly confidential by NTA. The financial analysis shall also clearly 

demonstrate the breakdown of costs per station connectivity and unit price of each 

equipment to be installed. 

 



41 

 

41 

 

 

Name   

In the capacity of   

Signed  

  

Duly authorized to sign the Application for and on behalf of   

Stamp:   

 

Date: 
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Personnel 

Form PER - 1: Proposed Personnel  
 

Applicants should provide the names of suitably qualified personnel to meet the specified 
requirements for each of the positions listed in Section III (Evaluation and Qualification 
Criteria). The data on their experience should be supplied using the Form below for each 
candidate.  

No. Name Position* 

Academic 
Qualification 

 

Total Work 
Experience 

[Years] 

Experience 
in Similar 

Works 
[years] 

1.      

2.      

3.      

4.      

5.      

      

 

* As listed in Section III (Evaluation and Qualification Criteria). 
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Form PER - 2:   Resume of Proposed Personnel 

 

The Applicant shall provide all the information requested below. Fields with asterisk (*) 

shall be used for evaluation.  

 

Position* 

Personal Information Name Date of Birth 

Professional qualifications 

Present employment Name of employer 

Address of employer 

Telephone Contact (manager/personnel officer) 

Fax E-mail 

Job title Years with present employer 

Summarize professional experience over the last twenty years in reverse chronological 
order. Indicate particular technical and managerial experience relevant to the project.  
 

From* To* Company, Project, Position and Relevant 
Technical and Management Experience* 
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Equipment 
 
The Applicant shall provide adequate information to demonstrate clearly that it has the 
capability to meet the requirements for the key equipment.  A separate Form shall be 
prepared for each item of equipment listed, or for alternative equipment proposed by 
the Applicant.The Applicant shall provide all the information requested below, to the 
extent possible. Fields with asterisk (*) shall be used for evaluation.  

(i) For the equipment under Applicant's ownership 

No. 
Equipment Type 

and 
Characteristics 

Total Nos. of 
Equipment 

under 
Applicant's 
Ownership 

No. of Equipment 
engaged/proposed for 

ongoing/committed 
contracts 

Nos. of 
Equipment 

proposed for this 
contract 

1.     

2.     

3.     

4.     

5.     

     

(ii) For the Equipment to be leased/hired 

No. 
Equipment Type 
and 
Characteristics 

Total Nos. of 
Equipment under the 
ownership of 
lease/hire provider 

No. of Equipment 
engaged/committe
d for other works 

Nos. of 
Equipment 
proposed to be 
leased/hired for 
this contract 

1.     

2.     

3.     

4.     

5.     

     

Type of Equipment* 

Equipment Information Name of manufacturer Model and power rating 

Capacity* Year of manufacture 

Current Status Current location  

Details of current commitments 

Source Indicate source of the equipment 

0  Owned  0  Rented  0  Leased  0  Specially 

manufactured 
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The following information shall be provided only for equipment not owned by the 
Applicant. 
 

Owner Name of owner 

Address of owner 

Telephone Contact name and title 

Fax email 

Agreements Details of rental / lease / manufacture agreements 

specific to the project 

The Applicant shall be solely responsible for the data provided. However, this shall 

not limit the right of Employer to verify the authenticity of submitted information. 
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Form ELI - 1: Applicant's Information Form 
 

[The Applicant shall fill in this Form. No alterations to its format shall be permitted and no 

substitutions shall be accepted.  

Date: ................... [ Insert date (as day, month and year) of Application Submission] 

 

Page ________ of_ ______ pages 

 

 

1.   Applicant’s Legal Name    

2 Applicant’s Legal Address: 

 

 

3  Applicant’s NTA ISP License number 

and date:  

 

4. Applicant’s Year of Registration:   

5 Description of the business  

6. Applicant’s Authorized Representative 

Information: 

Name:  

     Address:  

     Telephone/Fax numbers:  

     Email Address 

 

7 Applicant’s Telephone/Fax numbers:  

8 Applicant’s Email Address:  

 Attached are copies of the following 

original documents. 

Ç 1.   Firm Registration Certificate/ 

Ç 2.     copy of memorándum and 

articles of association if any 

Ç 2.  Authorization (Power of attorney) 

to represent the firm  

Ç 3 NTA ISP License 
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Form LIT - 1: Pending Litigation  

Each member of a JV must fill in this form  

Pending Litigation 

0  No pending litigation  
0  Pending litigation  

Year Matter in Dispute 
Value of Pending 

Claim in NRS 

Value of Pending 
Claim as a 

Percentage on Net 
Worth 
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Form FIN - 1: Financial Situation  
 

Each Applicant or member of a JV must fill in this form  
 

Financial Data for Previous 3 Years [in NRS] 

Year 1 : Year 2 : Year 3 : 

Information from Balance Sheet 

Total Assets    

Total Liabilities    

Net Worth    

Current Assets    

Current Liabilities    

 
Information from Income Statement 

Total Revenues    

Profit Before Tax    

Profit After Tax    

o Attached are copies of financial statements (balance sheets including all related notes, and income 

statements) for the last three or above years, as indicated above, complying with the following 

conditions. 

o All such documents reflect the financial situation of the Applicant or partner to a JV, and not sister  

or parent companies.  

o Historic financial statements must be audited by a certified auditor.  

o Historic financial statements must be complete, including all notes to the financial statements. 

o Historic financial statements must correspond to accounting periods already completed and 

audited (no statements for partial periods shall be requested or accepted). 
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Form FIN - 2: Average Annual Construction Turnover  
 

Each Applicant or member of a JV must fill in this form  
 

The information supplied should be the Annual Turnover of the Applicant or each 
member of a JV in terms of the amounts billed to clients for each year for work in 
progress or completed to NRs at the end of the period reported.  

 

Annual Turnover Data for the Last 10 Years 
(Construction only) 

Year Amount Currency 

  

  

  

 
 

- Average Annual Construction Turnover 

(Best three years within the last 10 years) 
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Form FIN - 3: Bid Capacity  
 

Each Applicant or member of a JV must fill in this form  
 

Bid Capacity = [(7 x A) – B] 

 

A = Average Annual Turnover of best three years out of last ten fiscal years. 

B = Annual Value of the existing commitments and works (ongoing) to be completed, 

calculated from FIN-4. 

 

SN Name of Applicant Pan No. 
A, in 

Million 
B, in 

Million 
Bid Capacity, 

in Million 

1     

   2           

3           

 

Total Bid Capacity : 

 

 

       

 

       Signature of Applicant  
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Form FIN-4:   Current Contract Commitments / Works in Progress 
 

Applicants and each partner to a JV should provide information on their current commitments on all contracts that have been awarded, or for 
which a letter of intent or acceptance has been received, or for contracts approaching completion, but for which an unqualified, full 
completion certificate has yet to be issued.  

Current Contract Commitments ( For Calculation of B with reference of FIN-3) 

No. 
Name of 
Contract 

Name of the 
Contractor/s 

Employer's 
Contact 
Address, 
Tel, Fax 

Contract 
Share in 

% 
(a) 

Contract 
Amount 

in 
Millions 

(b) 

Contract 
Date(yyyy-

mm) 
(c) 

Initial or 
Revised 
Contract 
Duration 
(months) 

(d) 

Value of 
outstanding 

works [In 
Millions,NRS]# 

(e)  

Estimated Time in 
Month to Complete 

the outstanding 
works 

(f) = (c) + (d) – Date 
of Invitation of Bid 

(f) 

1          

2          

3          

4          

 

            Signature of Applicant 

# The  Outstanding Works means Contract Price (excluding Vat) minus Work Evaluated by Employer till the reference date.Applicant shall have to 
submit the relevant documentary evidence to substantiate the facts/figures. 

Note 1: “B” shall be calculated as : 12
)(

)()(
x

f

ae
B ù

ú

ø
é
ê

è ³
=ä  ,  If (f) is less than 12, then value of (f) shall be taken as 12.  
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Note 2: If Initial or Revised Contract Date is run out  with respect to Date of Invitation of Bid, the Estimated Time in Month to Complete the 
outstanding works shall be taken equal to 12 months. 
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Form EXP - 1:   General Construction Experience  

Each Applicant or member of a JV must fill in this form.  
 

General Construction Experience 

Starting 
Month 
Year 

Ending 
Month 
Year 

Year Contract Identification and Name and 
Address of Employer Brief Description 
of the Works Executed by the 
Applicant 

Role of 
Applicant 
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Form EXP - 2(a):   Specific Construction Experience  

 

Fill up one (1) form per contract.  

Contract of Similar Size and Nature 

Contract No………… of….. Contract Identification 

Award Date  Completion 

Date 

 

Role in Contract 0  

Contractor 

0  

Management 

Contractor 

0  

Subcontractor 

Total Contract Amount 0  NRS 

………..  

  

If Partner in a JV or subcontractor, 

specify participation of total contract 

amount 

Percent of 

Total 

Amount 

Employer's Name 

Address 

Telephone/Fax 

Number 

E-mail 

 

Description of the similarity in accordance with Criteria 2.4.2 (a) of Section III 

Note : 

The Employer should insert here 

contract size, complexity, methods, 

technology, or other characteristics 

as described in Section VI (Work 

Requirements) against which the 

Applicant demonstrates similarity in 

the box on the right-hand-side. 

 

 
  



 

55 

 

 

Form EXP - 2(b):   Specific Construction Experience in Key Activities  

 

Fill up one (1) form per contract.  

Contract of Similar Size and Nature 

Contract No………… of……….. Contract Identification 

Award Date  Completion 
Date 

 

Role in Contract 0  
Contractor 

0  
Management 
Contractor 

0  
Subcontractor 

Total Contract Amount 0  NRS 
………..  

  

If Partner in a JV or subcontractor, 
specify participation of total 
contract amount 

Percent of 
Total 

Amount 

Employer's Name 

Address 

Telephone/Fax 

Number 

E-mail 

 

Description of the similarity in accordance with Criteria 2.4.2 (a) of Section III 

Note : 

The Employer should insert here 
production rate(s) for the key activity 
(activities) subject contract against 
which the Applicant demonstrates in 
the box on the right-hand-side 
production rates achieved by him on 
previous contracts. 
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Operational Specific Experience Form 

 

 

Applicants’s Legal Name:  ___________________________      

 

Operational Experience: 

 

Number of Internet/Data Subscribers at present: ……………………………………… 

Access Methods Number of Internet/Data Subscribers Name of 

Districts 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 …. ….  

Wireless       

Wireline       

LAN/WAN/MAN       

 

Transmission Backhaul Network Experience: 

Operational Experience of 

Transmission Network 
Number of hops Network length inKm Districts 

Optical Fiber    

Microwave Links    

Wireless Backhaul    

PMP Backhaul    

Operational Experience in years =        years 

 

  



 

57 

 

5. Financial statement Forms and Projected Financial Information 
 

Please inlcude following details: 

 

¶ Financial statement, Income statement. 

 

¶ Financial statement, Balance sheet, Assets. 

  

¶ Financial statement, Balance sheet, Liabilities and shareholders' equity. 

 

¶ Statement of Cash Flow. 

 

¶ Income statement, forecast. 

 

¶ Balance sheet, forecast, Assets. 

 

¶ Balance sheet, forecast, Liabilities and shareholders' equity. 

 

¶ Statement of Cash Flow, forecast. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT, INCOME STATEMENT: 

 
(NPR thousand) 

 
 

* Details should be presented in a separate sheet for each item. 

End of Year : 
2073/74 2073/74 2074/75 

 

2074/75 2073/74 2074/75 

 

2075/76 2073/74 2074/75 

 

A Net operating revenues*    

B Other operating revenues*    

C = A + B Total revenue    

     

D Operating expenses*    

E Staff expenses*    

F Overhead*    

G = D + E 

+ F 
Total operating expenses  

  

     

H = C - G 
Earnings before 

depreciation (EBITDA) 
 

  

     

I 
Depreciation and 

amortization* 
 

  

J = H - I 
Total operating earnings 

(EBIT) 
 

  

     

K Net financial cost    

L = J - K 
Earnings before taxes 

(EBT) 
 

   

     

M Taxes    

N = L - M Net earnings    
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT, BALANCE SHEET,ASSETS: 
 

(NPR '000') 

 
 

 

* Details for each item should be presented in a separate sheet. 

 

 
  

End of Year : 
2073/74 

2071/72 
2073/74 2074/75 

 

2074/75 2073/74 2074/75 

 

2075/76 2073/74 2074/75 

 

A Intangible assets*    

B Property, plant and equipment*    

C Investments and other assets*    

D = A + B 

+ C 
Total fixed assets  

  

     

E Total inventories*    

     

F Trade accounts receivable    

G Other accounts receivable    

H Prepaid expenses    

I = F + G 

+ H 
Total accounts receivable  

  

     

J = E + I Total current assets    

     

K = D + 

J 
Total assets  
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT, BALANCE SHEET, LIABILITIES AND 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY: 
 

(NPR '000') 

 

End of Year : 
2073/74 2074/75 2075/76 

L Total shareowners' equity*    

     

M Deferred tax    

N Other provisions     

O = M + N Total provisions    

     

P 
Prepayments from customers 

and deposits 
 

  

Q Trade accounts payable    

R Other accounts payable    

S 
Proposed dividends for the fiscal 

year 
 

  

T = P + Q + R  

+ S Total short-term debt  
  

     

U Total long-term debt*    

     

V = T + 

U Total debt  
  

     

W = L + O 

+ V 
Total liabilities and 

shareholders' equity 
 

  

 

* Details for each item should be presented in a separate sheet. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW: 
 

(NPR '000') 

 

YEAR: 
2073/74 2074/75 2075/76 

A Net earnings    

B 
Depreciation, amortization and 

write downs 
 

  

C Other adjustments     

D Change in working capital    

E = A + B + C + D Cash flow from operating 

activities before net financials 
 

  

F Net interest    

G = E + F 
Cash flow from operating 

activities before tax 
 

  

H Corporate income tax paid    

I = G + H 
Cash flow from operating 

activities 
 

  

J Cash flow from investing activities    

K 
Cash flow from financing 

activities 
 

  

L = I + J + K 
Increase/(decrease) in cash and 

equivalents 
 

  

M 
Cash and equivalents on first of 

Shrawan 
 

  

N = M + L  
Cash and equivalents on last of 

Ashad 
 

  

 

Note : It is furthermore required that details of the items shown above are to be presented in a 

separate sheet (e.g. cash flow from investing activities, cash flow from financing activities 

etc.) 
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INCOME STATEMENT, FORECAST: 
(NPR '000') 

 
 

END OF YEAR: 2076/77 2077/78 2078/79 

Net operating revenues*    

Other operating revenues*    

Total revenue    

    

Operating expenses*    

Staff expenses*    

Overhead*    

Total operating expenses    

    

Earnings before depreciation 

(EBITDA) 
   

    

Depreciation and amortization*    

Total operating earnings (EBIT)    

    

Net financial costs    

Earnings before taxes (EBT)    

    

Taxes    

Net earnings    

 

* Details for each item should be presented in a separate sheet. 
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BALANCE SHEET, FORECAST, ASSETS: 
(NPR '000') 

 

 

END OF YEAR: 2076/77 2077/78 2078/79 

Intangible assets    

Property, plant and equipment*    

Investments and other assets    

Total fixed assets    

    

Total inventories    

    

Trade accounts receivable    

Other accounts receivable    

Prepaid expenses    

Total accounts receivable    

    

Cash    

    

Total current assets    

    

Total assets    

 

* Details for each item should be presented in a separate sheet. 
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BALANCE SHEET, FORECAST, LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY: 
(NPR '000') 

 

 
END OF YEAR: 2076/77 2077/78 2078/79 

Total shareowners' equity*    

    

Deferred tax    

Other provisions*    

Total provisions    

    

Prepayments from customers and 

deposits 
   

Trade accounts payable    

Other accounts payable    

Proposed dividends for the fiscal year    

Total short-term debt    

    

Total long-term debt    

    

Total debt    

    

Total liabilities and shareholders' 

equity 
   

 

* Details for each item should be presented in a separate sheet. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW, FORECAST: 
(NPR '000') 

 
YEAR: 2076/77 2077/78 2078/79 

    

Net earnings    

Depreciation, amortization and write 

downs 
   

Other adjustments     

Change in working capital    

Cash flow from operating activities 

before net financials 
   

Net interest    

Cash flow from operating activities 

before tax 
   

Corporate income tax paid    

Cash flow from operating activities    

    

Cash flow from investing activities    

    

Cash flow from financing activities    

    

Increase/(decrease) in cash and 

equivalents 
   

Cash and equivalents on first of Shrawan    

Cash and equivalents on last of Ashad    

 

Note : It is furthermore required that details of the items shown above are to be presented in a 

separate sheet (e.g. cash flow from investing activities, cash flow from financing activities 

etc.).  
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Bid Security 
( On letterhead paper of the 'A' class commercial Bank) 

[Insert Bankôs Name and Address of Issuing Branch or Office] 

Date:[insert date] 

Beneficiary: [insert Name and Address of NTA] 

BID Security No.:[insert number] 

We have been informed that …..[insert name of the Applicant] (hereinafter called "the 

Applicant") intends to submit its Application (hereinafter called "the Application") to you for 

the execution of …..[insert name of contract] under Invitation for Applications No. 

…..[Insert IF A number]  (“the IFA”).  

Furthermore, we understand that, according to your conditions, Applications must be 

supported by a bid guarantee. 

At the request of the Applicant, we …..[insert name of Bank] hereby irrevocably undertake 

to pay you any sum or sums not exceeding in total an amount of …..[insert amount in 

figures][insert amount in words]upon receipt by us of your first demand in writing 

accompanied by a written statement stating that the Applicant is in breach of its obligation(s) 

under the bid conditions, because the Applicant: 

(a)  has withdrawn its Application during the period of bid validity specified by the 

Applicant in the Form of Application; or 

(b)  having been notified of the acceptance of its Application by the NTA during the 

period of bid validity, (i) fails or refuses to execute the Contract, if required, or 

(ii) fails or refuses to furnish the performance security, in accordance with the 

ITA. 

(c) is involved in fraud and corruption in accordance with this RFA 

This guarantee will remain in force up to and including the date ……[Insert Date] ….[Insert 
Number] days after the deadline for submission of Bids as such deadline is stated in the 
instructions to Applicants or as it may be extended by the NTA, notice of which extension(s) to 
the Bank is hereby waived. Any demand in respect of this guarantee should reach the Bank not 
letter than the above date.  

 

This Bank guarantee shall not be withdrawn or released merely upon return of the original 

guarantee by the Applicant unless notified by you for the release of the guarantee.  
 

Name   

In the capacity of   

Signed  

 

  

Duly authorized to sign the Bid Security for and on behalf of   

Date  
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Section IV.  Terms of Reference 
 

1. Purpose of the Service: 

This RFA is issued by the Nepal Telecommunications Authority (NTA) pursuant to the 

Telecommunications Act, 2053(1997) (the “Act”) and the policy of the Government of 

Nepal (GoN) to expedite the development of Internet/data services in Nepal. 

In particular, this RFA is aimed at increasing broadband access throughout 5 Districts 

(Nawalpur,Kapilbastu, NAWALPARASI, Rupandehi and Chitwan) of Nepal.The 

purpose of this Request for Applications is to invite Application to build broadband 

network and provide Internet/data access connectivity services in 5 Districts in the next 

12 months and provide broadband connectivity services by providing subsidy to the 

existing NTA ISP licensees in order to provide connectivity for broadband services to all 

Munciplity, Rural municipality and warda offices, Health centers, and public academic 

institutions (high school and above). 

All Applicants are advised to study current MIS report of NTA at www.nta.gov.np to 

explore the present status of Nepalese ICT markets. 

2. Breakdown of the Assignment: 

This RFA contains 5 Districts (Nawalpur,Kapilbastu, NAWALPARASI, Rupandehi and 

Chitwan), as listed in this Terms of Reference. All Munciplity, Rural municipality and 

warda offices, Health centers, and public academic institutions (high school and above) 

listed below shall be provisioned for broadband connectivity. Details are listed in Annex 

4. 

D
is

tr
ic

ts
 

1. Chitwan District 

2. Nawalpur District 

3. NAWALPARASI 
District 

4. Kapilbastu District  

5. Rupandehi Districts 

 

3. Sources of Funds: 

NTA is collecting 2% of the Gross Adjusted Revenue as a Rural Telecom Development 

Fund (RTDF) every year from Telecom operators as per the Telecommunication Act 

2053 B.S. This fund is collected specifically for the development of Rural 

Telecommunications, and presently stands over Rs. 17 billion. NTA plans to utilise this 

fund to provide financial subsidy to its ISP licensee(s) for commissioning of this project 

which will be instrumental in establishing broadband connectivity network for the 

development of internet/data services in 5 Districts of Nepal. 

  

http://www.nta.gov.np/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Panchthar_District
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Khotang_District
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bhojpur_District,_Nepal
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bhojpur_District,_Nepal
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Terhathum_District
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Terhathum_District
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4. Estimated Project Costs:  

 

 
S.N. Municipality Ward

s 
 No of  

Schools 
No of  
Health 
centre 

Total Grand 
Total 

Chitwan 1174 

1 Kalika 11 41742  
 
 

75 

52 202  

2 Ratannagar 16 56094 

3 Khairhani 13 37683 

4 Madi 9 69848 

5 Rapti 13 57107 

6 Ichchhakamana 7 25012 

 6 69  

NAWALPAR
ASI 

 

1 Kawasoti 17 62421  
121 

79 381  

2 Gaidakot 18 58866 

3 Devchuli 17 42603 

4 Bardghat 16 55382 

5 Madhya Bindu 15 54140 

6 Ramfram 18 59455 

7 Sunwal 13 55424 

8 Triveni Susta 7 43797 

9 Palhi Nandan 6 35429 

10 Pratappur 9 41315 

11 Bungdi Kali 6 15734 

12 Burlingtar 6 19122 

13 Binayi 5 25036 

14 Sarawal 7 38163 

15 Hupsekot 6 25065 

 15 166     

Rupandehi  

1 Devdaha 12 53523 110 74 333  

2 Lumbini 
Sanskritik 

13 72497 

3 Sidharthanagar 13 63483 

4 Saina Maina 11 55822 

5 Tilottama 17 10014
9 

6 Gaidahawa 9 47565 

7 Kanchan 5 33072 

8 Kotahi Mai 7 41006 

9 Marchawari 7 38776 

10 Mayadevi 8 47196 

11 Om Satiya 6 34191 

12 Rohini 7 37175 

13 Sammari Mai 7 38305 

14 Siyari 7 38466 

15 Suddodhana 7 34638 

 15 134  

Kapilbastu  

1 Kapilbastu 12 76390  
68 

84 258  

2 Budhabhumi 10 64949 
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Note: Details of Ward, Schools and Health Centre are obtained from Ministry of Local 

Development, Ministry of Education, Ministry of Education and Central Bureau of 

Statistics. Hence the Applicants are required to contact local district offices to 

ascertain and find out the missing Data. If some of the sites or some area have already 

connected, that sites or area will be excluded and subsidy amount will be varied on 

the basis of quantity of partculars, rate and percentage of quotated subsidy. The 

succeeful applicant will have to provide services in these locations also on own their 

own costs.  

 

Estimated Subsidy Cost: Rs.928,000,000.00 (NPR Nine Hundred Twenty Eight 

Million Only) 

As a prelude to the initial planning for establishing a broadband connectivity Network in 

the 5 Districtsof the country. It was conducted a map study, which has been termed 

Technical Study throughout this RFA. Therefore, the Applicants are advised to carry out 

their own detailed field survey(s) in order to verify or otherwise amend the route length 

and other assumptions of the Technical Study, so that their Applications could reflect the 

actual site conditions. The name of districts, Munciplity, Rural Municiplity and Ward 

Offices Health posts/centers, PublicAcademic Institutions (High School, Higher 

Secondary Schools, Collges, Universities) of network as found out from the study is 

shown in Annex-I. 

SLO shall be required to build broadband connectivity networkusing mainly optical fiber 

cable (Underground, Direct buried and aerial cables as appropriate. Transmission media 

and Equipment used at target routes and sites shall meet technical specifications 

(minimum requirements) as indicated Annex-I and Annex-2. Also, the capacity of 

broadband connectivityequipment as indicated by the Technical Study for each sites shall 

be the minimum capacity that the Applicant needs to provide. However, all the 

stations/sites shall be connected with minimum capacity of 10Mbps (extendble at least 

upto 1 GB/s on `demand)/Terminal broadband capacity. The SLO may increase the 

capacity as per their requirements at any time. 

 

Despite the attempts of the government and prívate operators,it has not been possible to 

connect all district headquarters (DHQs) by backhaul links either by optical or 

microwaves yet. However, all 5 Districts headquarters are well connected by high 

capacity backhaul links either by microwave or optical fiber or both and all district 

3 Shivaraj 11 66781  68 

4 Maharajganj 11 54800 

5 Krishna Nagar 12 62370 

6 Banganga 11 75242 

7 Mayadevi 8 48218 

8 Yashodhara 8 38952 

9 Suddodhana 6 45201 

10 Bijay Nagar 7 36937 

 10 96    
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headquarters are connected with exchanges. Applicants are requested to survey and opt 

the cost effective solutions to connect each stations either by wireless routers or optical 

LAN or microwave backhaul or Point to Multipoint (PMP) or satellite radio links. 

Applicants are encouraged to use existing ADSL or FTTH or Optical routers/switches of 

other Telco’s/ ISP’s network for connecting to nearby broadband connecting stations. 

However, Applicants are solely responsable for arrangements to utilize other’s network 

infrastructures. 

The maximum amount of subsidy assumes a existing transmission connectivity up to the 

each district headquarters and one and half hops (in an average) are required for each 

stations to connect terminals. Each terminal site may need one wireless wifi router, 

feeder cable, atleast 50mm dia GI pipe and one directional antenna.Financial evaluation 

shall only compare the actual amounts of subsidy sought by the applicants. The subsidy 

amount also includes the operation cost for two years (i.e the free of cost to the end users 

for two years only). 

The RFA also encourages Applicants to make optimum use of all existing infrastructure 

including OFNs commissioned by one or the other Operator/s or other entities including 

Nepal Telecom, NCELL, Smart Telecom, UTL, STM Sanchar, Subisu, Worldlink, 

Merantile, and Electricity Authority (NEA), to the extent that it allows the usage of such 

section(s) of the existing facilities that do not presently come up to levels as required by 

the Minimum Quality Standards (MQS) set by NTA, to become part of the SLO's 

network, but the responsibility falls upon the SLO to upgrade such section(s) within 

stated time frameof the Authorization. SLO proposing to make use of existing 

instrastructure would be required to produce evidence of understanding reached with the 

owner(s) of existing network, by submitting copies of the Memorandums of 

Understanding (MoUs) reached by the Applicant with the concerned Operator(s). 

However, SLO shall be solely responsible to provide the broadband connectivity 

network and services stated in RFA. 

It is the intention of NTA to act carry out its function, as designated by the Act, of 

making necessary arrangement to avail basic internet/data Services and facilities in all 

rural areas throughout the country, by increasing access to broadband services in Nepal, 

particularly in rural and remote areas of 5 Districts (Nawalpur,Kapilbastu, 

NAWALPARASI, Rupandehi and Chitwan). 

This RFA will be governed by the Public Procurement Act 2063 B.S, 

Telecommunication Act 2053 B.S., NTA’s Financial Administration bylaw 2067 B.S. 

and RTDF Disbursement (working procedure) by law 2064 B.S. and relavent other 

laws.  
 

5. Rights and Obligations of Selected Licensed Operator 

 

The authorization will be issued on a non-exclusive basis. This authorization will not 

change the existing rights and obligations of SLO except providing additional rights and 

obligations as provided by this RFA. However, NTA will try and avoid duplication of 

infrastructure in areas where it has already been established through the use of RTDF 

fund. 

6. Network Roll-out Requirements 
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The SLO shall build broadband connectivity to all sites including Rural Municiplity and 

Ward Offices Health posts/centers and public academic institutions of 5 Districtsin 

accordance with the following schedules:  

Installation of services must commence within nine months of the effective date of the 

Authorization. The broadband connecvity network must be installed in all staions 

linsted in Annex-I in accordance with the following schedule: 

 

a) 50% of each Pakage:within 9 months from the date of signing of the contract:  

and 

b) Remaining 50% of each Pakage: within 12 months from the date of signing of 

the contract.  

c) Force Majeure: if an independent technical consultant appointed by the NTA, 

provides written confirmation to NTA that one or more events of force majeure 

prevented the installation, activation or operation of some of the broadband 

connectivity networks required under this TOR, then the obligations shall be 

modified accordingly; provided, however, that the responsibility of the ISP for 

the installation, activation and operation of the broadband connectivity network 

shall remain intact during the tenure of the contract, on improvement of the 

conditions giving rise to the event of force majeure. 

Failure to Meet Roll-out Requirements – Failure to meet the network roll-out 

requirements may result in the imposition of one or more of the following 

penalties: 

i) loss of eligibility for the  Subsidy; 

ii) forfeiture of the Performance Security pursuant to GCC 17; 

iii) termination of the contract; 

iv) the imposition of fines for breach of ISP licence conditions pursuant to 

the Act; and 

v) the forfeiture of all the equipment, land and other assets related to this 

service. 

Force Majeure – The penalties specified above shall not apply if the roll-out delay 

results solely from an event of force majeure. 

Rollout Obligation 

The SLO shall build broadband connectivity to all sites including Rural Municiplity and 

Ward Offices Health posts/centers, and public academic institutions and shall provide on 

demand broadband connectivity to the consumer of 5 Districts (Nawalpur,Kapilbastu, 

NAWALPARASI, Rupandehi and Chitwan). 

These 5 Districts have diffult geography, so SLO is free to choose aapropriate 

technology but based on the geography within the requirement defined below:  
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S.N. Name of District Optical  

1 Chitwan 100% 

2 Nawalpur 

3 NAWALPARASI 

4 Rupandehi 

 5 Kapilbastu 

 

7. Account Seperation and Service Obligations  

7.1 Account Separation: To facilitate the NTA to make interventions as and when 

necessary, SLO shall keep accounts pertaining to all transactions accruing pursuant to 

the Project in a manner separate from other activities carried out by the ISP Licensee(s). 

Such account separation should clearly demonstrate the basis of charges levied by the 

SLO to its own affiliates, and also to other clients. Maintaining of accounts in this 

manner by the SLO can be helpful to the NTA to judge if any changes in tariffs would 

be desirable in the interest of the consumers and the Licensee(s) alike. 

7.2 Public Information: SLO shall, within 3 months of completion of the network, bring 

out a publication clearly identifying the network established by them under the Project, 

and detailing the services offered thereof. Copy of such publication shall be submitted to 

the NTA, and also made public through distribution of hard copies, and posting at the 

Websites of the Licensee, and that of the NTA. SLO shall publish details of such 

broadband connectivity network & service at her disposal and offered by her, and update 

such information every three months. Licensee(s) shall also clearly enumerate 

conditions and procedures if any, for anyone to obtain access to its network & services. 

SLO shall ensure that all customers are connected with 1 Mbps internet speed in each 

terminal and publish the guaranteed speed on each terminal. 

7.3 Service Obligations: Uponcompletion of the broadband access connectity, the SLO 

shall invite each customer to handover the terminal and it’s password and train them to 

operate the CPE (computer, smartphone etc.). Once the customer purchases/arrangesher 

CPE then Licensee(s) shall provide the broadband connectivity without any 

discrimination. 

SLO shall make its broadband connectivitynetwork & services available to all the potential 

requesting clients so as to have immediate access after ordering. SLO shall not be allowed 

to refuse to provide such access to valid clients.  

In case the SLO is unable to provide network or services as per the request, and intimates 

the reasons thereof to the requesting potential valid client, SLO shall, maintain record of 

each such case mentioning therein the reasons thereof and such records shall be maintained 

for all such cases for a period of two years beginning from the date of such intimation. 

To ensure compliance of the Obligations of the SLO, the NTA shall appoint Inspector(s) to 

inspect any of the records maintained, especially with regards to the Licensee’s inability to 

provide network or services, and submit to NTA a report in respect of such inspection. 
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8. Minimum Quality Standards 

The minimum quality standards shall be as follows: 

8.1 Optical Fiber Cable Specifications 

Different attributes for the Fiber like mode field diameter, cladding diameter, Core 

concentricity error, non-circularity, Cut-off wavelength, macro-bending loss, material 

properties of the Fiber, refractive index profile, chromatic dispersion coefficient 

attenuation coefficient, polarization mode dispersion, are specified as a minimum essential 

parameters  for Fiber manufacture of a single mode optical Fiber cable in the ITU-T 

Recommendation G.652, ITU-TL1700 & L. Supplement 22 (Pub. 2016) and Annex-2 

Technical Specification of this RFA. The successful Applicant shall install minimum of 6 

core fiber cable. 

 

8.2 Field Proveness ofFiber and Equipment: 

NTA assumes that SLO shall construct OFN (wherever possible) with components and 

workmanship at international quality as specified in ITU/IEEE and Annex-2 Technical 

Specifications. 

8.3 Construction Standard  
 

The construction requirementsmay differ on the geographical terrain conditions of the 

routes. Ecologically, the country consistsof three Provinces viz. the Plain (Tarai), the Hill 

and the Mountain. The nature of soil condition is different; hence different standards shall 

be applied as per Section X - Annex-2 Technical Specifications. 

 

9. Termination Standard 

 
9.1 System structure and functions 

SLO shall follow minimum technical specifications specified in Annex-2 for Ducted 

Fiber cable, Aerial Cable, ADSS, OPGW, Wireless connectivity (WiFi/ 3G to 

4G/WiMax/ IPCDMA/VSAT), Poles/Tower/Mast, System Availability etc. 

 

9.2 In addition to Section X, Annex-2, the SLO shall meet the following standards: 

 

a) Operation and Maintenance 

Operation and maintenance of the network shall be controlled and performed by an 

Operating System. It is required that broadband connectivity accessnetwork element 

is managed according to Telecommunication Managing Network (TMN) and 

internationally practiced rules.  

 

b) Services and Penalties  

The minimum service quality criteria shall be as follows: 

i) Service Availability - The SLO shall ensure that the broadband connecvity 

network is available 24hrs a day throughout a year to its customers.  

ii)Service Obligation - The SLO shall ensure that the services are made available 

through the installation, activation and operation of broadband connectivity access 
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network lines through shared or dedicated leased optical cable to its customers that 

shall be retained and continued throughout the period of the authorization validity. 

iii)Failure to meet service quality and availability obligations – The failures of 

the SLO to meet the obligations specified in this section shall result in the 

imposition of penalties for breach of contract and Authorization conditions and 

other applicable penalties stipulated in the Act. However, the penalties shall not 

apply if the failure results solely from an event of force majeure. 

10. Scope of Service 

10.1 Mandatory Service: 

The SLO shall provide its broadband access connectivity networkto all customers as 

listed in Annex-I. 

10.2 Complaint Centre: 

The SLO shall establish a Complaint Centre for the users. SLO needs to ensure that all 

calls made to its Complaint Centre are free of charge.The SLO shall act as per the request 

of customers. 

10.3 Right of Way: 

The authorisation to build the broadband connecvity Network includes the authorisation 

to construct and use any required facilities for the provision of network access at the 

SLO’s own cost, and under its own responsibility. NTA will issue recommendation 

letters to this effect to the concerned Government Department, Institution, or individual 

who owns the land, building, etc. 

11. Regulation of Other Internet Service Providers 

The network access to the other internet service providers shall be regulated by NTA to 

ensure that existing internet service providers do not abuse their possible dominant 

position. In particular, NTA will regulate other internet service providers to ensure that 

they do not unfairly discriminate against the SLO and do not grant anti-competitive 

preferences or cross-subsidise its own internet/data network leasing charge with other 

infrastructure. 

12. Interconnection 

Interconnection between the SLO’s network and other licensees’ ICT/internet/data 

networks, including that of incumbent, is governed in general terms by section 31 of the 

Act and the InterconnectionsGuideline 2065 (2008) in force (see Annex 4 to this RFA). 

The SLO's internet/data network must be technically compatible with other ISPs’ 

network so as to provide seamless interconnection. For interconnection purposes, 

technical compatibility includes, but is not limited to, compatible numbering, signalling, 

routing and synchronization.  

In its Application, the Applicant shall provide the bandwidth of access connectivity as 

per the requirements of this RFA at the beginging and shall also provide its best estimate 
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of the number and size of the interconnection bandwidth and the point(s) of 

interconnection it will require during the nexttwo (2) years of operation so that the other 

ISPs can plan in advance and arrange for suitable network provisioning, and the SLO 

shall continue to provide other ISPs with such information as its network plans evolve.  

The SLO is required to publish “Reference Interconnection Offer” as mandated by the 

Interconnections Guidelines. 

13. Regulation of SLO’s Tariffs 

The tariff rates charged by the SLO to its customers for use of the Broadband Network 

will be subject to regulation by the NTA in accordance with Section 42 of the 

Telecommunication Act and Broadband act, as is the case with tariffs of other ISPs. 

SLO have to submit the details of the tariff structure to the NTA as and when requested, 

including cost breakdown. But Tariff should not higher than the average tariff available 

in Kathmandu Valley. 

All user chargesshall be in accordance with approved rates under the guideline of NTA. 

14. Authority to Construct and Use Facilities 

Subject to the other terms of the contract and Authorization, the SLO may construct all 

ICT facilities required to provide the broadband access connectivityservices. The SLO 

may also use the facilities of licensed ISPs/telecommunications service providers or the 

facilities of any other Persons that are located in Nepal, for the purposes of providing the 

services. Use of such facilities may be obtained from the other operators or Persons by 

agreement with them. 

The Qualified Applicant must submit the locations of its Backhaul/Access Points/nodes 

to be established. Each RURAL MUNICIPALITY/MDC shall have atleast one 

access/node points. 

Unless otherwise approved by NTA, all ICT facilities and equipment installed by the 

SLO in its ICT System shall be new when first installed and shall, so far as reasonably 

practicable, be state of the art technology that complies with internationally recognized 

standards. Interoperability and upgradability shall be ensured by SLO. 

The SLO shall be free to procure the goods, works and services required for its 

internet/data network services using its own procurement procedures confirming to the 

existing laws of Nepal. 

(i) Access to Public and Private Lands 

The SLO shall have rights of access to public and private lands, and the rights of 

inspection and entry set out in Sections 36 to 38 of the Telecommunication Act 2053 

B.S. 
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(ii) Co-operation among ISP Licensees 

The SLO shall communicate and co-operate with other ISP licensees with a view to 

provide compatible and consistent types and quality of service to internet/data users 

across Nepal.  

(iii) Transfer of Control/Ownership of Authorization 

Transfer of Licence/Authorization - The SLO’s ISP Licence/Authorization shall not 

be sold or transferred except with the approval of the NTA in accordance with the 

provisions of Section 27 of the Act. 

Change of Control - During the first 5(Five) years after issuance of the 

Authorization, prior written consent of the NTA will be required for any change in the 

ultimate beneficial ownership of any shares of the SLO or for any change of Control 

of the Authorization.  

Except in extraordinary circumstances, the NTA does not intend to consent to any 

change in Control of Authorization in the first five years of SLO’s operations. 

Prior written consent of the NTAwill not be required in respect of changes in share 

holdings resulting from trades made through a stock exchange or changes that affect 

less than 25% (twenty five percent) of the shares of the SLO, provided that any such 

changes do not result in a change of Control of the Authorization and provided further 

that any such changes do not result in a change in the ownership interest of any 

member. 

Compliance with Law-The SLO shall be required to comply with all the laws of 

Nepal applicable to its Services business at all times, including the Act, the Rules, all 

regulations, by-laws, orders, directives and guidelines issued under the Act (including 

any other instruments which may be made by the NTA) and the payment of all 

applicable taxes. 

15. Terms of Authorization 

In accordance with the provisions of Section 25 of the Act, the initial term of the 

Authorization will be 5 (five) years, commencing from the effective date of the 

Authorization. Not less than 6 (six) months before the expiry of the relevant term, the 

SLO may apply for an additional term of 5 (five) years, and the NTA shall grant the 

Authorization renewals, provided that there are no material breaches of the 

Authorization, until a full licence term of 25 (twenty-five) years is reached and the 

SLO has renewed its original license. However, the validity of authorization 

automatically ceases to exist in case the license of the SLO is terminated by NTA. 

In case the SLO cannot fulfil the requirements mentioned in the 

contract/Authorization, NTA may decide to terminate the contract/authorization. In 

such case, the ownership of the broadband connectivity infrastructure laid by the SLO 

will automatically come under NTA. 
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16. Fees Payable by the SLO 

Annual Royalty to be paid to GoN- The SLO shall pay a royalty fee of 4% (four 

percent) of the SLO’s adjusted gross annual revenues in each fiscal year.  This 

Royalty is due 3 (three) months following the end of each fiscal year. 

Rural Telecommunications Development Fund ("RTDF") - The SLO shall 

contribute 2% (two percent) of its adjusted gross annual revenues, to the fund 

established by the NTA pursuant to subsection 30(4) of the Act.  This payment is due 

3 (three) months following the end of each fiscal year.  

17. Financial Incentives 

The following incentives will be provided to the ISP Licensee, in order to promote 

GoN's policy of providing ICT access in the Service Area: 

(i) For each packages, payment of one time financial Subsidy spread over 

different tranches. 

18. Appointment of independent technical consultant: 

NTA shall appoint an independent technical consultant in a timely manner for 

verifying, and supervising the broadband connectivity network as per the quality 

stated in Minimum Quality Standards (Annex-2), network roll-out requirement and 

subsequently recommending to NTA for subsidy payment as per SCC. In case, NTA 

fails to appoint an independent technical consultant in time, it will use it's own or hire 

temporary independent local consultant directly for short period of time.  

19. Letter of Appreciation 

Letter of appreciation will be given to the ISP Licensee if the work is completed prior 

to the time mentioned in the contract. 
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20. Schedule 

The timetable for the RFA process is set out below. 

Event Days Start From Calendar Date 

RFA document available for purchase  Day 1  

Deadline for questions and clarification  Day 25  

Pre-Application Meeting Day 26  

Issue minutes of clarification Day 32  

Deadline for submission of Applications and 

Opening 
Day 50  

Evaluation of the Applications Starts   

Issue of LOI to the  Qualified Applicant with 

lowest subsidy Application 
  

Issue of Letter of acceptance   

Contract Award (Issuance of Authorization) Day 100  

Network Roll-out Each Package Completion  Days100-465  

Completion and start of services Days 100-465  

 

If the scheduled day of an event falls on a legal holiday in Nepal, the day of the event 

will be the next calendar day following the holiday. 
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Section V Bill of Quantities (BOQ) 
Bill of Quantity 

 

S.N. Particulars Unit Quantity Rate Amount 

1 GPON ONT No.  1174   

2 Passive Splitter Port No. 258526   

3 GPON OLT No. 84   

4 GPON Service Interface No. 8083   

5 Aggregation Router No. 8   

6 NMS No 1   

7 2 Core Drop Fiber Km. 1174   

8 6 Core Figure8  Fiber Km 4847   

9 12 Core Figure8 Fiber Km 4847   

10 24 Core Underground Km 210   

11 24 Core ADSS Km 631   

12 Network Deployment  Cost/Site No. 1174   

13 
Two Year Bandwidth Cost 

Fiber/Wireless 
Site 28176   

Sub Total   

VAT (13%)   

Total   

  

Proposed Subsidy: NRs ……………(……%) (in amount and percentage of Project 

Cost) 

  

     Nepalese Rupees   …………………………………………….. 

…………………………………(in words) 
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Section VII.  General Conditions of Contract 
 

A.  General Provisions 

1.1 Definitions Unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms whenever 

used in this Contract have the following meanings: 

(a) “Terms of Reference” is list of Services to be performed by 

the SLO forming part of this contract; 

(b) "Completion Date” means the date of completion of the 

commissioning of Optical Fiber Network Services by the SLO 

as certified by the NTA/its consultant; 

(c) “Contract” means the Contract signed by the Parties, to which 

these General Conditions of Contract (GCC) are attached, 

together with all the documents listed in Clause 1 of such 

signed Contract; 

(d) “GCC” means these General Conditions of Contract; 

(e) “Member/partner,” in case the Service Provider consist of a 

joint venture/consortium of more than one entity, means any 

of these entities; “Members/partners” means all these entities, 

and “Member in Charge/lead partner” means the entity 

specified to act on their behalf in exercising all the Service 

Provider’ rights and obligations toWards the NTA under this 

Contract; 

(f) “Party” means the NTA or the SLO, as the case may be, and 

“Parties” means both of them; 

(g) “Personnel” means persons hired by the SLO or by any Sub-

contractor as employees and assigned to the performance of 

the Services or any part thereof; 

(h) “SCC” means the Special Conditions of Contract by which the 

GCC may be amended or supplemented; 

(i) “Specifications” means the specifications of the Goods to be 

installed by the SLO. 

(j) “Goods” means all of the commodities, raw material, 

machinery and equipment, and/or other materials that is 

required to be installed under the Contract by the SLO. 

(k) “Services” means the work to be performed by the SLO 

pursuant to this Contract and Authorization, as described in 

the TOR included in the contract. 

(l) “Sub-contractor” means any entity to which the SLO sub-
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contracts any part of the supply/commissioning work of 

optical Fiber networking Services in accordance with the 

provisions of Sub-Clauses 3.5 and 4. 

All other definitions shall be in accordance to Section I. Invitation to 

Applications. 

1.2 Applicable Law The Contract shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of the 

Nepal. 

1.3 Language This Contract has been executed in the language specified in the 

SCC, which shall be the binding and controlling language for all 

matters relating to the meaning or interpretation of this Contract. 

1.4 Notices Any notice, request, or consent made pursuant to this Contract shall 

be in writing and shall be deemed to have been made when delivered 

in person to an authorized representative of the Party to whom the 

communication is addressed, or when sent by registered mail, telex, 

telegram, or facsimile to such Party at the address specified in the 

SCC. 

1.5 Location The Services shall be performed at such locations as are specified in 

Terms of Reference and Annex-I. 

1.6 Authorized 

Representatives 

Any action required or permitted to be taken, and any document 

required or permitted to be executed, under this Contract by the NTA 

or the SLO may be taken or executed by the officials specified in 

the SCC. 

1.7 Inspection and 

Audit by the 

NTA 

The Service Provider shall permit the NTA to inspect its accounts 

and records relating to the performance of the Services and to have 

them audited by authorized auditors. 

1.8 Taxes and Duties The Service Provider, Sub-contractors, and their Personnel shall pay 

all taxes, duties, fees, and other impositions as may be levied under 

the Applicable Law, the amount of which is deemed to have been 

included in the subsidy. 

 

2.  Commencement, Completion, Modification, and Termination of Contract 

 

2.1 Effectiveness of 

Contract 

This Contract shall come into effect immediately after the Contract 

signing date by both parties or such other later date as may be 

stated in the SCC. 

2.2 Commencement of Services 

2.2.1 Scope of service The Selected Licensed ISP shall be required to install, activate and 

operate broadband connectivity network (including backhaul and 

access points) in the locations listed in TOR and Annex-I included 
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in this RFA. 

2.2.2 Program Before commencement of the Services, the SLO shall submit to the 

NTA for approval a Program showing the general methods, 

arrangements, order and timing for all activities. The Services shall 

be carried out in accordance with the approved Program as updated. 

2.2.3 Starting Date  The SLO shall start carrying out the work immediately after the 

date of signing of the contract, or at such other date as may be 

specified in the SCC. 

2.3 Intended 

Completion Date 

Unless terminated earlier pursuant to Sub-Clause 2.6, the SLO shall 

complete the building of broadband connectivity access network 

activities by the Intended Completion Date, as is specified in the 

SCC. If the SLO does not complete the activities by the Intended 

Completion Date, it shall be liable to pay liquidated damage as per 

Sub-Clause 3.7. In this case, the Completion Date will be the date 

of completion of all activities. 

2.4 Modification Modification of the terms and conditions of this Contract, including 

any modification of the scope of the Services may only be made by 

written agreement between the Parties. 

2.5 Force Majeure 

2.5.1 Definition As defined in Section I ITA. 

2.5.2 No Breach 

of Contract 

The failure of a Party to fulfill any of its obligations under the 

contract shall not be considered to be a breach of, or default under, 

this Contract insofar as such inability arises from an event of Force 

Majeure, provided that the Party affected by such an event (a) has 

taken all reasonable precautions, due care and reasonable alternative 

measures in order to carry out the terms and conditions of this 

Contract, and (b) has informed the other Party as soon as possible 

about the occurrence of such an event. 

2.5.3 Extension of 

Time 

Any period within which a Party shall, pursuant to this Contract, 

complete any action or task, shall be extended for a period equal to 

the time during which such Party was unable to perform such action 

as a result of Force Majeure. 

2.6 Termination 

2.6.1 By the NTA 

 

The NTA may terminate this Contract, by not less than Thirty (30) 

days’ written notice of termination to the SLO, to be given after the 

occurrence of any of the events specified in paragraphs (a) through 

(d) of this Sub-Clause 2.6.1: 

(a) if the SLO does not remedy a failure in the performance of its 

obligations under the Contract, within fifteen (15) days after 

being notified or within any further period as the NTA may 

have subsequently approved in writing; 
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(b) if the SLO become insolvent or bankrupt; 

(c) if, as the result of Force Majeure, the SLO is unable to 

perform a material portion of the Services for a period of not 

less than thirty (30) days; or 

(d) if the SLO, in the judgment of the NTA has engaged in 

corrupt or fraudulent practices in competing for or in 

executing the Contract. 

2.6.2 By the SLO The SLO may terminate this Contract, by not less than thirty (30) 

days’ written notice to the NTA, if the NTA fails to pay any 

subsidies due to the SLO pursuant to this Contract and not subject 

to dispute pursuant to Clause 8 within thirty (30) days after 

receiving written notice with all supporting documents from the 

Service Provider that such payment is overdue. 

2.6.3Payment upon 

Termination 

Upon termination of this Contract pursuant to Sub-Clauses 2.6.1 or 

2.6.2, the NTA shall make the following payments to the SLO: 

subsidy pursuant to Clause 6 for Services satisfactorily 

performed prior to the effective date of termination; 

 

3.  Obligations of the SLO 

3.1 General The SLO shall perform the Services in accordance with the Terms 

of Reference, Annex-I and 10, and carry out its obligations with all 

due diligence, efficiency, and economy, in accordance with 

generally accepted professional techniques and practices, and shall 

observe sound management practices, and employ appropriate 

advanced technology, qualified personnel and safe methods. The 

SLO shall always act, in respect of any matter relating to this 

Contract or to the Services, as faithful adviser to the NTA, and shall 

at all times support and safeguard the NTA’s legitimate interests in 

any dealings with Sub-contractors or third parties.  

3.2 Conflict of Interests 

3.2.1 SLO Not to 

Benefit from 

Commissions and 

Discounts. 

The subsidy pursuant to Clause 6 shall constitute in connection 

with this Contract or the Services provided, and the SLO shall not 

accept for their own benefit any trade commission, discount, or 

similar payment in connection with activities pursuant to this 

Contract or to the Services or in the discharge of their obligations 

under the Contract, and the SLO shall use their best efforts to 

ensure that the Personnel, any Sub-contractors, and agents of either 

of them similarly shall not receive any such additional 

remuneration/subsidies. 

3.2.2Prohibition of 

Conflicting 

Neither the SLO nor its Sub-contractors nor the Personnel shall 

engage, either directly or indirectly, in any of the following 
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Activities activities: 

(a) during the term of this Contract, any business or professional 

activities in Nepal which would conflict with the activities 

assigned to them under this Contract; 

(b) during the term of this Contract/authorization, neither the 

SLO nor their Sub-contractors shall hire public employees in 

active duty or on any type of leave, to perform any activity 

under this Contract; 

(c) after the termination of this Contract, such other activities as 

may be specified in the SCC. 

3.3 Confidentiality The SLO, its Sub-contractors, and the Personnel of either of them 

shall not, either during the term or within five (5) years after the 

expiration of this Contract, disclose any proprietary or confidential 

information relating to the Project, the Services, this Contract, 

orNTA’s business or operations without the prior written consent of 

the NTA. 

3.4 Insurance to be 

Taken Out by 

theSLO 

The SLO (a) shall take out and maintain, and shall cause any Sub-

contractors to take out and maintain, at its (or the Sub-contractors’, 

as the case may be) own cost but on terms and conditions approved 

by the NTA, insurance against the risks, and for the coverage, as 

shall be specified in the SCC; and (b) atNTA’s request, shall 

provide evidence to the NTA showing that such insurance has been 

taken out and maintained and that the current premiums have been 

paid. 

3.5 SLO’s Actions 

Requiring NTA’s 

Prior Approval 

The SLO shall obtainNTA’s prior approval in writing before taking 

any of the following actions: 

(a) entering into a sub-contract for the performance of any part of 

the Services, 

(b) appointing such members of the Personnel not listed by name 

in Appendix C (“Sub-contractor/s and it’s key personnel”), 

(c) changing the Program of activities;  

(d) changing the terms and conditions of insurance in accordance 

with GCC 3.4; and 

(e) any other action that may be specified in the SCC. 

3.6Reporting 

Obligations 

The SLO shall submit toNTA the reports and documents specified 

in Appendix A in the form, in the numbers, and within the periods 

set forth in the said Appendix. 
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3.7 Liquidated Damages 

3.7.1 Payments of 

Liquidated 

Damages 

The SLO shall pay liquidated damages toNTA at the rate per day 

stated in the SCC for each day that the Completion Date is later 

than the Intended Completion Date. The total amount of liquidated 

damages shall not exceed the amount defined in the SCC.NTA 

may deduct liquidated damages from payments due to the SLO.  

Payment of liquidated damages shall not affect the SLO’s 

liabilities.  

3.7.2 Correction for 

Over-

payment 

 

If the Intended Completion Date is extended after liquidated 

damages have been paid,NTA shall correct any overpayment of 

liquidated damages by the SLO by adjusting the next payment 

certificate. The SLO shall be paid interest on the overpayment, 

calculated from the date of payment to the date of repayment, at the 

rates specified. 

3.7.3Lack of 
performance 

penalty 

If the SLO has not corrected a Defect within the time specified 

inNTA’s notice, a penalty for Lack of performance will be paid by 

the SLO. The amount to be paid will be calculated as a percentage 

of the cost of having the Defect corrected, assessed as described in 

Sub-Clause 7.2 and specified in the SCC.  

3.8 Performance 

Security 

3.8.1 The SLO shall provide the Performance Security toNTAas 

specified in the SCCno later than the date specified in the 

Letter of acceptance.  The Performance Security shall be 

issued in an amount specified in SCC issued by a comercial 

bank. The performance Security shall be valid until a date 30 

days from the Completion Date of the Contract in case of a 

bank guarantee. 

3.8.2 Discharge of the Performance Security shall take place: on 

completion of the roll out of broadband connectivity network 

in all stations/sites as per TOR. 

 

4.  SLO’s Personnel 

 

4.1 Description of 

Personnel 

The titles, agreed job descriptions, minimum qualifications, and 

estimated periods of engagement in the carrying out of the Services 

of the SLO’s Key Personnel are to be described as in Appendix B. 

The Key Personnel and Sub-contractors listed by title as well as by 

name in Appendix C shall have to be approved by  NTA. 

4.2 Removal and/or 

Replacement of 

Personnel 

(a) Except asNTA may otherwise agree, no changes shall be made 

in the Key Personnel. If, for any reason beyond the reasonable 

control of the SLO, it becomes necessary to replace any of the 

Key Personnel, the SLO shall provide as a replacement a 

person of equivalent or better qualifications. 

(b) IfNTA finds that any of the Personnel have (i) committed 
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serious misconduct or have been charged with having 

committed a criminal action, or (ii) have reasonable cause to be 

dissatisfied with the performance of any of the Personnel, then 

the SLO shall, atNTA’s written request specifying the grounds 

thereof, provide as a replacement a person with qualifications 

and experience acceptable to NTA. 

(c) The SLO shall have no claim for additional costs arising out of 

or incidental to any removal and/or replacement of Personnel. 

 

 

5.  Obligations of NTA 

 

5.1Assistance and 

Exemptions 

NTA shall use its best efforts to ensure that the Government shall 

provide the SLO such assistance and exemptions as specified in the 

SCC. 

5.2 Change in the 

Applicable Law 

Law/s with respect to taxes and duties may increase or decrease the 

cost of the Services rendered by the SLO. However, the subsidy 

payable to the SLO under this Contract shall remain fixed. 

5.3Services and 

Facilities 

NTA shall make available to the SLO the Services and Facilities listed 

under Appendix D. 

6.  Payments to the SLO 

 

6.1Contract 

currency 

The subsidy payable shall be in Nepalese currency. 

6.2 Terms and 

Conditions of 

Payment 

Payments will be made to the SLO according to the payment schedule 

stated in the SCC.Unless otherwise stated in the SCC, Any other 

payment shall be made after the conditions listed in the SCC for such 

payment have been met, and the SLO have submitted an invoice to 

NTA specifying the amount due. 

6.3 Interest on 

Delayed 

Payments 

If NTA has delayed payments beyond twenty one (21) days after the 

due date stated in the SCC, interest shall be paid to the SLO for each 

day of delay at the rate stated in the SCC. 

 

7.  Quality Control 

7.1 Identifying 

Defects 

The principle and modalities of Inspection of the Services by the 

NTA/independent consultant shall be as indicated in the SCC. The 

NTA/independent consultant shall check the SLO’s performance and 

notify him of any Defects that are found. Such checking shall not 

affect the SLO’s responsibilities. NTA/independent consultant may 

instruct the SLO to search for a Defect and to uncover and test any 
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service thatNTA considers may have a Defectover the period of 

contract and authorization. 

7.2 Correction of 

Defects, andLack 

of Performance 

Penalty 

(a) NTA shall give notice to the SLO of any Defects during the 

period of contract and authorization.   

(b) Every time a notice of a Defect is given, the SLO shall correct 

the notified Defect within the length of time specified by the 

NTA’s notice. 

(c) If the SLO has not corrected a Defect within the time specified 

in NTA’s notice, NTA will assess the cost of having the Defect 

corrected, the SLO will pay this amount, and a Penalty for 

Lack of Performance calculated as described in Sub-Clause 

3.7.3. 

 

 

8.  Settlement of Disputes 

 

8.1Amicable 

Settlement 

The Parties shall use their best efforts to settle amicably all disputes 

arising out of or in connection with this Contract or its interpretation. 

8.2Dispute 

Settlement 

8.2.1 The NTA and the SLO shall make every effort to resolve 

amicably by direct informal negotiation any disagreement or 

dispute arising between them under or in connection with the 

Contract. 

8.2.2 If the parties fail to resolve such a dispute or difference by 

mutual consultation within thirty (30) days from the 

commencement of such consultation, either party may require 

that the dispute be referred for resolution to Nepal Council of 

Arbitration (NEPCA) or resolved in accordance with the 

Madyasthata Act 2055.  

8.2.3 Fees for arbitrationshall be paid at the rate specified in SCC,and 

the cost shall be divided equally betweenNTA and the SLO, 

whatever decision is reached by the NEPCA or resolved in 

accordance with the Madyasthata Act 2055.  
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Section VII.  Special Conditions of Contract 

The following Special Conditions of Contract (SCC) shall supplement the General 

Conditions of Contract (GCC).  Whenever there is a conflict, the provisions herein shall 

prevail over those in the GCC. 

GCC 1.3 The language shall be:  Nepali or English 

GCC 1.4 For notices, the NTA’s address shall be:  

Nepal Telecommunications Authority 

GPO Box No. 9754 

 Kamaladi,Kathmandu, Nepal 

Tel.: +977-1-4255474 

Fax : +977-1-4255450 

E-mail: ntra@nta.gov.np 

Web:www.nta.gov.np 

 For notices, the SLOs’ address shall be:  

 

Name and Address of the SLO: 

Telephone number: 

Facsimile number: 

e-mail Address: 

GCC 3.2.2(c) After termination of this contract prohibition of conflicting activities 

are as follows: 

Non disclosure of any information in connection with this RFP. 

GCC 3.4 The insurance coverage shall be in an amount equal to: 110 percent 

of the subsidy amount on ñAll Risksò basis, including War Risks, 

riots and/or Strikes. 

GCC 3.5(d) SLO’s other actions requiring NTA’s prior approval are as follows: 

a) Key Personnel  

b) Force Measures 

c) Work program 

d) Tarriff 

e) Route Change 

f) Any modification 

GCC 3.7.1 The applicable rate of liquidated damages shall be: 0.05 percent of 

the Subsidy amount per day. 

GCC 3.7.1 The maximum amount of liquidated damages shall be: ten (10) 

percent of the Subsidy amount. 

GCC 3.8 The SLO shall provide 5% of Contractual Subsidy amount as a 

Performance Securityfrom a"A Class" commercial bankin Nepal. 

mailto:ntra@nta.gov.np
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GCC 3.8 The types of acceptable Performance Securities are: A bank 

guarantee issued by a"A Class" commercial bank located in Nepal or 

reputable bank located abroad, acceptable to NTA, in the format 

included in Section VII, Contract Forms, Performance Security 

issued by foreign Bank must be counter guaranteed by a commercial 

Bank in Nepal. 

GCC 5.1 Assistance and exemptions, if any:  

-A recommendation letter  

GCC 6.2 The terms of payment of the subsidy to be made to the SLO under the 

contract shall be as follows:  

Payment shall be made within thirty days from the date of 

recommendation received from the independent consultant appointed 

by NTA.  

The total subsidy payment shall be based on the actual cost borne by 

the successful Applicant under this RFA. However, the total subsidy 

payment shall not be more than the contract subsidy amount. 

Subsidy Payment Schedule:  The Subsidy shall consist of a one-

time grant paid in different instalments. For each claim, SLO shall 

have to get confirmation of job done as per this RFA from the 

independent consultant appointed by NTA. The independent technical 

consultant issues written confirmation that the broadband 

connectivity networks have been activated and are in operation in 

compliance with the requirements of this RFA. Total subsidy shall be 

payable in different tranches for each package as follows: 

i) The SLO shall be entitled to 20% (twenty percent) payment of 

the total subsidy amount allocated for the package upon the 

submission of request after the Award of the contract, as an 

initial financial incentive, upon the submission of the bank 

guarantee in favour of NTA for the same amount. The bank 

guarantee shall remain valid for two years. The format of the 

bank guarantee is attached in Section VII Contract Forms; If 

SLO does not wish to receive payment against bank guarantee 

then SLOmay claim 20% at any time when equivalent amount 

of job has been completed and optical network is in activation 

& operation and verified by the independent consultant 

appointed by NTA. 
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GCC 6.2 ii) The SLO shall be entitled to 30% (thirty percent) payment of 

the total subsidy amount for the packageupon satisfactory 

completion of broadband network/connectivity of 50% of the 

total stations/sites under the package, the SLO shall notify the 

NTA and send report showing the description of the services 

and total amount of subsidyrequested and the independent 

technical consultant issues written confirmation that the 

broadband connectivity networks have been activated and are 

in operation in compliance with the requirement of Terms of 

Reference.  

iii) The SLO shall be entitled to 40% (thirty percent) payment of 

the total subsidy amount for the packageupon satisfactory 

completion broadband connectivity of 100% of the total 

stations/sites under the package, the SLO shall notify the NTA 

and send report showing the description of the service and 

total amount of subsidy requested and the independent 

technical consultant issues written confirmation that the 

broadband connectivity networks have been activated and are 

in operation in compliance with the requirement of Terms of 

Reference. 

iv) The final tranche of 10% (Tenpercent) of the total subsidy 

amount for the packageupon satisfactory operation of the 

broadband connectivity in all stations/sites under the package 

for minimum period of 11 Months, provided that Minimum 

Quality Standards as described in this contract have been 

maintained and is certified by an independent technical 

consultant appointed by NTA within thirty days (30 days) 

after receiving the claim. 

GCC 6.2 If an independent technical consultant appointed by the NTA, 

provides that one or more events of force majeure prevented the 

installation, activation or operation of some of the broadband 

connectivity network required to be installed, then amount of the 

quoted subsidy shall be reduced by an amount proportionate to the 

number of stations being served with broadband connectivity 

networks that NTA has confirmed to have been reduced by the events 

of force majeure; provided, however, that the responsibility of the 

operator for the installation, activation and operation of the access 

lines shall remain intact during the tenure of the Authorization, on 

improvement of the conditions giving rise to the event of force 

majeure 

GCC 6.2 Interest on Delayed Payments shall be: 5% per annum of delayed 

payment 
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GCC 7.1 Modalities of inspection of the services: 

As per contract agreement with the independent consultant. The 

contract agreement with the independent consultant shall be provided 

to SLO after the appointment of the consultant. 

 

GCC 8.2.3 The rate of the dispute resolution committee shall be: As per 

standard rule of NEPCAor Madyasthata Act 2055. 
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Appendix- A 

Reporting Format 

Three copies of monthly progress report shall be submitted in the following 

formatwithin first week of following month. 

S/N District Site Name Backhaul Date  Access 

Equipment 

Status 

Test 

Report  

Remarks (if 

any) 

1 

 

       

2        
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Appendix- B 

Key Personnel and Their Jobs 

SLO’s Key Personnel and their obligations shall be listed in the following format: 

S/N Name of 

Person 

 

Qualification  

Assigned 

Location 

Duties/ 

Obligations 

Past 

Experience 

 

Job related 

specific 

experience 

 

Remarks 

        

        

        

        

        

Detailed curriculam vitae of each personnel listed above shall be included along 

with this Appendix.  



 

97 

 

Appendix- C 

Outsourcing 

Name of the Sub-contractors:  

Their obligations: 

S/N Name of 

subcontractor 

and address 

Name of key 

personnel1 

Registration 

Number/ Pan 

Number/  

Past Experience Work 

assignment 

Tax Clearance 

Certificates 

Last F/Y2 

       

       

       

       

       

       

Notes: 

1. Attach key personnel details in the same format as per Appendix B. 

2. Note: Attach copies of tax clearance certificate/s  



 

98 

 

Appendix- D 

Facilities and Services to be provided by NTA 

(a) Payment of Subsidy as per the contract value under the payment terms. 

(b) Appointment of an independent consultant/Office staff to evaluate work performance 

of the SLO 

(c) Approval of the SLO's key personnel working under this RFA 

(d) Recommendation a letter 

(e) Approval of subcontractor and it’s key personnel 

(f) Issuence of completion certificate 
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Section VIII.  Contract Forms 

 

 

Table of Forms 
 

 

Application for Purchasing of Document.………………….…………..83 

Participation on the Application Opening..…………………………….84 

Letter of Intent …………………………………………………………..85 

Letter of Acceptance…………………………………………..…………86 
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      Application for the Purchase of Document 
 

 
 

To:   Nepal Telecommunications Authority 

………………………………………………………………………………………………

…….. 

 

 

Subject: Purchase of Application Document 

 

 

 

We, ------------------------------------------- (Specify name of the Applicant, having office at 

------- (Specify Address) have gone through the Applicatn’s Eligibility and other criteria 

for building broadband network and provide internet access connectivity services in 5 

Districts (Nawalpur,Kapilbastu, NAWALPARASI, Rupandehi and Chitwan)(Application 

Invitation No. 01/NTA/075/76)published in daily newspaper “Rising Nepal/Gorkhapatra” 

and in your Website (http:nta.gov.np) and we are willing to participate in said 

Application Invitation.  

 

Therefore, we are hereby submitting non-refundable fee of NRs. ...  (Nepalese Rupees: … 

only) and hereby authorize -------------------------------(Specify Name and Address of 

Applicant/ Agent)to collect the Application Document on behalf of our company.   

 

Please find below the details of our authorized contact person and, we kindly request you 

to make all the correspondences related to theabove mentioned Application number 

before the opening of Applications.  

 

Details of the Contact Person for the Correspondences: 

 

Name: 

Designation: 

Company Name: 

Tel: 

Fax: 

E-mail: 

 

______________________________________ 

[Signature for and on behalf of Applicant]  

[Name] ---------------------- 

[Designation] ------------------ 

Date : 

 

 

[Seal of the Company} 

 

Signature of Document Collector:  
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Sample Form: Participation on the Application Opening  
 

 

 

 

To:   Nepal Telecommunications Authority 

………………………………………………………………………………………………

…….. 

 

Subject: Participation on Application Opening 

 

 

We, ------------------------------------------- (Specify name of the Applicant/s, having office 

at ------- (Specify Address) have submitted the Application Proposal for building 

broadband network and provide internet access connectivity services in the 5 Districts 

(Nawalpur,Kapilbastu, NAWALPARASI, Rupandehi and Chitwan)(Application 

Invitation No. 01/NTA/075-76). We hereby authorize following one (1) person to 

participate in Application Opening on behalf of our company.   

 

Participant No. 1 

Name: 

Designation: 

Company Name: 

Tel: 

Fax: 

E-mail: 

 

 

______________________________________ 

[Signature for and on behalf of Applicant]  

[Name] ---------------------- 

[Designation] ------------------ 

Date : 

 

 

 

 

 

Seal of the Company 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------   

Note: Maximum number of participants is two (2) 
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Letter of Intent 
[On letterhead paper of the NTA] 

 

Dateééé. . 

 

To: . . . . . . . . . .   name and address of the SLO 
 

Subject: . .Issuance of letter of intent to Award the contract 

 

 

This is to notify you that, it is our intention to Award the contractfor execution of the 

contract for building broadband network and provide internet access connectivity services 

in 5 Districts(contract identification number 01/NTA/2075/76), as given in the Contract 

Data/SCC to you as you have proposed lowest subsidy amount of. . . . . . . . .amount in 

figures and words in Nepalese Rupees éééééé.as corrected and modified in 

accordance with the the RFA document is hereby selected as substantially responsive 

lowest evaluated Application. You are also requested to contact NTA within …..days of 

this notice. 

Authorized Signature:   ................................................................ 

Name:   ......................................................................................... 

Title:   ........................................................................................... 

 

 

 

CC: 

[Insert name and address of all other Applicants, who submitted the Application] 
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Letter of Acceptance 
[on letterhead paper of the NTA] 

 

Date. . . . . . . 

 

To: . . . . . . . . . .   name and address of the SLO. . . .    

 

Subject: . . . . . Notification of Award of the contract  

 

 

This is to notify that your Applicationdated. . . . Date. . . .  Forexecution of the contract for 

building District Optical Fiber Network and for providing authorization for building 

broadband network and provide internet access connectivity services in 5 

Districts(contract identification number02/NTA/2076/077), as given in the Contract 

Data/SCC for the subsidy amount of Nepalese Rupees [insertamount in figures and 

words in Nepalese Rupees], as corrected in accordance with the Instructions to Applicants 

is hereby accepted in accordance with the Instruction to Applicants. 

 

You are hereby instructed to contact this office to negotiate and sign the formal contract 

agreement within 15 days, you are also required to submit 10% of the contract Price as 

Performance Security, as specified in SCC, consisting of a Bank Guarantee from a 

commercial bank in Nepal in the format included in Section VII (Contract Forms) of the 

RFA Document. 

 

The NTA shall forfeit the bid security, in case you fail to furnish the Performance Security 

and to sign the contract within specified period. 

 

 

 

Authorized Signature:   ................................................................ 

Name and Title of Signatory:    
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Agreement Form 
 

THIS AGREEMENT made on the [insert number] day of [insert month], [insert year], 

between Nepal Telecommunications Authority, Kamaladi, Kathmandu (hereinafter “the 

NTA”), of the one part, and [insert complete name of SLO] of [insert complete address of 

SLO] (hereinafter “the SLO”), of the other part:  

WHEREAS the NTA invited Application for an authorization to build broadband network and 

provide internet access connectivity services in the 5 Districts and has accepted the Application 

submitted by the SLO for the Services in the sum of [insert currency or currencies and 

amount of subsidy in words and figures including taxes] (hereinafter “the subsidy”).  

NTA and SLO agrees as follows:  

1. In this Agreement words and expressions shall have the same meanings as are 

respectively assigned to them in the Contract documents referred to. 

2. The following documents shall be deemed to form and be read and construed as part 

of this Agreement, viz.:  

(a) the NTA’s Notification to the SLO of Award of Contract;  

(b) the Application Submission Form and the subsidy submitted by the SLO;   

(c) the Special Conditions of Contract;   

(d) the General Conditions of Contract; 

(e) Bills of Quantities (BoQs) 

(f) the Terms of Reference;  

(g) the RFA full document including Technical Specifications 

(h) the Drawings 

(i) the Activities Schedules/Program 

(j) Table of Price Adjustment Data 

(k) the Addenda Numbers(if any) 

(l) the Minutes of Meeting during contract negotiation 

(m) [indicate other documents required]  

This Contract shall prevail over all other Contract documents. In the event of any 

discrepancy or inconsistency within the Contract documents, then the documents shall 

prevail in the order listed above.  

3. In consideration of the payments to be made by the NTA to the SLO as indicated in 

this Agreement, the SLO hereby covenants with the NTA to provide the above 

Services and to remedy defects therein in conformity in all respects with the 

provisions of the Contract.  

4. The NTA hereby covenants to pay the SLO in consideration of the provision of the 

Services and the remedying of defects therein, the subsidy at the Contract at the times 

and in the manner prescribed by the Contract.  

IN WITNESS whereof the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed in 

accordance with the laws of “Nepal” on the day, month, and year indicated above.  

Signed by [insert authorized signature for the NTA] (for the NTA)  

Signed by [insert authorized signature for the SLO] (for the SLO) 
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Letter of Commitment for Bank’s Undertaking for Line of Credit 

Bank’s Name, and Address of Issuing Branch or Office  

(On Letter head of the Commercial bank or any Financial Institution eligible to issue Bank 

Guarantee as per prevailing Law) 
 

 

Date: 

Contract No: 

 

   

Name of Contract :  

 

 

To: 

 

Nepal Telecommunications Authority 

Kamladi, Kathmandu 

 

 

CREDIT COMMITTMENT No: [insert number] 

We are pleased to know that (name of Applicant (hereinafter called “the Applicant”) has been 

awarded the Contract for the execution of the Works of Build Broadband Network and Provide 

Internet Access Connectiovity in 5 Districts under IFA No. 02/NTA/2076/77 for above contract. 

Furthermore, we understand that, according to your conditions, the Applicant’s Financial Capacity 

i.e. Liquid Asset must be substantiated by a Letter of Commitment of Bank’s Undertaking for Line 

of Credit. 

At the request of, and arrangement with, the Applicant, we [name and address of the Bank] do 

hereby agree and undertake that [name and address of the Applicant] will be provided by us with a 

revolving line of credit, for execution of the Works viz. Build Broadband Network and Provide 

Internet Access Connectiovity in 5 Districts under IFA No. 02/NTA/2076/77, for an amount not 

less than NRs …….[in figure] ( in words) for the sole purpose of the execution of the above 

Contract. This Revolving Line of Credit will be maintained by us until 12 months by NTA. 

This committed line of credit shall not be terminated or cancelled without the prior written 

approval of NTA. 

In witness whereof, authorised representative of the Bank has hereunto signed and sealed this 

Letter of Commitment. 

 

Signature 

Name :  

Designation: 

 

Signature 

Name :  

Designation: 
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Performance Security 
(On letterhead paper of the 'A' class commercial Bank) 

 
 

............................ Bank’s Name, and Address of Issuing Branch or Office ............................. 

 

Beneficiary: ..............................................   Name and Address of NTA …………………....... 

Date: .................................................. 

 

Performance Guarantee No.:…………………………………………………. 

 

We have been informed that ... ... [insert name of the SLO]  (hereinafter called "SLO") has been 

notified by you to sign the Contract No. .. .. [insert reference number of the Contract] for the 

execution of ... .. [insert name of contract and brief description of Works] (hereinafter called "the 

Contract"). 
 

Furthermore, we understand that, according to the conditions of the Contract, a performance 
guarantee is required. 
 

At the request of the NTA, we ... ............................................ . [insert name of the Bank] hereby 
irrevocably undertake to pay you any sum or sums not exceeding in total an amount of ............... 
[insert name of the currency and amount in figures*] (... ...... .. insert amount in words) such sum 
being payable in Nepalese Rupees, upon receipt by us of your first demand in writing 
accompanied by a written statement stating that the Contractor is in breach of its obligation(s) 
under the Contract, without your needing to prove or to show grounds for your demand or the 
sum specified therein.  
 

This guarantee shall expire, no later than the ... ................................. . Day of ... .......... . **, 
and any demand for payment under it must be received by us at this office on or before that 
date.  
 
 

………………………………………… 

Seal of Bank and Signature(s) 
 
 

Note:  
All italicized text is for guidance on how to prepare this demand guarantee and shall be deleted from the 

final document.  

* The Guarantor shall insert an amount representing the percentage of the Contract Price specified in the 

Contract in Nepalese Rupees. 

 

** Insert the date thirty days after the date specified for the Defect Liability Period. NTA should  

 note that in the event of an extension of the time for completion of the Contract, NTA would  

 need to request an extension of this guarantee from the Guarantor. Such request must be in writing and  

 must be made prior to the expiration date established in the guarantee. In preparing this guarantee, NTA       

might consider adding the following text to the form, at the end of the penultimate paragraph:  

 “The Guarantor agrees to a one-time extension of this guarantee for a period not to exceed [six months],  

 in response to the NTA’s written request for such extension, such request to be presented to the  

 Guarantor before the expiry of the guarantee”.  
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Advance Payment Security 
(On letterhead paper of the 'A' class commercial Bank) 

 

[Insert complete name and number of SLO]  

To: [insert complete name of NTA]  

In accordance with the payment provision included in the Contract, in relation to advance 

payments, [insert complete name of SLO] (hereinafter called “the SLO”) shall deposit 

withNTA a security consisting of [indicate type of security], to guarantee its proper and 

faithful performance of the obligations imposed by said Clause of the Contract, in the 

amount of [insert currency and amount of guarantee in words and figures].  

 

We, the undersigned [insert complete name of Guarantor], legally domiciled in [insert 

full address of Guarantor] (hereinafter “the Guarantor”), as instructed by the SLO, 

agree unconditionally and irrevocably to guarantee as primary obligator and not as surety 

merely, the payment to the NTA on its first demand without whatsoever right of objection 

on our part and without its first claim to the SLO, in the amount not exceeding [insert 

currency and amount of guarantee in words and figures].  

 

This security shall remain valid and in full effect from the date of the advance payment 

being received by the SLO under the Contract until [(insert day, month, year) Contract 

completion date may be a basis for this date].  

 

Name: [insert complete name of person signing the Security] 

In the capacity of: [insert legal capacity of person signing the Security]  

Signed: [insert signature of person whose name and capacity are shown above]  

Duly authorized to sign the security for and on behalf of: [insert seal and complete 

name of Guarantor] 

Date: [insert date of signing] 
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Section IX  

DRAFT OF PROPOSED AUTHORIZATION 

1. Name of the Selected Licensed (ISP) Operator (SLO): 

2. Address: 

3. Type of service to be provided: 

Building broadband network and provide internet access connectivity services in the 5 

Districtsand stations/sites covered/stated by TOR and Annex-I. 

4. Area of operation of the service: 

As listed in the TOR and Annex-I included in this RFA/Authorization. 

5. Authorization No: 

6. Validity Period of the Authorization:-  

The initial term of the Authorization will be for 5 (five) years, commencing from the 

effective date of the authorization. This Authorization shall be continued as a part of the 

existing license of the SLOs. The Authorization shall be an integral part of the existing 

license of the SLO and shall be valid throughout validity period of the existing license of 

the SLO.  

7. Information and Services 

a. Accounting: 

The provision of Accounting shall be governed by the provision of existing 

license of SLO 

b.   Other Records and Provision of Information to the NTA: 

The provision of Other Records and Provision of Information to the NTA shall be 

governed by the provision of existing license of SLO 

c. National Emergencies: 

The provision of National Emergency shall be governed by the provision of 

existing license of SLO. 

d. Compliance with Law: 

The SLO shall be required to comply with all the prevailing laws of Nepal 

applicable to its Telephone Services business at all times, including the Act, the 

Rules, all regulations, by-laws, orders, directives and guidelines issued under the 

Act (including any other instruments which may be made by the NTA) and the 

payment of all applicable taxes and dues. 

e. Force Majeure Events: 

The SLO shall be excused from performance of the service obligations set out in 

this Authorization to the extent and for the period of time that such performance 

is prevented or materially affected by a Force Majeure event. 
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8. Service Obligations and Roll-out Schedule:  

Design, Survey, Installation commission and Operation and Maintenance of 

Broadband Connectivity Network according to this RFA and provide broadband 

connectivity Services in all RURAL MUNICIPALITY offices, Health Centers and 

Governement Academic Institutions of the 5 Districts and stations/sites covered by 

TOR and Annex-I.The Selected Licensed (ISP) Operator shall be required to install, 

activate and operate Broadband connectivity network in the stations/sites of the 5 

Districtsas listed in TOR included in this contract/Authorization. 

Installation of services must commence within 1 month of the effective date of the 

Authorization. The broadband connectivity network must be installed in the 

stations/sites of each district listed in TOR and Annex-I included in this RFA, in 

accordance with the following schedule: 

a. 50% of all the stations/sites and Network of assigned districts as specified 

technology listed in TOR and Annex-Iof this RFA under each package to this 

Authorization within 9 months from  the effective date of the Authorization, 

as certified by an independent technical consultant appointed by NTA; and 

b. 100% of all of the stations/sites and Network of assigned districts as specified 

technology listed in TOR and Annex-I under the assigned package included 

in this RFAwithin 12 months from the date of signing of the contractand will 

be certified by an independent technical consultant appointed by the NTA,  

c. Because of the difficult terrain, it is possible that a potential Applicant may 

not consider it cost effective to use particular technology to some of the 

concerned stations/sites at that point of time. SLO may be given the option of 

completing such portion of the Project at a predefined later point of time with 

payment of financial subsidy for such section/s also delayed till such date. 

Along such section/s of the stations/sites, Licensee(s) shall be obliged to take 

the responsibility of offering service through other available means, for 

which SLO shall have entered into understanding, evidenced through 

appropriate MoU(s). However, a maximum of 20% of the station/sites 

entrusted to any one Licensee may be authorized to be operated in the manner 

described above. 

d. If the independent technical consultant appointed by NTA, provides written 

confirmation to NTA that one or more events of force majeure prevented the 

installation, activation or operation of some of the broadband connectivity 

networks required under this clause, then the obligations under this clause  

shall be modified accordingly; provided, however, that the responsibility of 

the operator for the installation, activation and operation of the broadband 

connectivity lines shall remain intact during the tenure of the Authorization, 

on improvement of the conditions giving rise to the event of force majeure. 

9. Failure to Meet Roll-out Requirements 

Failure to meet the broadband connectivity network roll-out requirements may result 

in the imposition of one or more of the following penalties: 
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(a) loss of eligibility for the Subsidy; 

(b) forfeiture of the Performance Security; 

(c) termination of the Authorization; 

(d) the imposition of fines for breach of licence conditions pursuant to 

the Act; and 

(e) the forfeiture of all the equipment, land and other assets related to 

this service. 

10. Exclusivity: 

The authorization will be granted on a non-exclusive basis. However, this 

Authorization shall not affect the provisions of the existing license of the SLO.  

11.   Scope of Service:  

Optional Services: –The Authorization will provide the SLO to provide the 

following services in the stations/sites of the 5 Districtslisted in TOR and Annex-I 

included in this RFA, even during the roll out period. 

a) The Authorisation to build, operate and maintain broadband connectivity 

network service includes the Authorisation to construct and to use any required 

facilities for the provision of such services at the SLO’s own cost, and under its 

own responsibility. 

b) The SLO is entitled to provide 1 Mbps connectivity to its customers 

c) Notwithstanding this section above, the SLO may provide more bandwidth and 

other services under their license boundary than that mentioned in the 

Authorization without any subsidy at any time.  

12. Rate Regulation: 

The tariff rates charged by the SLO to its customers for use of the broadband 

connectivity or lease connectivity service will be subject to regulation by the NTA in 

accordance with subsection 13(i) of the Act except the two years period of free 

service obligation. But Tariff should not greater than average tariff vailable in 

Kathmandu Valley. New Tarriff guidelines for RTDF subsidised broadband 

connectivity services shall be developed and provided by NTA.A clear and concise 

description of all rates must be prominently made known to its customers. 

13.  Interconnection: 

a) Interconnection between the SLO’s network and other licensed 

telecommunications/ISP networks in Nepal, is governed in general terms by 

section 31 of the Act, the Guidelines for Interconnection prescribed by NTA and 

its successors,  

b) The SLO's network must be technically compatible with other operator's network 

so as to provide seamless interconnection. For interconnection purposes, technical 

compatibility includes, but is not limited to, compatible numbering, signalling, 

routing and synchronization.  



 

111 

 

c) The SLO must provide a description of the planned network, including a 

description of the technology to be employed and the roll-out/service coverage 

plans for the (to be inserted)………… months of operation. The SLO should 

specify applicable technical standards, proposed interconnection points and 

network capacity.  

14.      Authority to Construct and Use Facilities: 

a) Subject to the other terms of the Authorization, the SLO may construct all ICT 

facilities required to provide the broadband connectivity service. The SLO may 

also use the facilities of licensed internet service providers or telecommunications 

service providers or the facilities of any other Persons that are located in Nepal, 

for the purposes of providing theauthorized internet/data services. Use of such 

facilities may be obtained from the other operators or Persons by agreement with 

them. 

b) The SLO may adopt wireless routers/switches, access points, wireless backhaul 

sytem, Point to Multipoint, Microwave Links, any other transmission links, 

ADSL, FTTH, WDM fiber/copper cable approach for building the broadband 

connectivity network as appropriate depending on the topography considering cost 

and feasibility of such construction as well.  

c) Unless otherwise approved by NTA, all broadband connectivity facilities and 

equipment installed by the SLO in its ICT System shall be new when first installed 

and shall be, so far as reasonably practicable, state of the art technology that 

complies with internationally recognized standards. 

d) The SLO shall be free to procure the goods, works and services required for its 

Internet/Data Services network using its own procurement procedures. 

15.  Access to Public and Private Lands: 

The SLO shall have rights of access to public and private lands, and the rights of 

inspection and entry set out in Sections 36 to 38 of the Act. 

16.  Co-operation among Licensees: 

The SLO shall communicate and co-operate with other licensees with a view to 

provide compatible and consistent types and quality of service to ICT users across 

Nepal.  

Seal of the Office Issuing Official's 

 Signature : 

 Name : 

 Designation : 
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SECTION X 
 

COMPLIANCE CHECKLIST 

 

 

Reference 
 

 

Documents and Information Requirements 
 

Applicant to indicate 

with Õ and indicate page 

number in Application 

Section II. Application 

Data Sheet 

  

ITA 5.1 Copy of Firm Registration Certificate  

ITA 5.1 Copy of memorandum and articles of association,  

ITA 5.1 Copy of ISP License from NTA 

 

 

ITA 5.1 Copy of VAT/PAN Registration Certificate 

 

 

ITA 5.1 Copy of Tax Clearance Certificate for the F/Y 

2075/76 or evidence of tax return submission. 

 

 

ITA 5.1 A written declaration made by the Applicant, with a 

statement that it is not ineligible to participate in the 

procurementproceedings; has no conflict of interest 

in the proposed procurement proceedings, and has 

not been punished for a profession or business 

related offense 

 

 

ITA 17.1 Audit certificate with its detailed audited report of last  

years from F/Y 2073/74 to 2075/76 to show Financing 

Capacity 

 

ITA 17.1 The Applicant must provide evidence appropriately 

certified by the regulatory or government authority that 

it posses the operational experience of: 

-Operated at least 1000 km backhaullinks using any 

technology for minimum of one year. 

 

ITA 17.1 The Applicant shall provide clear evidence of its 

experience of operating an aggregate of at least 

25,000internet/data subscribers. 

 

ITA 17.1 At least two years of operational experience in 

internet/data (as ISP) services 

 

ITA 17.1 The Applicant should describe that it has not incurred 

financial losses for one year over the period of last 

three years. 

 
 

ITA 17.1 TheApplicant demonstrates that it has Positive “Net 

Worth” which has to be duly certified by the 

registered Chartered Accountant and it has average 

annual RTDF  contribution of at least 1 Million in last 
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Reference 
 

 

Documents and Information Requirements 
 

Applicant to indicate 

with Õ and indicate page 

number in Application 

three conscutuive Years. 

ITA 17.1 Evidence/s of committed financial resources must 

include: 

Á A detailed list of all sources and amounts of equity 

and debt (if any) financing required in the first 3 

(three) years of operation; and  

Á Any other evidence that the Applicant clearly has 

the capacity to finance the building of broadband 

connectivity Network 

 

 

ITA 18.1 The validity period of the application shall be 120 days 

from the date of Application opening. 

 

ITA 19.1 

 

Bid security: as specified in Application Data Sheet 

(ADS) in the form of original copy of an unconditional 

bank guarantee from a commercial bank or; original 

copy of cash deposit voucher in the NTA's Account as 

specified in ADS. 

 

ITA 20.1 In addition to the original of the Application, 

threecopies of Application. 

 

ITA 20.2 The written confirmation of Authorization to sign on 

behalf of the Applicant shall consist of: Power of 

attorney from their Board of Directors or equivalent 

competent authority to sign the Application.  

 

Section III.  

Application Forms 

 

Duly filled and signed the following Forms: 

Á Applicant's Application Submission Form 

Á Applicant's Technical Proposal 

Á Applicant's Subsidy Proposal Form with 

detailed cost breakdown 

Á Applicant's Information Form 

Á Financial Statement Forms and Projected 

financial informations 

Á Income statement. 

Á Balance sheet, Assets. 

Á Balance sheet, Liabilities and shareholders' 

equity. 

Á Statement of Cash Flow. 

Á Income statement, forecast. 

Á Balance sheet, forecast, Assets. 

Á Balance sheet, forecast, Liabilities and 

shareholders' equity. 

Á Statement of Cash Flow, forecast. 

Specific Experience Form 
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Section XI Annexes 
 

  

Annex-I  Details of stations/sites to be connected by broadbandnetwork 

 

Annex-2  Technical Specifications 
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Annex-I 

Details of stations/sites to be connected by broadband network 

4.1. Introduction 
 

The RFA for building and operate broadband connectivity in 5 Districts (Nawalpur, 

Kapilbastu, NAWALPARASI, Rupandehi and Chitwan) of Nepal. There are in total 5 

Districts among are distributed as an inaccessible, Seasionally accessible and Accessible all 

time by vehicle are covered under this RFA as shown in Table 4.1a-b. 
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In most of these districts, 2G and 3G celular mobile tchnologies, optical Fiber, VSAT, 

wireless, Radio Relay Links have been laid by different service providers. They might be in a 

position to lease the bandwidth for other Internet service providers of the country. In such 

situation, the Applicant may propose the leasing of existing network and extend it to the 

required locations either by using suitable technologies.  

 

The summary of the broadband internet connectivity points/stations/sites are presented in the 

Table 4.1a and details of each package are presented in the Table 4.1b. Applicants are 

requested to prepare a site/station/location wise Bill of Quantity/Bill of Materials based on 

Table 4.1b 
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Table 4.1a Summary of the Broadband Internet Access points: Chitwan, 

Rupandehi, Nawalpur, Kapilbastu and NAWALPARASI 
 

 

 

S.N. Municipality Wards  No of  
Schools 

No of  
Health 
centre 

Total Grand 
Total 

Chitwan 1174 

1 Kalika 11 41742  
 
 

75 

52 202 

2 Ratannagar 16 56094 

3 Khairhani 13 37683 

4 Madi 9 69848 

5 Rapti 13 57107 

6 Ichchhakamana 7 25012 

 6 69  

NAWALPARASI 

1 Kawasoti 17 62421  
121 

79 381 

2 Gaidakot 18 58866 

3 Devchuli 17 42603 

4 Bardghat 16 55382 

5 Madhya Bindu 15 54140 

6 Ramfram 18 59455 

7 Sunwal 13 55424 

8 Triveni Susta 7 43797 

9 Palhi Nandan 6 35429 

10 Pratappur 9 41315 

11 Bungdi Kali 6 15734 

12 Burlingtar 6 19122 

13 Binayi 5 25036 

14 Sarawal 7 38163 

15 Hupsekot 6 25065 

 15 166     

Rupandehi 

1 Devdaha 12 53523 110 74 333 

2 Lumbini Sanskritik 13 72497 

3 Sidharthanagar 13 63483 

4 Saina Maina 11 55822 

5 Tilottama 17 100149 

6 Gaidahawa 9 47565 

7 Kanchan 5 33072 

8 Kotahi Mai 7 41006 

9 Marchawari 7 38776 

10 Mayadevi 8 47196 

11 Om Satiya 6 34191 

12 Rohini 7 37175 

13 Sammari Mai 7 38305 

14 Siyari 7 38466 

15 Suddodhana 7 34638 

 15 134  

Kapilbastu 

1 Kapilbastu 12 76390  84 258 
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List of Schools 

District VDC School Name wardno location Telephone No 

CHITWAN 
Ayodhayapu
ri 

Krishnanagar 
Ma V 8 Krishnanagar 9845180596 

CHITWAN 
Ayodhayapu
ri 

Jana Jivan 
Uccha Ma V 5 Ayodhyapuri 056693783 

CHITWAN Bachhyauli Malpur Ma V 3 Malpur 580173 

CHITWAN Bachhyauli 
Bachhouli Ma 
V 6 Bachhyauli 580005 

CHITWAN Bagauda Ma V Khaireni 1 Khairahani 9845636302 

CHITWAN Bagauda Madi Ma V 3 Basantapur 620952 

CHITWAN Bhandara 
Bhandara Ma 
V 2 Hardi 056550011 

CHITWAN 
Birendranag
ar 

Ma V 
Barmanagar 7 

Btrendranag
ar 621336 

CHITWAN 
Birendranag
ar 

Birendran 
Adarsha Ma V 2 

Birendranaga
r 582824 

CHITWAN Chainpur Janajivan Ma V 3 Kunaghari 056582905 

CHITWAN Chainpur Kankali Ma V 1 Baheri 582854 

CHITWAN 
Chandi 
Bhanjyang 

Gyan Jyoti Ma 
V 7 Dhungree 9845067224 

CHITWAN Dahakhani Ma V Gardas 9 Gardas 9855080292 

CHITWAN Darechok 
Ma V 
Majhgaun 5 Majhagaun 9846125250 

CHITWAN Darechok 
Sarba Shanti 
Ma V 3 Kurintar 056540119 

CHITWAN Darechok 
Triveni Baraha 
Ma V 4 Mugling 05650080 

CHITWAN Dibyanagar Yuwa Ma V 8 Joyti Juneli 620726 

CHITWAN Dibyanagar Adarsha Ma V 7 Dibyanagar 056620686 

CHITWAN Fulbari Sripur Ma V 3 Shreepur 591072 

CHITWAN Gardi 
Someshwor 
Ma V 8 Baruwa 620357 

CHITWAN Gitanagar 
Shahid Smriti 
Ma V 9 Parasnagar 056400116 

2 Budhabhumi 10 64949 68 
 68 3 Shivaraj 11 66781 

4 Maharajganj 11 54800 

5 Krishna Nagar 12 62370 

6 Banganga 11 75242 

7 Mayadevi 8 48218 

8 Yashodhara 8 38952 

9 Suddodhana 6 45201 

10 Bijay Nagar 7 36937 

 10 96    
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CHITWAN Gitanagar 
Arunodaya Ma 
V 5 Amar Basti 056620340 

CHITWAN Gitanagar Ma V Indrapuri 8 Indrapuri   

CHITWAN Gitanagar 

Himalaya 
Dandpani 
Neupane Ma V 2 

Champanaga
r 5620746 

CHITWAN Gunjanagar 
Bhim Nagar 
Ma V 4 Bhimnagar 056591243 

CHITWAN Gunjanagar 
Gunjanagar 
Ma V 2 Gunjanagar 056592298 

CHITWAN Gunjanagar 
Ma V 
Shasinagar 5 Gunjanagar 9845145115 

CHITWAN Jagatpur 
Saraswati Ma 
V 4 Madhupuri 9845052641 

CHITWAN Jagatpur 
Siddhartha Ma 
V 7 Kerunga 056694227 

CHITWAN Jagatpur Laxmi Ma V 1 Jagatpur 620709 

CHITWAN Jutpani 
Ma V 
Jamunapur 5 Jamunapur 561428 

CHITWAN Jutpani Prithvi Ma V 4 Bhateni 056620675 

CHITWAN Kabilas Kabilas Ma V 1 
Devitar 
Jaugedi 9845048460 

CHITWAN Kathar Kathar Ma V 3 Kathar 9855062174 

CHITWAN Kaule 
Jana Priya Ma 
V 6 Kaule 9841761488 

CHITWAN Kaule Ma V Hatibang 3 
Kaule 
Hatibang 9845054752 

CHITWAN Korak 
Ra Ma V 
Swamitar 9 Swamitar 9845079261 

CHITWAN Kumroj 
Gawai Ma V 
Kumroj 3 Kumroj 056621428 

CHITWAN Kumroj Kapiya Ma V 8 Kapiya 582730 

CHITWAN Kalyanpur 
Jana Kalyan 
Ma V 4 Kalyanpur 056620932 

CHITWAN Mangalpur 

Durga 
Sheshkanta 
Ma V 8 Bjay Nagar 056591688 

CHITWAN Mangalpur Rampur Ma V 2 Rampur 056591248 

CHITWAN Mangalpur 
Bishwo 
Prakash Ma V 1 Maglalpur 056591151 

CHITWAN Mangalpur 
Dhaddaghari 
Ma V 6 Mangalpur 521033 

CHITWAN Meghauli Shajapur Ma V 4 Sajhapur 9845064938 

CHITWAN Meghauli 
Saraswati Ma 
V 3 Jitpur 056694888 
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CHITWAN Meghauli Janaki Ma V 5 Meghuli 056620328 

CHITWAN Padampur 
Bhimodaya Ma 
V 5 Bhimpur 056621024 

CHITWAN Parbatipur Bhanu Ma V 8 Paharilotar 056694374 

CHITWAN Parbatipur 
Annapurna Ma 
V 5 Parbatipur 056591751 

CHITWAN Patihani 
Ma V 
Ganganagar 8 

Ganaga 
Nagar 9845069602 

CHITWAN Patihani Amar Ma V 3 
Padam 
Pokhori 620692 

CHITWAN Piple 
Ma V 
Mahadevtar 5 Mahadevtar 056405122 

CHITWAN Piple 
Buddha Shanti 
Ma V 7 Gadeuli 550476 

CHITWAN Pithuwa 
Dwarikadas 
Ma V 3 

Ambika 
Marga 056561135 

CHITWAN Pithuwa 
Bhadrakali Ma 
V 1 Hattigade   

CHITWAN Pithuwa 
Jana Daya Ma 
V 6 Tallo Pithua 561811 

CHITWAN Pithuwa 
Jana Jagriti Ma 
V 3 Pithua 560665 

CHITWAN 
Ratnanagar 
N.P. 

Ma V 
Bakulahar 1 Bakulahar 056562708 

CHITWAN 
Ratnanagar 
N.P. 

Pancha Kanya 
Ma V       

CHITWAN 
Ratnanagar 
N.P. Ma V Kaparfori 7 Kaparifori 056560797 

CHITWAN 
Ratnanagar 
N.P. 

Pancha Kanya 
Ma V 10 Jirauna 561915 

CHITWAN 
Ratnanagar 
N.P. Mohana Ma V 6 Mohana 560852 

CHITWAN 
Ratnanagar 
N.P. Bairiya Ma V 8 Bairiya 560719 

CHITWAN 
Ratnanagar 
N.P. Nepal Ma V 2 Tadi 560102 

CHITWAN 
Ratnanagar 
N.P. 

Ma V 
Chitrasari 5 Chitrasari 056562816 

CHITWAN Saradanagar Kiran Ma V 7 Saradanagar 9845026956 

CHITWAN Saradanagar 
Saradnagar Ma 
V 1 Saradanagar 591035 

CHITWAN Shaktikhor 
Chuturmukhi 
Ma V 5 Shaktikhor 056620713 

CHITWAN Sibanagar 
Narayani Bidya 
Mandir Ma V 5 Sibanagar 620706 

CHITWAN Siddi Ma V 6 Majhawang 9845141448 
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Majhawang 

CHITWAN Sukranagar Prabhat Ma V 3 Sukranagar 620774 

CHITWAN Sukranagar 
Janjyoti Pa Da 
Ma Ma V 2 Amritnagar 056620459 

NAWALPARASI Agryouli 
Chandreshwori 
Ma V 4 Godar 9847094266 

NAWALPARASI Agryouli 
Janata Uchha 
Ma V 9 

Sahid Nagar 
Danda 078541021 

NAWALPARASI Agryouli 
Janata Uchha 
Ma V 7 Tribhuvantar 620677 

NAWALPARASI Amarapuri 
Pancha Jyoti 
Ma V 1 Amarapuri 9845113427 

NAWALPARASI Amarapuri 
Amar Jyoti Ma 
V 8 Amarapuri 78692904 

NAWALPARASI Amarapuri 
Laxmi Uchha 
Ma V 4 Adarapuri 078545246 

NAWALPARASI Amraut 
Janata Uchha 
Ma V 5 Dainhawa 9847039857 

NAWALPARASI Baidauli Ganesh Ma V 8 Baidauli 078620399 

NAWALPARASI Banjariya Rastriya Ma V 5 Kuinma 9847263098 

NAWALPARASI Benimanipur 

Dipendra 
Uchha Uchha 
Ma V 3 Bagaincha 9857045851 

NAWALPARASI Bharatipur Shiva Ma V 5 Bharatipur 078693261 

NAWALPARASI Bhujhawa 
Janata Uchha 
Uchha Ma V 2 Bhujhawa 078691364 

NAWALPARASI Bulingtar 
Tribhuwan 
Uchha Ma V 3 Bajhgara 9747009135 

NAWALPARASI 
Dadajheri 
Tadi 

Dev 
Badachhuli Ma 
V 9 Tandi   

NAWALPARASI 
Dawanne 
Devi 

Saraswoti 
Uchha Uchha 
Ma V 4 Dharmavasti 691067 

NAWALPARASI 
Dawanne 
Devi 

Ganga Uchha 
Ma V 5 Gangabasti 620217 

NAWALPARASI Dedgaun 
Dedgaun 
Uchha Ma V 9 Dedhgaun 078693277 

NAWALPARASI Deurali 
Nepal Rastriya 
Shanti Ma V 4 Belhani 9847094605 

NAWALPARASI Deurali 
Janata Uchha 
Ma V 5 Belawa 078692780 

NAWALPARASI Deurali 
Hupsekot Ma 
V 7 Rumsi 9807533472 

NAWALPARASI Deurali Saraswati 3 Girubari 078620513 
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Sanskrit Tatha 
Sadharan 
Uchha Ma V 

NAWALPARASI Devachuli Kalika Ma V 1 Bishaltar   

NAWALPARASI Devachuli 

Bhimsen 
Adarsha Uchha 
Ma V 6 Rambas 078575059 

NAWALPARASI Dhaubadi 
Surya Jyoti Ma 
V 2 Daubadi 9857040298 

NAWALPARASI Dhurkot 
Bhanudaya Ma 
V 1 Chukaha 9814483815 

NAWALPARASI Dibyapuri 
Nepal Uchha 
Ma V 2 

Kureni 
Kureni 545309 

NAWALPARASI Dumkibas 
Mani Sangam 
Ma V 3 Danda Jor 9807515700 

NAWALPARASI Dumkibas 
Manakamana 
Ma V 2 Suntandi 9847240706 

NAWALPARASI Dumkibas 

Bhanodaya 
Uchha Uchha 
Ma V 1 Purano Basti 078620134 

NAWALPARASI Gaidakot 
Janak Uchha 
Ma V 5 Gaindakot 056501112 

NAWALPARASI Gaidakot 
Kalika Uchha 
Ma V 8 Vijayanagar 056501118 

NAWALPARASI Gaidakot 
Krishna 
Gandaki Ma V 3 Gaidkot 056502270 

NAWALPARASI Gaidakot 

Nepal Rastriya 
Samser 
Adarsha Ma V 1 Gaidakot 056501426 

NAWALPARASI Gairami 
Raj Narayan 
Ma V 7 Gairmi 9847080047 

NAWALPARASI 
Guthi 
Parsauni 

Jana Jagriti 
Ucha Uchha 
Ma V 4 Parsauni 0786916167 

NAWALPARASI 
Guthisuryap
ura Ganesh Ma V 1 Jaganathpur 9847080328 

NAWALPARASI Harpur Harpur Ma V 2 Harpur 9816417303 

NAWALPARASI Hupsekot 
Hupsekot Ma 
V 4 

Maulathar 
Swamidanda 9845115515 

NAWALPARASI Jahada 

Nityananda 
Ratna Kumari 
Uchha Ma V 8 Bhatoulia 9847210166 

NAWALPARASI Jamuniya 
Adarsha Uchha 
Uchha Ma V 4 Samari 078690213 

NAWALPARASI Jaubari Udaya Ma V 8 Jaubari 9847036847 

NAWALPARASI Kawaswoti Gyanodaya Ma 5 Kawasoti 078540815 
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V 

NAWALPARASI Kawaswoti 
Jana Kalyan 
Ma V 5 Shivabasti 078540645 

NAWALPARASI Kawaswoti 
Janata Uchha 
Ma V 7 Magarkot 078540549 

NAWALPARASI Kolhuwa Janata Ma V 7 Etaura 078691827 

NAWALPARASI Kolhuwa 
Kumarwarti 
Uchha Ma V 2 Kolhuwa 078401014 

NAWALPARASI Kotathar 
Chhttsa Devi 
Ma V 5 Thambeshi 9746001922 

NAWALPARASI Kudiya 
Mahendra Ma 
V 8 Kudiya 9847051296 

NAWALPARASI Kumarwarti 
Sarasweoti 
Uchha Ma V 7 Gochhada 078691812 

NAWALPARASI Kumarwarti 
Tribhuwan Bal 
Uchha Ma V 5 Dhoki 9857040196 

NAWALPARASI Kusma 
Siddhartha 
Uchha Ma V 7 Kusma 078620969 

NAWALPARASI Mainaghat 

Saraswoti 
Uchha Uchha 
Ma V 9 Mainaghat 9847213661 

NAWALPARASI Makar 
Divya Jyoti 
Uchha Ma V 2 

Makar 
Chisapani 078580207 

NAWALPARASI Makar 
Daunay Devi 
Uchha Ma V 4 Baraghat 078580205 

NAWALPARASI Makar Rastriya Ma V 7 Jimire Vaar 078580706 

NAWALPARASI Makar 
Balmiki Uchha 
Ma V 1 Motibasti 9747041717 

NAWALPARASI Makar 
Shanti Nikunja 
Uchha Ma V 9 Paldanda 078580407 

NAWALPARASI Makar 
Nawa Jivan Ma 
V 4 Jiudonagar 078580402 

NAWALPARASI Manari 
Janata Uchha 
Ma V 1 Manari 078690078 

NAWALPARASI Mithukaram 
Dharmatma 
Ma V 1 Mithukaram 078693281 

NAWALPARASI Mukundapur 
Janata Uchha 
Ma V 4 Harkapur 078545118 

NAWALPARASI Mukundapur 
Ratna Rajya 
Uchha Ma V 5 

Pitauji 
Bhaisakhori 078693175 

NAWALPARASI Naram 
Nagar Danda 
Ma V 3 Nagardanda 9747054600 

NAWALPARASI Narayani 
Janata Shidha 
Aamar Ma V 4 Sitapur   

NAWALPARASI Narayani 
Janata Uchha 
Ma V 1 Hardia 9857040180 
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NAWALPARASI Narsahi 
Nepal Rastriya 
Ma V 6 Jarhiya 9847085260 

NAWALPARASI Naya Belhani Birendra Ma V 6 Dwardaha 078693257 

NAWALPARASI Naya Belhani Yadav Ma V 1 Tamaspur 9747036863 

NAWALPARASI Naya Belhani 
Janata Uchha 
Ma V 8 

Mangalchaur 
Arunkhola 078555043 

NAWALPARASI Naya Belhani Janata Ma V 8 Arungakhola 07855283 

NAWALPARASI Pakalihawa Deepak Ma V 6 Mahalwari 9847031296 

NAWALPARASI Palhi Janata Ma V 5 Palhi 9747018267 

NAWALPARASI Panchanagar 
Gyanjyoti Ma 
V 4 Allhawol 9847199696 

NAWALPARASI Panchanagar 

Raja Mahatma 
Purnabhadra 
Uchha Uchha 
Ma V 2 Bhanunagar 078580363 

NAWALPARASI Parsauni 
Ganoday 
Uchha Ma V 3 Harrabastar 9847094545 

NAWALPARASI Pithauli 
Shanti Uchha 
Ma V 1 Kanchantar 9847049315 

NAWALPARASI Pragatinagar 
Jana Jyoti 
Uchha Ma V 3 Pragatinagar 078575009 

NAWALPARASI Pragatinagar Prithivi Ma V 6 
Pragatinagar 
Prithivinagar 078575397 

NAWALPARASI Pragatinagar 

Pashupati 
Sangdev 
Sanskrit Ma V 3 Prataginagar 575374 

NAWALPARASI Pragatinagar 

Jana Jyoti 
Namuna Kanya 
Ma V 5 Pragatinagar 078575011 

NAWALPARASI Pratappur 

Tribhuwan 
Uchha Uchha 
Ma V 4 Pratappur 078620521 

NAWALPARASI Rajahar Barchuli Ma V   Rajahar 078545412 

NAWALPARASI Rajahar 
Devchuli 
Uchha Ma V 1 Rajahar 545006 

NAWALPARASI Rakuwa 
Bel Bhanjyang 
Ma V 7 

Bel 
Bhangyang 078693295 

NAWALPARASI 
Ramgram 
N.P. 

Adarsha Uchha 
Ma V 5 Parasi Bazar 078520300 

NAWALPARASI 
Ramgram 
N.P. 

Pawan Uchha 
Uchha Ma V 2 Ramgram 078520112 

NAWALPARASI Ramnagar 
Jagan Nath 
Uchha Ma V 1 

Bhumahi 
Pratappur 078620731 

NAWALPARASI Ramnagar 
Wakbani 
Uchha Ma V 5 Jargaha 9747010682 
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NAWALPARASI Ramnagar 

Dhanyachal 
Mahayagya 
Ma V 2 Badera 9747019265 

NAWALPARASI 
Rampur 
Khadauna 

Mahendra 
Janata Ma V 4 Gadauri 9847126025 

NAWALPARASI Rampurwa 
Bal Shikshya 
Niketan Ma V 4 Sunari 9847031382 

NAWALPARASI Ratanapur Baljyoti Ma V 1 Damar 9845066397 

NAWALPARASI Ruchang 
Nagar Danda 
Ma V 1 Byadhan 078693290 

NAWALPARASI Rupauliya 
Rastriya Ucha 
Uchha Ma V 7 Chibani 078690398 

NAWALPARASI Sanai Sukadev Ma V 2 Sanai 078690184 

NAWALPARASI Sarawal 
Mahendra Ma 
V 6 Sarawal 9847136670 

NAWALPARASI Shivmandir 
Janaklyan Ma 
V 4 Rithhepani 078692633 

NAWALPARASI Shivmandir Kalika Ma V 6 Laxminagar 620361 

NAWALPARASI Shivmandir 
Janata Uchha 
Ma V 7 Bishnunagar 078541010 

NAWALPARASI Shivmandir 
Shiva Uchha 
Ma V 3 Shivamandir 078540133 

NAWALPARASI Shivmandir 
Jivan Jyoti 
Uchha Ma V 1 Shivamandir 078620595 

NAWALPARASI Shivmandir 
Saraswati 
Uchha Ma V 9 Hasaura 078620352 

NAWALPARASI Shivmandir 
Sahid Smriti 
Ma V 2 Shiv Mandir 078620631 

NAWALPARASI Somani 
Mahendra Ma 
V 5 

Somani 
Somani 9747010421 

NAWALPARASI Sukrauli Janata Ma V 2 Sakrauli 078690151 

NAWALPARASI Sunwal 
Jyoti Uchha 
Ma V 7 Asnayna 078691403 

NAWALPARASI Sunwal Araniko Ma V 8 Araniko Basti 9847088511 

NAWALPARASI Sunwal 
Ramawapur 
Ma V 4 Ramwapur 9847049406 

NAWALPARASI Sunwal 
Janasewa Ma 
V 6 Bisasaya 078570296 

NAWALPARASI Sunwal 

Mahakabi 
Devkota Uchha 
Ma V 4 Khairahani 570230 

NAWALPARASI Swathi Pragati Ma V 8 Swathi 078520791 

NAWALPARASI Swathi 
Bhagawati Ma 
V 5 

Babakatti 
Hardiya 
Chapi 078570359 
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NAWALPARASI Tamasariya 
Nepal Loksewa 
Uchha Ma V 2 Basantapur 078693278 

NAWALPARASI Tamasariya 
Nawa Jagaran 
Uchha Ma V 7 Tamsariya 078620914 

NAWALPARASI Tilakptur 
Adarsha Uchha 
Ma V 9 Kokharpura 078691830 

NAWALPARASI Tilakptur 
Basanta Uchha 
Ma V 6 Basantapur 691664 

NAWALPARASI Tribenisusta 
Shivapurgadhi 
Ma V 7 Trivenisusta 078510287 

NAWALPARASI Tribenisusta 

Narayani 
Gandaki 
Sadharana 
Thata Sanskrit 
Uchha Ma V 1 Triveni Dham 078560112 

NAWALPARASI Arkhala Setinag Ma V 4 Arkhala 9847073620 

RUPANDEHI Tilottama Np 

Girwan 
Sarsswati 
Sanskrit Uchha 
Ma V 5 Kailashban 071560290 

RUPANDEHI Amuwa 
Siddartha Ma 
V 1 Madan Ganj 9847043329 

RUPANDEHI Amuwa 
Janata Uchha 
Ma V 6 P Amuwa 071621729 

RUPANDEHI Bagauli Tharki Ma V 1 
Bagauli 
Tharka 9747097012 

RUPANDEHI Betakuiya 
Krisak Adarsha 
Uchha Ma V 6 Betakuiya 9747083250 

RUPANDEHI 
Bhagawanpu
r 

Balrampur Ma 
V 5 Mujgana 071621577 

RUPANDEHI 
Bhagawanpu
r 

Budda Adarsha 
Uchha Ma V 4 Khungai 9807598980 

RUPANDEHI Bisunpura 
Navadurga Ma 
V Bishnupura 1 Thakurapur 9847051024 

RUPANDEHI Bodawar Bodwar Ma V 2 Bodawar 9847322636 

RUPANDEHI Bodawar 
Piprahawa Ma 
V 6 Piparahawa 9747021950 

RUPANDEHI Bogadi Bogadi Ma V 3 Hardi 9816446838 

RUPANDEHI Chhipagada 
Chipagada Ma 
V 1 Chhipagada 071622399 

RUPANDEHI 
Chhotaki 
Ramnagar 

Chotki 
Ramnagar Ma 
V 1 Narayanapur 071622138 

RUPANDEHI Chilhiya Chilhiya Ma V 6 Chilhiya 9747052570 

RUPANDEHI Daya Nagar Birendra Ma V 5 Durgapur 071529352 
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RUPANDEHI Daya Nagar 
Public Uchha 
Ma V 3 Krishnapur 071621359 

RUPANDEHI Devadaha 
Devdadaha 
Ucha Ma Vi 5 Sitalnagar 071577494 

RUPANDEHI Devadaha 
Kerbani Uchha 
Ma V 1 Pragatibazar 071577015 

RUPANDEHI Devadaha 
Jana Priya Ma 
V 9 Bhaluhi 071690066 

RUPANDEHI Devadaha 
Sita Ma V 
Charange 9 Charangee 9847027266 

RUPANDEHI Devadaha Janata Ma V 6 Bangali 071577183 

RUPANDEHI Devadaha Yugjoti Ma V 3 Khaireni 071577545 

RUPANDEHI Dhakadhai 

Ram Naresh 
Yadav Adarsha 
Uchha Ma V 6 Dhakadhai 071691970 

RUPANDEHI 
Dudharakch
he 

Janachetana 
Ma V 5 Basgadhi 440046 

RUPANDEHI 
Dudharakch
he 

Jana Kalyan 
Ma V 1 Bharatpur 071699671 

RUPANDEHI 
Dudharakch
he 

Ramapur 
Uchha Ma V 2 Ramapur 071440161 

RUPANDEHI 
Dudharakch
he Sarshoti Ma V 7 Deuwapur 9847052771 

RUPANDEHI Ekala 
Karmahawa 
Uchha Ma V 8 Karmahawa 9727157334 

RUPANDEHI Gajedi 
Pragati Uchha 
Ma V 2 Belbhariya 071622377 

RUPANDEHI Gajedi Durga Ma V 1 Lousa   

RUPANDEHI Gajedi 
Gajedi Uchha 
Ma V 4 Gajedi 071622382 

RUPANDEHI Gangoliya 
Barawaliya Ma 
V 3 

Barawaliya 
Dada 0847198993 

RUPANDEHI Gonaha 

Haji Yanath 
Tullaha Uchha 
Ma V 9 Shemarhana 4806940823 

RUPANDEHI Gonaha 
Gurubani Mai 
Ma V 7 Parashawa 071694897 

RUPANDEHI Hati Bangai 
Gair Gatthi Ma 
V 8 Gair Gatthi   

RUPANDEHI 
Hati 
Pharsatikar 

Jana Jagriti Ma 
V 9 Karuwani 071691691 

RUPANDEHI Jogada Jogada Ma V 4 Jogada 071622072 

RUPANDEHI Kamahariya Semari Ma V 6 Semari 9747015023 

RUPANDEHI Kamahariya 
Barewa Uchha 
Ma V 5 Barewa 9847022616 
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RUPANDEHI Tilottama Np 
Janabhwana 
Ma V 8 Deepnagar 071561142 

RUPANDEHI Tilottama Np 
Gautambuddh
a Uccha Ma V 1 Kewalani 071560389 

RUPANDEHI Tilottama Np 
Semara Bajar 
Ma V 7 Semara Bajar 071562386 

RUPANDEHI Karauta Mudila Ma V 1 Karauta 9747043497 

RUPANDEHI Kerbani 

Mahamaya 
Bhawani 
Uchha Ma V 7 Bhawanipur 071577218 

RUPANDEHI Kerbani 
Saraswati Ma 
V 2 Rajabari 9847087383 

RUPANDEHI Kerbani Khadga Ma V 1 
Birwa Bazaar 
Durga Nagar 071699556 

RUPANDEHI Kerbani 

Bhviahya 
Nirmana 
Uchha Ma V 4 

Dhekawar 
Devdahana 
Pa 071622041 

RUPANDEHI 
Khadwa 
Bangai Bangai Ma V 6 Bangai 071622135 

RUPANDEHI 
Khadwa 
Bangai Shishai Ma V 9 Shisai 0715440340 

RUPANDEHI Khudabagar 
Khudabagar 
Uchha Ma V 2 Sonbarasi 071622502 

RUPANDEHI Tilottama Np 
Pashupati 
Uchha Ma V 4 Kotihawa 071560791 

RUPANDEHI Madhubani Janata Nima Vi 2 
Madhuwoni 
Mahilwar   

RUPANDEHI Mainahiya 
Mainahiya 
Uchha Ma V 5 Mainahiya 9847021894 

RUPANDEHI Majhagawa 

Marchbar 
Adarsha Uchha 
Ma V 2 Majhgawa 071622260 

RUPANDEHI Makrahar 
Janahit Ma V 
Makarahr 9 Mohanajot 9847050574 

RUPANDEHI Makrahar Bhulke Ma V 6 Makarahara 071691342 

RUPANDEHI Makrahar Janata Ma V 9 Mahanajot 9847143370 

RUPANDEHI Makrahar 
Shivapur 
Uchha Ma V 4 Shivapur 071560364 

RUPANDEHI Man Pakadi 
Bhagalapur 
Uchha Ma V 4 Man Pakadi 0714691346 

RUPANDEHI Maryadpur 
Maryadpur Ma 
V 3 Maryadpur 9816459777 

RUPANDEHI Masina 

Masina Baba 
Narendrapuri 
Mogalaha Ma 
V 6 Masina 9807528732 
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RUPANDEHI Motipur Amar Ma V 8 Sauraha 071622504 

RUPANDEHI Motipur 
Motipur Uchha 
Ma V 4 Motipur 071621330 

RUPANDEHI Padsari Thutital Ma V 5 Thotipipal 071426429 

RUPANDEHI Pajarkatti 
Pajarkattti Ma 
V 5 Semara   

RUPANDEHI Parroha 
Kalika Nia Ma 
V 5 

Ucchadehaw
a 9847034461 

RUPANDEHI Parroha 
Jana Jyoti Ma 
V 4 Parsawal 9847058690 

RUPANDEHI Parroha 
Durga Bhawani 
Uchha Ma V 6 Bankatta 071450341 

RUPANDEHI Parroha 

Sungabha 
Public Ucha 
Ma Vi 4 Murgiya 071440284 

RUPANDEHI Parroha 
Paroha Uchha 
Ma V 1 Mugirya 071440140 

RUPANDEHI Parroha 
Saina Maina 
Ma V 6 

Rani 
Bagaincha 071440135 

RUPANDEHI Pokharvindi 
Pokervindi Ma 
V 2 Bhatapurawa   

RUPANDEHI Rayapur 

Srimati 
Manaraji Devi 
Uchha Ma V 5 Shiso Semara 9747050531 

RUPANDEHI Rudrapur 
Malabar Devi 
Ma V Rudrapur 8 Jhargaira 9847038860 

RUPANDEHI Rudrapur Sarawati Ma V 4 Bargadawa 9847260065 

RUPANDEHI Rudrapur 

Lumbini Gyan 
Niketan Uchha 
Ma V 4 

Gargare 
Sandhawa 071690269 

RUPANDEHI Rudrapur Bhaisahi Ma V 3 Bhaisahi 9847039728 

RUPANDEHI Rudrapur 
Haraiya Uchha 
Ma V 7 Haraiya 071622007 

RUPANDEHI Rudrapur 
Rudrapur 
Uchha Ma V 1 Asnaiya 071622316 

RUPANDEHI Sadi Sadi Ma V 7 Sadi 9806992814 

RUPANDEHI Saljhundi 
Saljhandi Ma 
Vi 1 Jhimjhimiya 9847196808 

RUPANDEHI Saljhundi Kotiadevi Ma V 8 Tali 9847152139 

RUPANDEHI Saljhundi 
Pashupati 
Uchha Ma V 2 Saljhundi 071465030 

RUPANDEHI Semalar 
Nawa Ratna 
Uchha Ma V 3 

Semalar 
Vaghia 071621209 

RUPANDEHI 
Shankar 
Nagar 

Jana Jagriti Ma 
V 8 Jogikoti 071437230 
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RUPANDEHI 
Shankar 
Nagar 

Shankar Nagar 
Durgadatta 
Uchha Ma V 2 Sankarnagar 071560270 

RUPANDEHI 
Shankar 
Nagar 

Janajyoti 
Uchha Ma V 6 Dingarnagar 071437621 

RUPANDEHI 
Siddharth 
Nagar N.P. 

Bahira Bal 
Uchha Ma V 2 

Jungle Tol 
Pachbatika 071520994 

RUPANDEHI 
Siddharth 
Nagar N.P. Belahiya Ma V 1 Belhiya 9847044949 

RUPANDEHI 
Siddharth 
Nagar N.P. 

Paklihawa Ma 
V 1 

Siddertha 
Municiapility 07120959 

RUPANDEHI 
Siddharth 
Nagar N.P. 

Mahatma 
Buddha Ma V 6 Piparahiya 071521890 

RUPANDEHI 
Siddharth 
Nagar N.P. Susanskrit Ma V 13 Shantinagar 071523006 

RUPANDEHI 
Siddharth 
Nagar N.P. Bhanu Ma V 9 Bhanu Path 071520539 

RUPANDEHI 
Siddharth 
Nagar N.P. 

Rupandehi Lilaram Ma 
V 8 Narayansthan 071520407 

RUPANDEHI 
Siddharth 
Nagar N.P. 

Bhairahawa Uchha Ma 
V 5 Men Bazar 071520933 

RUPANDEHI 
Siddharth 
Nagar N.P. 

Sunshine Awasiya Ucha 
Ma Vi 8 Lumbini Road 071520503 

RUPANDEHI 
Siddharth 
Nagar N.P. 

Buddha Joti Uchha Ma 
V 12 Basanta Path 071520163 

RUPANDEHI Sikatahan Sikatahan Ma V 4 Dholbajawa 9757000393 

RUPANDEHI Sikatahan Pragati Ma V 6 Pragatinagar 9807097004 

RUPANDEHI Silautiya Janata Uchha Ma V 8 Odawaliya 071680129 

RUPANDEHI 
Souraha 
Pharsatikar 

Shankar Ma V 
Pharsitikar 3 Betahi 9816487121 

RUPANDEHI 
Souraha 
Pharsatikar Littl Flower Uchha Ma V 1 

Souraha 
Pharsattikar 071621303 

RUPANDEHI 
Souraha 
Pharsatikar Pharsatikar Uchha Ma V 1 Pharsattikar 071621165 

RUPANDEHI 
Souraha 
Pharsatikar 

Tiltama Awasiya Uchha 
Ma V 1 Farshatikar 071621194 

RUPANDEHI Suryapura Mahindranagar Ma V 1 Dhusuwa 071691206 

RUPANDEHI Suryapura Hasanapur Ma V 2 Hasanapur 9804481258 

RUPANDEHI Suryapura Surayapura Uchha Ma V 3 Suryapura 9747026452 

RUPANDEHI Tikuligadh Janata Ma V Tikuligadh 9 Tindhure 071562399 

RUPANDEHI Tikuligadh Durga Ma V 4 Durganagar 071215460 

RUPANDEHI Tikuligadh Tikuligadu Uchha Ma V 7 Tikuligadh 071561373 

KAPILBASTU Ajigara Ma Vi Ajigara 1 Ajigara   

KAPILBASTU Bahadurganj 
Ram Gorkha Uchha Ma 
V 1 Bahadurganj 076530002 
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KAPILBASTU Baluhawa Janta Ma Vi 1 Baluhawa 9747008672 

KAPILBASTU Banganga Bal Ma V Bairiya 8 Banganga 076550134 

KAPILBASTU Banganga Janta Uccha Ma Vi 1 Banganga 076550145 

KAPILBASTU Banganga Siddharth Ma V Bunchi 7 Banganga 9847031724 

KAPILBASTU Barakulpur 
Jana Kalyan Uchha Ma 
V 7 Barkalpur 076690498 

KAPILBASTU Barakulpur Uccha Ma Vi Imiliya 2 Imiliya 076560066 

KAPILBASTU Basantapur Krishnadharmik Ma Vi 6 Basantapur 9727649232 

KAPILBASTU Bedauli Aniruddha Public Ma Vi 2 Baidauli 9847285907 

KAPILBASTU Bhalubari 
Shivapratap 
Sharasawoti Ma Vi 9 Bhalwari 9847203616 

KAPILBASTU Birpur 
Tribhuwan Adarsha 
Uccha Ma Vi 8 Pipari 9857029904 

KAPILBASTU Birpur 
Nepal Rashtriya Uccha 
Ma Vi 9 Chandrauta 076540002 

KAPILBASTU Bishnunpur Baljyoti Ma Vi 2 Bishanpur 9847063712 

KAPILBASTU Bishnunpur 
Janachetana Samudayik 
Ma Vi 5 Laxmanpur 9847052183 

KAPILBASTU Bithuwa 
Ne Ra Uchha Ma Vi 
Aurahiya Modfutawa 6 Bithuwa 9847051038 

KAPILBASTU Budhi Bhrikuti Uccha Ma Vi 7 Budhi 076692246 

KAPILBASTU Chanai Samaithan Uchha Ma V 8 Kharendrapur 076691446 

KAPILBASTU Chanai 
Durga Bhagawati Ma Vi 
Chanai 5 Nayabasti 9847042709 

KAPILBASTU Dhankauli Dhankauli Ma Vi 1 Dhankauli 9847277191 

KAPILBASTU Dhankauli Kapilvastu Ma Vi 9 Chetaradei 9747062000 

KAPILBASTU Dubiya 
Ne Ra Uchha Ma Vi 
Rangaain 8 Dubiya 076691025 

KAPILBASTU Fulika Muneshwor Ma Vi 5 Fulika   

KAPILBASTU Gajehada 
Bana Ganga Uchha Ma 
V 1 Gajehada   

KAPILBASTU Ganeshpur 
Lautan Ram Dropadi 
Devi Ma Vi 2 Ganeshpur 076691625 

KAPILBASTU Gugauli Dudadhari Ma V 2 Gugauli 9847042812 

KAPILBASTU Harduona Janta Ma Vi 3 Harduona   

KAPILBASTU Hariharpur Ma Vi Nimdanda 1 Hariharpur 9847294849 

KAPILBASTU Hathausa Odari Uchha Ma Vi 9 Hathausa 076691206 

KAPILBASTU Hathausa Hemraj Uccha Ma Vi 1 Hathausa 076691350 

KAPILBASTU Hathausa Suryodaya Uccha Ma Vi 8 Hathausa 076690836 

KAPILBASTU Jayanagar 
Gautam Buddha Uchha 
Ma V 8 Jayanagar 076545033 

KAPILBASTU Kapilbastu N.P. Bhagwandas Ma Vi 5 Kapilvastu Np 9847275315 

KAPILBASTU Kapilbastu N.P. Tauleshwor Nath 5 Kapilvastu Np 076560013 
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Sanskrit Uccha Ma Vi 

KAPILBASTU Kapilbastu N.P. 
Ratna Rajya Laxmi 
Uccha Ma Vi 2 Kapilvastu Np 076560001 

KAPILBASTU Kapilbastu N.P. 
Buddhapadma Uchha 
Ma Vi 5 

Kapilvastu N 
P 076560042 

KAPILBASTU Kapilbastu N.P. Yasodhara Ma V 4 Kapilvastu Np 076561127 

KAPILBASTU Kopawa Laxman Ghat Ma Vi 8 Kopawa   

KAPILBASTU Kopawa Uccha Ma Vi Jhanda 7 Kopawa 076691367 

KAPILBASTU Kopawa Mahendra Uchha Ma V 2 Kopawa 076690528 

KAPILBASTU Krishna Nagar Mahendra Uccha Ma Vi 7 Krishnanagar 076520211 

KAPILBASTU Maharajganj Bhadra Uchha Ma Vi 4 Maharajganj 076690163 

KAPILBASTU Maharajganj Janaki Uchha Ma V 1 Maharajganj 0766690215 

KAPILBASTU Mahendrakot 
Siddhartha Smarak 
Uchha Ma V 3 Mahendrakot 076620128 

KAPILBASTU Mahendrakot Ganga Jyoti Ma V 7 Mahendrakot 71691927 

KAPILBASTU Mahuwa Ma Vi Mahuwa 1 Mahuwa   

KAPILBASTU Bhalawad 
Suddodhan Jana Jivan 
Ma V 4 Bhalwar 076690895 

KAPILBASTU Motipur 
Bana Ganga Uchha Ma 
V 6 Motipur 076690077 

KAPILBASTU Motipur Jana Jyoti Uchha Ma V 1 Motipur 076690188 

KAPILBASTU Nanda Nagar Ma Vi Thulonandanagar 1 Nandanagar   

KAPILBASTU Nigalihawa Ma Vi Kusma Niglihawa 2 Niglihawa   

KAPILBASTU Nigalihawa 
Kanak Muni Uchha Ma 
V 1 Niglihawa 076690800 

KAPILBASTU Nigalihawa Ma Vi Bikuli Niglihawa 4 Niglihawa 076690683 

KAPILBASTU Pakadi 
Chhatrapali Tirthadevi 
Ucchama Vi 1 Pakadi 076691017 

KAPILBASTU Patariya Purna Keshar Ma Vi 6 Patariya 9805428732 

KAPILBASTU Patna Kamata Ma Vi 7 Patana   

KAPILBASTU Patthardaihiya 
Bhubaneshori Uccha 
Ma Vi 5 Jagadishpur 076690750 

KAPILBASTU Rajpur Ma Vi Chauri 3 Rajpur 9847052746 

KAPILBASTU Rangapur Bashudev Janata Ma V 3 Rangapur 9847040087 

KAPILBASTU Sauraha Kalikajana Ma Vi 8 Sauraha   

KAPILBASTU Shivagadhi Prakash Uchha Ma V 5 Sundaridanda 9747016263 

KAPILBASTU Shivapur 
Nepal Adarsha Uchha 
Ma V 7 Shivpur 076540146 

KAPILBASTU Sisawa Shiva Bhari Uccha Ma Vi 5 Sisawa 9747013761 

KAPILBASTU Thunhiya 
Rangilal Ma Vi Sadawa 
Thuniya 8 Sadhawa 9847063278 

KAPILBASTU Tilaurakot Tilaurakot Ma Vi 3 Tilaurakot 9747017347 
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KAPILBASTU Vidhya Nagar Netra Jyoti Uccha Ma Vi 2 Saunahawa 9847042545 
 
 
Health Centre 
 

S.N. District VDC NAME Name of Health Centres 

1 35 CHITAWAN AYODHYAPURI 
Community Health Unit Bandarjhula_ 
Chitwan 

2 35 CHITAWAN BACHHYAULI 
Community Health Centre _ Tarauli_ 
Bachhauli_ Chitwan 

3 35 CHITAWAN KABILAS-CHITAWAN 
Communty Health Unit  Chaukidada 
Kabilas VDC Chitwan 

4 35 CHITAWAN KORAK 
Community Health Khahare, Korak VDC 
Chitwan 

5 35 CHITAWAN 
RATNANAGAR 
MUNICIPALITY 

Communty Health Unit Ratnanagar 18 
Chitwan 

6 35 CHITAWAN BAGAUDA BAGHAUDA HOSPTIAL_CHITAWAN 

7 35 CHITAWAN 
RATNANAGAR 
MUNICIPALITY BAKULAHAR HOSPITAL_CHITAWAN 

8 35 CHITAWAN AYODHYAPURI AYODHYAPURI HP_CHITAWAN 

9 35 CHITAWAN BACHHYAULI BACHHYAULI HP_CHITAWAN 

10 35 CHITAWAN BHANDARA BHANDARA HP_CHITAWAN 

11 35 CHITAWAN BIRENDRANAGAR BIRENDRANAGAR HP_CHITAWAN 

12 35 CHITAWAN CHAINPUR-CHITAWAN CHAINPUR HP_CHITAWAN 

13 35 CHITAWAN CHANDIBHANJYANG 
CHANDIBHANJYANG HP 
CHITAWAN_CHITAWAN 

14 35 CHITAWAN CHANDIBHANJYANG PAMDANDA HP_CHITAWAN 

15 35 CHITAWAN DAHAKHANI DAHAKHANI HP_CHITAWAN 

16 35 CHITAWAN DARECHOK DARECHOK HP_CHITAWAN 

17 35 CHITAWAN DIBYANAGAR DIBYANAGAR HP_CHITAWAN 

18 35 CHITAWAN FULBARI-CHITAWAN FULBARI HP_CHITAWAN 

19 35 CHITAWAN GARDI GARDI HP_CHITAWAN 

20 35 CHITAWAN GITANAGAR GITANAGAR HP_CHITAWAN 

21 35 CHITAWAN GUNJANAGAR GUNJANAGAR HP_CHITAWAN 

22 35 CHITAWAN JAGATPUR-CHITAWAN JAGATPUR HP_CHITAWAN 

23 35 CHITAWAN KABILAS-CHITAWAN KABILAS HP CHITAWAN_CHITAWAN 

24 35 CHITAWAN KATHAR KATHAR HP_CHITAWAN 

25 35 CHITAWAN KAULE-CHITAWAN KAULE HP CHITAWAN_CHITAWAN 

26 35 CHITAWAN KORAK KORAK HP_CHITAWAN 

27 35 CHITAWAN KUMROJ KUMROJ HP_CHITAWAN 

28 35 CHITAWAN LOTHAR LOTHAR HP_CHITAWAN 

29 35 CHITAWAN LOTHAR WASWANG HP_CHITAWAN 

30 35 CHITAWAN MADIKALYANPUR MADIKALYANPUR HP_CHITAWAN 

31 35 CHITAWAN MANGALPUR MANGALPUR HP_CHITAWAN 

32 35 CHITAWAN MEGHAULI MEGHAULI HP_CHITAWAN 

33 35 CHITAWAN PADAMPUR PADAMPUR HP_CHITAWAN 

34 35 CHITAWAN PARBATIPUR PARBATIPUR HP_CHITAWAN 

35 35 CHITAWAN PATIHANI PATIHANI HP_CHITAWAN 

36 35 CHITAWAN PIPLE-CHITAWAN PIPLE HP_CHITAWAN 

37 35 CHITAWAN PITHUWA PITHUWA HP_CHITAWAN 

38 35 CHITAWAN 
RATNANAGAR 
MUNICIPALITY 

PANCHAKANYA HP 
CHITAWAN_CHITAWAN 

39 35 CHITAWAN SARADANAGAR SARADANAGAR HP_CHITAWAN 

40 35 CHITAWAN SHAKTIKHOR SHAKTIKHOR HP_CHITAWAN 
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41 35 CHITAWAN SIDDI SIDDI HP_CHITAWAN 

42 35 CHITAWAN SUKRANAGAR SUKRANAGAR HP_CHITAWAN 

43 35 CHITAWAN JUTPANI JUTPANI PHC_CHITAWAN 

44 35 CHITAWAN KHAIRAHANI KHAIRAHANI PHC_CHITAWAN 

45 35 CHITAWAN SIBANAGAR SHIVANAGAR PHC_CHITAWAN 

46 35 CHITAWAN GUNJANAGAR 
Urban Health Unit Sashi Nagar 
Gunganagar Chitwan 

47 35 CHITAWAN JAGATPUR-CHITAWAN 
Urban Health Unit Narayani 10 Jagatpur 
Chitwan 

48 35 CHITAWAN MADIKALYANPUR 
Urban Health Unit Radhapur Madi NP 
Chitwan 

49 35 CHITAWAN MADIKALYANPUR 
Urban Health Unit Shaulibas Madi 9 
Chitwan 

50 35 CHITAWAN MADIKALYANPUR Urban Health Unit Tamta Madi Chitwan 

51 35 CHITAWAN 
RATNANAGAR 
MUNICIPALITY Jirauna Urban Health Center_ Chitwan 

52 35 CHITAWAN 
RATNANAGAR 
MUNICIPALITY Urban Health Unit Tarauli R.N.P Chitwan 

53 48 NAWALPARASI DEDGAUN 
Community Health 
Unit_Balighat_Nawalparasi 

54 48 NAWALPARASI DHURKOT 
Community Heatlth 
Unit_Dhurkot_Nawalparasi 

55 48 NAWALPARASI 
RAMGRAM 
MUNICIPALITY 

PRITHVI CHANDRA HOSPITAL 
NAWALPARASI 

56 48 NAWALPARASI AGRYOULI AGRYOULI HP_NAWALPARASI 

57 48 NAWALPARASI AMARAPURI AMARAPURI HP_NAWALPARASI 

58 48 NAWALPARASI AMRAUT AMARAUT HP_NAWALPARASI 

59 48 NAWALPARASI BADAHARADUBAULIYA 
BADAHARA DUBAULIYA 
HP_NAWALPARASI 

60 48 NAWALPARASI BAIDAULI BAIDAULI HP_NAWALPARASI 

61 48 NAWALPARASI BANJARIYA AMARBAN HP_NAWALPARASI 

62 48 NAWALPARASI BENIMANIPUR BENIMANIPUR HP_NAWALPARASI 

63 48 NAWALPARASI BHARATIPUR BHARATIPUR HP_NAWALPARASI 

64 48 NAWALPARASI BHUJHAWA BHUJAHAWA HP_NAWALPARASI 

65 48 NAWALPARASI DADAJHERITADI DANDAJHERI HP_NAWALPARASI 

66 48 NAWALPARASI DAWANNEDEVI DAWANNEDEVI HP_NAWALPARASI 

67 48 NAWALPARASI DEDGAUN 
RAKUWA DEDHGAUN 
HP_NAWALPARASI 

68 48 NAWALPARASI DEURALI-NAWALPARASI 
DEURALI HP 
NAWALPARASI_NAWALPARASI 

69 48 NAWALPARASI DEVACHULI DEVCHULI HP_NAWALPARASI 

70 48 NAWALPARASI DEVAGAWA DEVGAUN HP_NAWALPARASI 

71 48 NAWALPARASI DHAUBADI DHOBADI HP_NAWALPARASI 

72 48 NAWALPARASI DHURKOT DHURKOT HP_NAWALPARASI 

73 48 NAWALPARASI DUMKIBAS DUMKIBAS HP_NAWALPARASI 

74 48 NAWALPARASI GAIDAKOT GAIDAKOT HP_NAWALPARASI 

75 48 NAWALPARASI GAIRAMI GERMI HP_NAWALPARASI 

76 48 NAWALPARASI GUTHI PARSAUNI GUTHI PARSAUNI HP_NAWALPARASI 

77 48 NAWALPARASI GUTHI SURYAPURA GUTHI SURYAPURA HP_NAWALPARASI 

78 48 NAWALPARASI HAKUI HAKUI HP_NAWALPARASI 

79 48 NAWALPARASI HARPUR-NAWALPARASI HARPUR HP_NAWALPARASI 

80 48 NAWALPARASI HUPSEKOT HUPSEKOT HP_NAWALPARASI 

81 48 NAWALPARASI JAHADA JAHADA HP_NAWALPARASI 

82 48 NAWALPARASI JAUBARI JAUBARI HP_NAWALPARASI 

83 48 NAWALPARASI KAWASWOTI KAWASWOTI HP_NAWALPARASI 
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84 48 NAWALPARASI KOLHUWA 
NAWALPUR HP 
NAWALPARASI_NAWALPARASI 

85 48 NAWALPARASI KOTATHAR KOTATHAR HP_NAWALPARASI 

86 48 NAWALPARASI KUDIYA KUDIYA HP_NAWALPARASI 

87 48 NAWALPARASI KUMARWARTI KUMARWARTI HP_NAWALPARASI 

88 48 NAWALPARASI KUSMA KUSHMA HP_NAWALPARASI 

89 48 NAWALPARASI MAINAGHAT MAINAGHAT HP_NAWALPARASI 

90 48 NAWALPARASI MAKAR MAKAR HP_NAWALPARASI 

91 48 NAWALPARASI MANARI MANARI HP_NAWALPARASI 

92 48 NAWALPARASI MITHUKARAM MITHUKARAM HP_NAWALPARASI 

93 48 NAWALPARASI MUKUNDAPUR PITAUJIGHAT HP_NAWALPARASI 

94 48 NAWALPARASI NARAM NARAM HP_NAWALPARASI 

95 48 NAWALPARASI NARAYANI NARAYANI HP_NAWALPARASI 

96 48 NAWALPARASI NARSAHI NARSAHI HP_NAWALPARASI 

97 48 NAWALPARASI NAYABELHANI NAYABELHANI HP_NAWALPARASI 

98 48 NAWALPARASI PAKALIHAWA PAKLIHAWA HP_NAWALPARASI 

99 48 NAWALPARASI PANCHANAGAR PANCHANAGAR HP_NAWALPARASI 

100 48 NAWALPARASI PARSAUNI PARSAUNI HP_NAWALPARASI 

101 48 NAWALPARASI PITHAULI PITHAULI HP_NAWALPARASI 

102 48 NAWALPARASI PRAGATINAGAR PRAGATINAGAR HP_NAWALPARASI 

103 48 NAWALPARASI PRATAPPUR 
PRATAPPUR HP 
PRATAPPUR_NAWALPARASI 

104 48 NAWALPARASI RAJAHAR RAJAHAR HP_NAWALPARASI 

105 48 NAWALPARASI RAKACHULI RAKACHULI HP_NAWALPARASI 

106 48 NAWALPARASI RAKUWA RAKUWA HP_NAWALPARASI 

107 48 NAWALPARASI 
RAMGRAM 
MUNICIPALITY JAMUWAD HP_NAWALPARASI 

108 48 NAWALPARASI 
RAMGRAM 
MUNICIPALITY MANJHARIYA HP_NAWALPARASI 

109 48 NAWALPARASI 
RAMGRAM 
MUNICIPALITY UNAWACH HP_NAWALPARASI 

110 48 NAWALPARASI 
RAMNAGAR-
NAWALPARASI 

RAMNAGAR HP 
NAWALPARASI_NAWALPARASI 

111 48 NAWALPARASI RAMPUR KHADAUNA 
RAMPUR KHADAUNA 
HP_NAWALPARASI 

112 48 NAWALPARASI RAMPURKHA RAMPURAWA HP_NAWALPARASI 

113 48 NAWALPARASI RATANAPUR 
RATANPUR HP 
RATANAPUR_NAWALPARASI 

114 48 NAWALPARASI RUCHANG RUCHANG HP_NAWALPARASI 

115 48 NAWALPARASI RUPAULIYA RUPAULIYA HP_NAWALPARASI 

116 48 NAWALPARASI SANAI SANAI HP_NAWALPARASI 

117 48 NAWALPARASI SARAWAL SARWAL HP_NAWALPARASI 

118 48 NAWALPARASI SHIVMANDIR SHIVMANDIR HP_NAWALPARASI 

119 48 NAWALPARASI SOMANI SOMANI HP_NAWALPARASI 

120 48 NAWALPARASI SUKRAULI SUKRAULI HP_NAWALPARASI 

121 48 NAWALPARASI SUNWAL SUNWAL HP_NAWALPARASI 

122 48 NAWALPARASI SWATHI SWATHI HP_NAWALPARASI 

123 48 NAWALPARASI THULO KHAIRATAWA 
THULO KHAIRATAWA 
HP_NAWALPARASI 

124 48 NAWALPARASI TILAKPUR TILAKPUR HP_NAWALPARASI 

125 48 NAWALPARASI TRIBENISUSTA TRIVENI SUSTA HP_NAWALPARASI 

126 48 NAWALPARASI UPALLOARKHALE UPALLO ARKHALA HP_NAWALPARASI 

127 48 NAWALPARASI BULINGTAR BULINGTAR PHC_NAWALPARASI 

128 48 NAWALPARASI DIBYAPURI DUMKAULI PHC_NAWALPARASI 
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129 48 NAWALPARASI 
JAMUNIYA-
NAWALPARASI JAGNNATHPUR PHC_NAWALPARASI 

130 48 NAWALPARASI PALHI PALHI PHC_NAWALPARASI 

131 48 NAWALPARASI TAMASARIYA CHORMARA PHC_NAWALPARASI 

132 49 RUPANDEHI 
SIDDHARTH NAGAR 
MUNICIPALITY 

BHIM HOSPITAL_ 
RUPANDEHI_RUPANDEHI 

133 49 RUPANDEHI AAMA AAMA HP_RUPANDEHI 

134 49 RUPANDEHI AANANDABAN AANANDABAN HP_RUPANDEHI 

135 49 RUPANDEHI AMUWA AMUWA (PASCHHIM) HP_RUPANDEHI 

136 49 RUPANDEHI ASURENA ASURENA HP_RUPANDEHI 

137 49 RUPANDEHI BAGAHA BAGAHA HP_RUPANDEHI 

138 49 RUPANDEHI BAGAULI BAGAULI HP_RUPANDEHI 

139 49 RUPANDEHI BAIRGHAT BAIRGHAT HP_RUPANDEHI 

140 49 RUPANDEHI BETAKUIYA BETAKUIYA HP_RUPANDEHI 

141 49 RUPANDEHI BHAGAWANPUR BHAGAWANPUR HP_RUPANDEHI 

142 49 RUPANDEHI BISUNPURA KARMAHAWA HP_RUPANDEHI 

143 49 RUPANDEHI BODABAR BODABAR HP_RUPANDEHI 

144 49 RUPANDEHI BOGADI BOGADI HP_RUPANDEHI 

145 49 RUPANDEHI CHHIPAGADA CHHIPAGADA HP_RUPANDEHI 

146 49 RUPANDEHI CHHOTAKI RAMNAGAR 
CHHOTAKI RAMNAGAR 
HP_RUPANDEHI 

147 49 RUPANDEHI CHILHIYA CHILHIYA HP_RUPANDEHI 

148 49 RUPANDEHI DAYANAGAR CHHAPIYA HP_RUPANDEHI 

149 49 RUPANDEHI DEVADAHA DEVADAHA HP_RUPANDEHI 

150 49 RUPANDEHI DHAMAULI DHAMAULI HP_RUPANDEHI 

151 49 RUPANDEHI DUDHARAKCHHE DUDHARAKCHHE HP_RUPANDEHI 

152 49 RUPANDEHI EKALA EKALA HP_RUPANDEHI 

153 49 RUPANDEHI FARENA FARENA HP_RUPANDEHI 

154 49 RUPANDEHI GAJEDI GAJEDI HP_RUPANDEHI 

155 49 RUPANDEHI GANGOLIYA GANGOLIYA HP_RUPANDEHI 

156 49 RUPANDEHI GONAHA GONAHA HP_RUPANDEHI 

157 49 RUPANDEHI HARNAIYA HARNAIYA HP_RUPANDEHI 

158 49 RUPANDEHI HATIBANGAI HATIBANGAI HP_RUPANDEHI 

159 49 RUPANDEHI HATIPHARSATIKAR HATIPHARSATIKAR HP_RUPANDEHI 

160 49 RUPANDEHI JOGADA JOGADA HP_RUPANDEHI 

161 49 RUPANDEHI KAMAHARIYA KAMAHARIYA HP_RUPANDEHI 

162 49 RUPANDEHI KARAHIYA KARAHIYA HP_RUPANDEHI 

163 49 RUPANDEHI KARAUTA KARAUTA HP_RUPANDEHI 

164 49 RUPANDEHI KERBANI KERBANI HP_RUPANDEHI 

165 49 RUPANDEHI KHADAWABANGAI KHADAWA BANGAI HP_RUPANDEHI 

166 49 RUPANDEHI KHUDABAGAR KHUDABAGAR HP_RUPANDEHI 

167 49 RUPANDEHI MADHBALIYA MADHBALIYA HP_RUPANDEHI 

168 49 RUPANDEHI MADHUWANI MADHUWANI HP_RUPANDEHI 

169 49 RUPANDEHI MAINAHIYA MAINAHIYA HP_RUPANDEHI 

170 49 RUPANDEHI MAJHAGAWA MAJHAGAWA HP_RUPANDEHI 

171 49 RUPANDEHI MAKRAHAR SEMARA BAZAR HP_RUPANDEHI 

172 49 RUPANDEHI MANMATERIYA MANMATERIYA HP_RUPANDEHI 

173 49 RUPANDEHI MANPAKADI MANPAKADI HP_RUPANDEHI 

174 49 RUPANDEHI MARYADPUR MARYADPUR HP_RUPANDEHI 

175 49 RUPANDEHI MASINA MASINA HP_RUPANDEHI 

176 49 RUPANDEHI MOTIPUR-RUPANDEHI MOTIPUR HP RUPANDEHI_RUPANDEHI 

177 49 RUPANDEHI PADSARI PADSARI HP_RUPANDEHI 

178 49 RUPANDEHI PAJARKATTI PAJARKATTI HP_RUPANDEHI 
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179 49 RUPANDEHI PAKADISAKRON SAKRAUN PAKADI HP_RUPANDEHI 

180 49 RUPANDEHI PARROHA PARROHA HP_RUPANDEHI 

181 49 RUPANDEHI PATEKHOULI PATEKHOULI HP_RUPANDEHI 

182 49 RUPANDEHI POKHARVINDI POKHARVINDI HP_RUPANDEHI 

183 49 RUPANDEHI ROINIHAWA ROINIHAWA HP_RUPANDEHI 

184 49 RUPANDEHI RUDRAPUR RUDRAPUR HP_RUPANDEHI 

185 49 RUPANDEHI SADI SADI HP_RUPANDEHI 

186 49 RUPANDEHI SALJHUNDI SALJHANDI HP_RUPANDEHI 

187 49 RUPANDEHI SAMERAMARCHWAR SEMARA HP_RUPANDEHI 

188 49 RUPANDEHI SEMALAR SEMALAR HP_RUPANDEHI 

189 49 RUPANDEHI SHANKARNAGAR SHANKARNAGAR HP_RUPANDEHI 

190 49 RUPANDEHI SIKATAHAN SIKATAHAN HP_RUPANDEHI 

191 49 RUPANDEHI SILAUTIYA SILAUTIYA HP_RUPANDEHI 

192 49 RUPANDEHI SIPAWA SIPAWA HP_RUPANDEHI 

193 49 RUPANDEHI SURYAPURA SURYAPURA HP_RUPANDEHI 

194 49 RUPANDEHI TENUHAWA TENUHAWA HP_RUPANDEHI 

195 49 RUPANDEHI 
THUMHAWA 
PIPRAHAWA 

THUMHAWA PIPRAHAWA 
HP_RUPANDEHI 

196 49 RUPANDEHI TIKULIGADH TIKULIGADH HP_RUPANDEHI 

197 49 RUPANDEHI 
SIDDHARTH NAGAR 
MUNICIPALITY Bhairahawa  DOTS Clinic_ Rupendehi 

198 49 RUPANDEHI 
BASANTAPUR-
RUPANDEHI BASANTAPUR PHC_RUPANDEHI 

199 49 RUPANDEHI DHAKADHAI DHAKADHAI PHC_RUPANDEHI 

200 49 RUPANDEHI LUMBINI LUMBINI PHC_RUPANDEHI 

201 49 RUPANDEHI RAYAPUR-RUPANDEHI RAYAPUR PHC_RUPANDEHI 

202 49 RUPANDEHI SOURAHAPHARSATIKAR MOTIPUR PHC_RUPANDEHI 

203 49 RUPANDEHI DEVADAHA 
Community Health Unit_ Charange_ 
Rupendehi 

204 49 RUPANDEHI 
SIDDHARTH NAGAR 
MUNICIPALITY 

URBAN HEALTH CENTER_ S.N.P-10_ 
RUPENDEHI 

205 49 RUPANDEHI 
SIDDHARTH NAGAR 
MUNICIPALITY 

URBAN HEALTH CENTER_ S.N.P-9_ 
RUPENDEHI 

206 50 KAPILBASTU BANGANGA Kapilvastu Community Hospital, Kapilvastu 

207 50 KAPILBASTU GUGAULI 
Jawabairath Community Health Unit, 
Kapilvastu 

208 50 KAPILBASTU SHIVAGADHI 
Community Health Unit Clinic,Dhankhola, 
Kapilvastu 

209 50 KAPILBASTU 
KAPILBASTU 
MUNICIPALITY 

INSTITUTIONAL CLINIC 
(TAULIHAWA)_KAPILBASTU 

210 50 KAPILBASTU 
KAPILBASTU 
MUNICIPALITY 

PRITHIV BIR HOSPITAL_ 
KAPILBASTU_KAPILBASTU 

211 50 KAPILBASTU BAHADURGANJ 
SHIVRAJ HOSPITAL_ BAHADURGANJ_ 
KAPILBASTU 

212 50 KAPILBASTU BANGANGA PIPARA HOSPITAL_KAPILBASTU 

213 50 KAPILBASTU ABHIRAWA ABHIRAWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

214 50 KAPILBASTU AJIGARA AJIGARA HP_KAPILBASTU 

215 50 KAPILBASTU BALARAMWAPUR BALARAMWAPUR HP_KAPILBASTU 

216 50 KAPILBASTU BALUHAWA BALUHAWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

217 50 KAPILBASTU BARAIPUR BARAIPUR HP_KAPILBASTU 

218 50 KAPILBASTU BARAKULPUR BARAKULPUR HP_KAPILBASTU 

219 50 KAPILBASTU 
BASANTAPUR-
KAPILBASTU 

BASANTAPUR HP 
KAPILBASTU_KAPILBASTU 

220 50 KAPILBASTU BASKHAUR BASKHOR HP_KAPILBASTU 

221 50 KAPILBASTU BEDAULI BAIDAULI HP_KAPILBASTU 
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222 50 KAPILBASTU BHAGWANPUR BHAGWANPUR HP_KAPILBASTU 

223 50 KAPILBASTU BHALAWARI BHALWARI HP_KAPILBASTU 

224 50 KAPILBASTU BHALWAD BHALWAR HP_KAPILBASTU 

225 50 KAPILBASTU BIJUWA BIJUWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

226 50 KAPILBASTU BILMI BHILMI HP_KAPILBASTU 

227 50 KAPILBASTU BIRPUR BIRPUR HP_KAPILBASTU 

228 50 KAPILBASTU BISHUNPUR BISHUNPUR HP_KAPILBASTU 

229 50 KAPILBASTU BITHUWA BITHUWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

230 50 KAPILBASTU BUDHI BUDHI HP_KAPILBASTU 

231 50 KAPILBASTU CHANAI CHANAI HP_KAPILBASTU 

232 50 KAPILBASTU DHANKAULI DHANKAULI HP_KAPILBASTU 

233 50 KAPILBASTU DHARMPANIYA DHARMPANIYA HP_KAPILBASTU 

234 50 KAPILBASTU DOHANI DOHANI HP_KAPILBASTU 

235 50 KAPILBASTU DUBIYA DUBIYA HP_KAPILBASTU 

236 50 KAPILBASTU DUMARA DUMARA HP_KAPILBASTU 

237 50 KAPILBASTU FULIKA FULIKA HP_KAPILBASTU 

238 50 KAPILBASTU GAJEHADA GAJEHADA HP_KAPILBASTU 

239 50 KAPILBASTU GANESHPUR GANESHPUR HP_KAPILBASTU 

240 50 KAPILBASTU GAURI GAURI HP KAPILBASTU_KAPILBASTU 

241 50 KAPILBASTU GOTIHAWA GOTIHAWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

242 50 KAPILBASTU GUGAULI GUGAULI HP_KAPILBASTU 

243 50 KAPILBASTU HARDUONA HARDAUNA HP_KAPILBASTU 

244 50 KAPILBASTU 
HARIHARPUR-
KAPILBASTU 

HARIHARPUR HP 
KAPILBASTU_KAPILBASTU 

245 50 KAPILBASTU HATHAUSA HATHAUSA HP_KAPILBASTU 

246 50 KAPILBASTU HATHIHAWA HATHIHAWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

247 50 KAPILBASTU JAHADI JAHADI HP_KAPILBASTU 

248 50 KAPILBASTU JAWABHARI JAWABHARI HP_KAPILBASTU 

249 50 KAPILBASTU 
JAYANAGAR-
KAPILBASTU JAYANAGAR HP_KAPILBASTU 

250 50 KAPILBASTU KAJARHAWA KAJARHAWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

251 50 KAPILBASTU KHURHURIYA KHURHURIYA HP_KAPILBASTU 

252 50 KAPILBASTU KOPAWA KOPAWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

253 50 KAPILBASTU KRISHNANAGAR KRISHNANAGAR HP_KAPILBASTU 

254 50 KAPILBASTU KUSHHAWA KUSHAHAWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

255 50 KAPILBASTU LABANI LABANI HP_KAPILBASTU 

256 50 KAPILBASTU LALPUR-KAPILBASTU LALPUR HP_KAPILBASTU 

257 50 KAPILBASTU MAHENDRAKOT MAHENDRAKOT HP_KAPILBASTU 

258 50 KAPILBASTU MAHUWA MAHUWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

259 50 KAPILBASTU MANPUR-KAPILBASTU 
MANPUR HP 
KAPILBASTU_KAPILBASTU 

260 50 KAPILBASTU MOTIPUR-KAPILBASTU 
MOTIPUR HP 
KAPILBASTU_KAPILBASTU 

261 50 KAPILBASTU NANDANAGAR NANDANAGAR HP_KAPILBASTU 

262 50 KAPILBASTU NIGALIHAWA NIGALIHAWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

263 50 KAPILBASTU PAKADI PAKADI HP_KAPILBASTU 

264 50 KAPILBASTU PARSOHIYA PARSOHIYA HP_KAPILBASTU 

265 50 KAPILBASTU PATARIYA PATARIYA HP_KAPILBASTU 

266 50 KAPILBASTU PATNA PATNA HP_KAPILBASTU 

267 50 KAPILBASTU PATTHARDAIHIYA PATHARDEIYA HP_KAPILBASTU 

268 50 KAPILBASTU PIPARA PIPARA HP KAPILBASTU_KAPILBASTU 

269 50 KAPILBASTU PURUSOTTAMPUR PURUSOTTAMPUR HP_KAPILBASTU 

270 50 KAPILBASTU RAJPUR-KAPILBASTU RAJPUR HP KAPILBASTU_KAPILBASTU 
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271 50 KAPILBASTU 
RAMNAGAR-
KAPILBASTU 

RAMNAGAR HP 
KAPILBASTU_KAPILBASTU 

272 50 KAPILBASTU 
RANGAPUR-
KAPILBASTU 

RANGAPUR HP 
KAPILBASTU_KAPILBASTU 

273 50 KAPILBASTU SAURAHA SAURAHA HP_KAPILBASTU 

274 50 KAPILBASTU SHIVAGADHI SHIVAGADHI HP_KAPILBASTU 

275 50 KAPILBASTU SHIVANAGAR SHIVANAGAR HP_KAPILBASTU 

276 50 KAPILBASTU SHIVAPUR SHIVAPUR HP_KAPILBASTU 

277 50 KAPILBASTU SINGHKHOR SIHOKHOR HP_KAPILBASTU 

278 50 KAPILBASTU SIRSIHAWA SIRSIHAWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

279 50 KAPILBASTU SISAWA SISAWA HP_KAPILBASTU 

280 50 KAPILBASTU SOMDIHA SOMDIHA HP_KAPILBASTU 

281 50 KAPILBASTU THUNHIYA THUNHIYA HP_KAPILBASTU 

282 50 KAPILBASTU TILAURAKOT TILAURAKOT HP_KAPILBASTU 

283 50 KAPILBASTU TITIRKHI TITIRKHI HP_KAPILBASTU 

284 50 KAPILBASTU UDAYAPUR VDC 
UDAYAPUR HP 
KAPILBASTU_KAPILBASTU 

285 50 KAPILBASTU 
VIDHYANAGAR-
KAPILBASTU VIDHYANAGAR HP_KAPILBASTU 

286 50 KAPILBASTU HARANAMPUR HARANAMPUR PHC_KAPILBASTU 

287 50 KAPILBASTU MAHARAJGANJ MAHARAJGANJ PHC_KAPILBASTU 

288 50 KAPILBASTU BISHUNPUR 
Urban Health Centre, Laxmanpur, 
Kapilvastu 

289 50 KAPILBASTU 
KAPILBASTU 
MUNICIPALITY 

URBAN HEALTH CENTER_ BERWA_ 
KAPILBASTU 

 

 


